
 
 

 
 

 
 

Damian Allen 
Chief Executive 
___________________________________________________________________ 
Issued on: Wednesday 20 December 2023 
 
Governance Services Officer for this meeting Amber Torrington 

01302 737462 
  
 
City of Doncaster Council 
www.doncaster.gov.uk 
 

Agenda 
 
 
To all Members of the 
 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
Notice is given that a Meeting of the above Committee is to be held as follows: 

  
Venue: Council Chamber, Civic Office, Waterdale, Doncaster DN1 3BU  
 
Date:  Tuesday, 9th January, 2024 
 
Time: 2.00 pm 
 
 
BROADCASTING NOTICE 
 
This meeting is being filmed for subsequent broadcast via the Council’s web 
site. 
 
The Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act and images 
collected during this recording will be retained in accordance with the 
Council’s published policy. 
 
Please be aware that by entering the meeting, you accept that you may be 
filmed and the images used for the purpose set out above. 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



  
1.   Apologies for Absence   

 
 

 
2.   To consider the extent, if any, to which the public and press are to be 

excluded from the meeting.   
 

 

 
3.   Declarations of Interest, if any.   

 
 

 
4.   Minutes of the Planning Committee Meeting held on 12th December, 

2023   
 

1 - 6 

 
A.  Reports where the Public and Press may not be excluded. 

 
 

 
For Decision 
 

 
 
5.   Schedule of Applications   

 
7 - 54 

 
6.   Consideration of variations to two Section 106 Agreements in relation 

to the affordable housing requirements on land to the east side of 
Hatfield Lane, Armthorpe (under references 12/00188/OUTM and 
20/01606/FULM).   
 

55 - 268 

 
For Information 
 

 
 
7.   Appeal Decisions   

 
269-288 

 

Members of the Planning Committee  
 
Chair – Councillor Susan Durant 
Vice-Chair – Councillor Sue Farmer 
 
Councillors Duncan Anderson, Iris Beech, Steve Cox, Aimee Dickson, 
Charlie Hogarth, Sophie Liu, Emma Muddiman-Rawlins, Andy Pickering and 
Gary Stapleton 

 
 



 

 

CITY OF DONCASTER COUNCIL 
 

 PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

TUESDAY, 12TH DECEMBER, 2023 
 
A  MEETING of the PLANNING COMMITTEE was held at the COUNCIL CHAMBER, 
CIVIC OFFICE, WATERDALE, DONCASTER DN1 3BU on TUESDAY, 12TH 
DECEMBER, 2023, at 2.00 pm. 
 
PRESENT:  

 
Vice-Chair - Councillor Sue Farmer (In the Chair) 

 
Councillors Iris Beech, Steve Cox, Charlie Hogarth, Sophie Liu and Emma Muddiman-
Rawlins 
 
 
APOLOGIES:  
 
Apologies for absence were received from the Chair, Councillors Susan Durant and 
Councillors Duncan Anderson, Aimee Dickson, Andy Pickering and Gary Stapleton. 
 
Prior to the commencement of the meeting, the Committee were notified that Stacy 
Cutler, Senior Legal Officer who was currently on maternity leave had given birth to a 
baby girl. Members sent their best wishes to Stacy and family. 
 
52 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY.  
 

In accordance with Members Code of Conduct, Councillor Iris Beech declared 
an interest in Application No. 22/00311/FUL Agenda Item 5(3) by virtue of being 
a Local Ward Member. 

  
In accordance with Members Code of Conduct, Councillor Sophie Liu declared 
an interest in Application No. 23/01702/COU Agenda Item 5(1) by virtue of 
being a Local Ward Member. 

  
 
53 MINUTES OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 14TH 

NOVEMBER, 2023  
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 14th November, 
2023 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 

 
54 SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS  
 

RESOLVED that upon consideration of a Schedule of Planning and 
Other Applications received, together with the recommendations in 
respect thereof, the recommendations be approved in accordance with 
Schedule and marked Appendix ‘A’. 

 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4.



 

 

55 APPEAL DECISIONS  
 

The Committee were advised that there had been a separate application for 
costs. However, the application had been unsuccessful, and the claim had been 
dismissed. Officers directed Members to paragraphs 14 to 18 of the inspectors  
report regarding living conditions. 

 
RESOLVED that the following decisions of the Secretary of State and/or 
his inspector, in respect of the undermentioned Planning Appeals against 
the decisions of the Council, be noted:- 

  
Application 
No 

Application 
Description & 
Location 

Appeal 
Decision 

Ward Decision 
Type 

Committee 
Overturn 

22/01870/FUL Conversion of 
previously approved 
two storey side 
extension to form 
independent 
dwelling 
(RETROSPECTIVE) 
(being resubmission 
of 21/02066/FUL 
refused 2.8.2022) at 
12 Oldfield 
Crescent, Stainforth, 
Doncaster DN7 5PG 

Appeal 
Dismissed 
14/11/2023 

Stainforth 
and Barnby 
Dun 

Delegated No 

  
 
56 PLANNING ENFORCEMENT QUARTERLY REPORT - SEPTEMBER 2023  
 

The Committee considered a report which detailed all Planning Enforcement 
performance in the second Quarter 1st July to 30th September, 2023. 

  
A query was made regarding Campsall WMC, The Avenue, Campsall and the 
erection of fencing at the property. It was advised that officers would undertake 
a site visit to the property and provide an update in due course. 

  
An update was requested regarding the Temporary Stop Notice at land on 
South Side of Oldfield Lane, Stainforth since the High Court appearance on 31 
October, 2023. Committee were advised that an adjournment was requested, 
and a new date would be advised in the new year. It was noted that they had 
allowed for the temporary installation of electricity to the site for the supply of 
heating and hot water. 

  
             RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
 

Page 2



 

 

Appendix A 
 

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE – 12th December, 2023 

 
 

 
Application  01 
 
Application 
Number: 

23/01702/COU 

 
Application 
Type: 

Planning FULL (Minor)  

 
Proposal 
Description: 

Change of use of ground floor from vacant bar/public house (Sui 
Generis) to off licence (Class E) 
 

At: Former Hexthorpe Star Bar, 2 Langer Street, Hexthorpe DN4 0EX  
 
For: Mr Thiru Makeettharan  
 
Third Party 
Reps: 

14 objections   Parish: N/A 

  Ward: Hexthorpe and Balby 
North 
 

 
A proposal was made to GRANT Planning Permission subject to conditions  
 
Proposed by: Councillor Iris Beech 
 
Seconded by: Councillor Steve Cox 
 
For: 5 Against: 0 Abstain: 1 
 
Decision: Planning Permission Granted subject to conditions,  
 
In accordance with Planning Guidance, ‘Having Your Say at Planning 
Committee’, the following individuals spoke on the application for the duration 
of up to 5 minutes each:- 
 

• Councillor Glyn Jones, Ward Member spoke in opposition to the 
Application; and 

• Mr Mubeen Patel, on behalf of the Applicant, spoke in support of the 
Application. 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



 

 

Application  02 
 
Application 
Number: 

23/01292/FULM 

 
Application 
Type: 

Planning FULL (Major) 

 
Proposal 
Description: 

Erection of ancillary storage building (non-permanent construction) 
on existing hard standing for a period of 5 years 
 

At: Wavin 
Edlington Lane 
Edlington 
Doncaster 
DN12 1BY 

 
For: Mr David Wilson – Wavin Limited  
 
Third Party 
Reps: 

18 representations Parish: Warmsworth Parish 
Council 

  Ward: Edlington and Warmsworth 
 

 
A proposal was made to GRANT Planning Permission subject to conditions 
 
Proposed by: Councillor Steve Cox 
 
Seconded by: Councillor Charlie Hogarth 
 
For: 6 Against: 0 Abstain: 0 
 
Decision: Planning Permission Granted subject to conditions. 
 
In accordance with Planning Guidance ‘Having Your Say at Planning 
Committee’, Mr Daniel Page, Wavin Limited, the Applicant spoke in support of 
the Application for the duration of 5 minutes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



 

 

Application  03 
 
Application 
Number: 

22/00311/FUL 

 
Application 
Type: 

Full Application  

 
Proposal 
Description: 

Erection of residential development for 4 houses. 
 

At: Land on the East Side of Common Lane, Norton, Doncaster 
 

 
For: Mr Chris Hardacre – CP Built Ltd 

 
 
Third Party 
Reps: 

8 representations Parish: Norton Parish Council 

  Ward: Norton and Askern 
 

 
A proposal was made to GRANT Planning Permission subject to the conditions. 
 
Proposed by: Councillor Charlie Hogarth 
 
Seconded by: Councillor Emma Muddiman-Rawlins 
 
For: 6 Against: 0 Abstain: 0 
 
Decision: Planning Permission Granted subject to conditions. 
 
(The receipt of an amendment to paragraph 7.7 of the report stating that Norton 
Parish Council objected to amended scheme as properties are still large, too 
many to be served by unadopted highway and lack of surface water drainage 
will add to problems of additional traffic was reported at the meeting). 
  

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



CITY OF DONCASTER COUNCIL 
 

                                                                                              
                                                                                   9th January, 2024
    
 
To the Chair and Members of the 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS PROCESSING SYSTEM 
 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. A schedule of planning applications for consideration by Members is attached. 
 
2. Each application comprises an individual report and recommendation to assist the  

determination process. Any pre-committee amendments will be detailed at the 
beginning of each item. 

 
 
Human Rights Implications 
 
Member should take account of and protect the rights of individuals affected when making 
decisions on planning applications.  In general Members should consider:- 
 
1. Whether the activity for which consent is sought interferes with any Convention  
           rights. 
 
2. Whether the interference pursues a legitimate aim, such as economic wellbeing or  
           the rights of others to enjoy their property. 
 
3. Whether restriction on one is proportionate to the benefit of the other. 
 
 
Copyright Implications 
 
The Ordnance Survey map data and plans included within this document is protected by the 
Copyright Acts (Sections 47, 1988 Act). Reproduction of this material is forbidden without the 
written permission of the City of Doncaster Council. 
 
 
Scott Cardwell 
Assistant Director of Economy and Development 
Directorate of Place 
 
Contact Officers:                 Mr R Sykes (Tel: 734555)  
 
Background Papers:         Planning Application reports refer to relevant background papers 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5.



Summary List of Planning Committee Applications  
 
NOTE:- Site Visited applications are marked ‘SV’ and Major Proposals are marked ‘M’ 
 Any pre-committee amendments will be detailed at the beginning of each item. 
 
 
Application Application No Ward Parish 
 
 
 
1.  M 23/02052/4FULM Town  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



Application  1 
 
Application 
Number: 

23/02052/4FULM 

 
Application 
Type: 

Planning FULL (DMBCReg4) Major 

 
Proposal 
Description: 

Demolition of existing buildings and erection of a new 
commercial development block 

At: Doncaster Gateway, Trafford Way, Doncaster 
 
For: City of Doncaster Council 

 
 

Third Party 
Reps: 

 1 
 

Parish: N/A 

  Ward: Town 

Author of Report: Alicia Murray 

SUMMARY
 
This application seeks permission for the erection of a multi-storey building to 
be used for office/commercial purposes on land at Trafford Way/West Street, 
Doncaster City Centre. The building will be five stories in height, with the 
ground floor providing two smaller scale retail/commercial type units and the 
upper floors to provide office space. The roof level will accommodate a plant 
room and solar PV array. 
 
The application site is brownfield and contains a mix of commercial uses, 
including offices, plumbing centre and vacant retail unit. The site is designated 
in the adopted Doncaster Local Plan within the Main Urban Area and Key 
Doncaster Town Centre and Main Urban Area Mixed Use Sites – St Sepulchre 
Gate West. 
 
The scale, siting, and appearance of the proposed building has been reviewed 
by the Doncaster Design Panel, the Urban Design Officer, and Conservation 
Officer; concerns have been raised by these parties, but other material 
planning considerations are considered to outweigh the harm raised in the 
objection from the Urban Design Officer. The proposal would meet the 
aspirations of Policy 68 of the Local Plan and has the potential to kick start the 
regeneration of the whole St Sepulchre Gate West area and provide a much-
needed class of offices within the city centre boundary. The proposal will be 
brought forward by Town Deal Funding secured by the Council, in order to 
meet the aspirations of the Urban Centre Masterplan. Permitted development 
rights to convert the office space and ground floor commercial to any other 
use class have been removed, to prevent residential uses occupying the site. 
This is to ensure the policy needs are secured for the future. 
 
There are no objections from any other consultees and the development 
would see a 117% net gain in biodiversity units. The economic benefits of this 
scheme are given substantial weight in the determination of the application. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT planning permission, subject to 
conditions. 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Train 
Station

Trafford 
Court 
Offices

Wolsey 
Plumb 
Centre

Frenchgate 
Centre/Bus 
Interchange

Former 
Coroners 
Court

Flying Scotsman 
Medical Centre

Train Station Short 
Stay Car Park

Page 10



 
1.0 REASON FOR REPORT 
 
1.1 This application is being presented to Planning Committee due to the 

application being submitted by City of Doncaster Council.  
 
2.0 PROPOSAL 
 
2.1     The applicant is seeking planning permission for the demolition of existing 

buildings (Trafford Court Offices, Wolsey Plumb Centre, and a retail unit 
formerly a mobility shop) and erection of a commercial development block.  

 
2.2      The proposal forms part of the Doncaster Urban Masterplan (2016) and is 

supported by £25 million of Towns Deal funding already secured. The 
development would provide high quality Class A offices within the city 
centre and ancillary food and beverage uses at ground floor. The 
development is to continue the regeneration of this area of the city centre, 
following the redevelopment of the Station Forecourt. The proposal would 
create a high-quality soft landscaping public realm improvement, which 
would follow on from the improved pedestrian and visitor access between 
the railway station and the city centre. 

 
2.3     This proposal is seen as a ‘catalyst’ for further long-term regeneration of the 

‘Gateway’ area, supporting the aspirations of the Doncaster Urban 
Masterplan and the city centre.  

 
 

3.0 SITE DESCRIPTION & LOCAL CHARACTERISTICS 
 

3.1     The application site is located to the west of the main shopping area within 
the city centre. The site is bounded by Doncaster Railway Station to the 
north-west, the station forecourt to the north, the A630 Trafford Way to the 
east and West Street to the southwest, beyond which is the Railway Pub 
and the Station car park. West Street splits the site in two and provides 
access to the residential and commercial properties in the surrounding 
area.  

 
3.2      The site itself contains 4 buildings, a 2 three storeys office block, plumbers 

merchant including the external yard and vacant former mobility retail 
centre. All the buildings are of differing designs and forms. The site is not 
within a Conservation Area and does not contain any listed buildings. 
However, the site is in close proximity to several listed buildings including 
Grade II listed Doncaster Railway Station.  

 
3.3      The site is accessed via west street by vehicle from the A630 and 

pedestrian access is through Trafford Court and via existing footpath links 
along West Street.  
 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

Page 11



4.1     No relevant planning history.  
 
5.0 SITE ALLOCATION 
 
5.1 The application site lies within Key Doncaster Town Centre and Main Urban 

Area Mixed Use Sites and as allocated in the adopted Doncaster Local 
Plan (Sept 2021). 

 
5.2 National Planning Policy Framework (‘NPPF’) 2023 
 
5.3 The National Planning Policy Framework 2023 (NPPF) sets out the 

Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to 
be applied. Planning permission must be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 
NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions and the relevant 
sections are outlined below: 

 
5.4 Paragraph 2 states that, planning applications should be determined in 

accordance with development plan, unless material planning considerations 
indicate otherwise. 

 
5.5 Paragraph 7 states that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute 

to the achievement of sustainable development. 
 
5.6      Paragraph 8 outlines the three overarching objectives to achieving 

sustainable development:  
            a) economic – to build a strong, responsive and competitive economy 
            b) social – to support strong, vibrant, and healthy communities  
            c) environmental – to protect and enhance the natural, built and historic     

environment.  
 
5.7      Paragraph 86 states that planning policies and decisions should support 

the role town centres play at the heard of local communities, by taking a 
positive approach to their growth, management and adaptation.  

 
5.8      Paragraph 87 highlights the use of sequential tests when considering 

applications for main town centres uses which are neither in an existing 
centre not in accordance with an up-to-date plan. 

 
5.9      Paragraph 88 follows on with that when considering edge of centre and out 

of centre proposals preference should be given to accessible sites which 
are well connected to the town centre. 

 
5.10    Paragraph 90 states that local planning authorities should require an 

impact assessment, considering the impact of the proposal on existing, 
committed and planned public and private investment in a centre.  

 
5.11   Paragraph 104 states that transport issues should be considered from the 

earliest stages of plan-making and development proposals. 
 

Page 12



5.12    Paragraph 111 states that development should only be prevented or 
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network 
would be severe. 

 
5.13    Paragraph 112 states that developments should have sustainable methods 

of transport and pedestrian linkages 
 
5.14    Paragraph 113 outlines that developments that will generate significant 

amounts of movement should be required to provide a travel plan. 
 
5.15    Paragraph 119 states that planning policies and decisions should maximise 

the reuse of previously developed or brownfield land.  
 
5.16    Chapter 12 seeks to achieve well-designed places, stating the need for 

good design as a key aspect of sustainable development. Paragraph 126 
states that the creation of high-quality buildings and places is fundamental. 

 
5.17    Paragraph 154 outlines how development should be planned to meet the 

challenge of climate change. New development should reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions by adapting its location, orientation, and design.  

 
5.18    Paragraph 155 seeks to increase the use and supply of renewable and low 

carbon energy and heat with new development. 
 
5.19    Paragraphs 190-196 states that when consideration the impact of a 

proposed development on the significance or setting of a designated 
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. 

 
5.20    Paragraph 202 states that where a development proposal will lead to less 

than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, 
this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.  

 
5.21 Doncaster Local Plan (2021) 
 
5.22 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states 

that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance 
with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.    The development plan consists of the Doncaster Local Plan 
(DLP) (adopted 2021) and the Barnsley, Doncaster and Rotherham Joint 
Waste Plan (JWP) (adopted 2012). 

 
5.23 Policy 1 sets out the Settlement Hierarchy for the City.  It seeks to 

concentrate growth at the larger settlements of the City with remaining 
growth delivered elsewhere to support the function of other sustainable 
settlements and to help meet more local needs taking account of existing 
settlement size, demography, accessibility, facilities, issues and 
opportunities. The site lies within the Main Urban Area as defined in the 
Local Plan and its supporting Policies Map. 

 

Page 13



5.24  Policy 13 states that new development shall make appropriate provision for 
access by sustainable modes of transport to protect the highway network 
from residual vehicular impact. New developments will need to provide, as 
appropriate, Transport Statements, Transport Assessments and Travel 
Plan to ensure the delivery of travel choice and sustainable opportunities 
for travel in line with the latest government guidance and best practise.  

 
5.25   Policy 16 promotes the provision of cycle lanes and routes.  
 
5.26   Policy 17 supports new developments which provide new and improved 

pedestrian links by identifying gaps and prioritising pedestrian routes. 
 
5.27   Policy 23 outlines that proposals for development in town, district and local 

centres, outside of any defined ‘primary shopping area’, will be acceptable 
in principle for a range of Main Town Centre Uses.  

 
5.28   Policy 30B states that proposals must demonstrate how a minimum 10% net 

gain in biodiversity will be delivered. 
 
5.29   Policy 36 states that proposals that enhance or better reveal the 

significance of a listed building will be supported. Proposals that harm the 
significance of a listed building or its setting will not be supported.  

 
5.30    Policy 43 states that development that respects and improves the 

character, image and legibility of the borough will be supported, particularly 
from main transport corridors and key gateway locations. At high profile 
gateway locations, there is to be an exceptional standard of design quality 
of buildings, spaces and environmental improvements. Taller buildings 
should be located where there is good public transport accessibility, and 
they will not harm the setting of heritage assets. 

 
5.31   Policy 46 details all non-residential and commercial developments must be 

designed to be high quality, attractive and make a positive contribution to 
the area.  

 
5.32   Policy 47 seeks to provide secure and safe places which will be achieved 

through good urban design. 
 
5.33   Policy 48 details how new developments should provide high quality, 

comprehensive hard and soft landscaping schemes. 
 
5.34    Policy 54 states that noise impact assessments will be required for 

proposals close to the presence of noise generating uses. Furthermore, the 
impact on national air quality will need to be assessed through the 
submission of an air quality assessment.  

 
5.35   Policy 56 requires all developments to adequality include measures for 

dealing with drainage impacts, flood risk and foul sewage disposal including 
SUDs.  

 

Page 14



5.36   Policy 67 supports new developments that contribute to the improvement of 
the town centre as a thriving and accessible shopping, commercial and 
leisure destination of regional importance.  

 
5.37   Policy 68 identifies ‘St Sepulchre Gate West’ as a key site for development, 

in which the station forecourt will be transformed into a dynamic urban 
square providing a strong sense of arrival and direction towards the primary 
shopping area across Trafford Way (A630). New office development will be 
sought around this gateway space.  

 
5.38 Other material planning considerations 
 
5.39 Doncaster Council's previous suite of adopted Supplementary Planning 

Documents (SPDs) were formally revoked in line with Regulation 15 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, 
following the adoption of the Local Plan in September 2021. Since then, the 
Council are in the process of drafting new SPDs to provide further guidance 
about the implementation of specific planning policies in the Local Plan. 

 
5.40 Following public consultation the Council has adopted five SPDs under 

the Local Plan with respect to Biodiversity Net Gain, Flood Risk, Technical 
and Developer Requirements, Loss of Community Facilities and Open 
Space, and Local Labour Agreements. The adopted SPDs should be 
treated as material considerations in decision-making and are afforded full 
weight. 

 
5.41 The Transitional Developer Guidance (Updated August 2023) provides 

supplementary guidance on certain elements, including design, whereby 
updated SPDs have not yet been adopted. The Transitional Developer 
Guidance should be referred to during the interim period, whilst further new 
SPDs to support the adopted Local Plan are progressed and adopted. The 
Transitional Developer Guidance, Carr Lodge Design Code and the South 
Yorkshire Residential Design Guide (SYRDG), should be treated as 
informal guidance only as they are not formally adopted SPDs. These 
documents can be treated as material considerations in decision-making, 
but with only limited weight. 

 
5.42 Other material considerations include: 
 

• National Planning Practice Guidance (ongoing) 
• National Design Guide (January 2021) 
• Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990 
 
5.43 Other Council initiatives include: 
 

• Doncaster Green Infrastructure Strategy 2014 – 2028 
• Doncaster Delivering Together 

 

Page 15



5.44 Launched in September 2021, Doncaster Delivering Together (DDT) is the 
Council's new ten-year strategy.  DDT is about everyone being able to 
 thrive and contribute to thriving communities and a thriving planet. This 
strategy does not form part of the adopted development plan but it is 
important that the policies of the Doncaster Local Plan achieve the aims 
and objectives of DDT strategy.  The DDT has identified 8 priorities to 
deliver for Doncaster over the next ten years. 

 
1. Tackling Climate Change; 
2. Developing the skills to thrive in life and work; 
3. Making Doncaster the best place to do business and create good jobs; 
4. Building opportunities for healthier, happier and longer lives for all; 
5. Creating safer, stronger, greener and cleaner communities where 

everyone belongs; 
6. Nurturing a child and family - friendly borough; 
7. Building transport and digital connections fit for the future; 
8. Promoting the borough and its cultural, sporting and heritage 
opportunities. 

 
5.45 The body of the report below reflects the planning considerations for the 

site.  However, it is considered that the application would directly contribute 
towards the aims of DDT. 

 
 
6.0 REPRESENTATIONS 
 
6.1 This application has been advertised in accordance with Article 15 of the 

Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015 (as amended) as follows: 

 
• Site Notice 
• Press Advert 

 
6.2      One representation has been received from the Doncaster Civic Trust, 

outlining the following: 
 

For the landscaped area to be successful it needs to be well-used and well-
managed. It needs to have direct pedestrian routes going through it. 
The location of the development could not be better chosen for its 
accessibility by public transport, both national and local. The development 
would replace some buildings of low quality and others of little architectural 
value so, in the Trust's view, causing no measurable loss of the town's 
character. The development is speculative and mixed use, with five floors of 
offices above a ground floor probably given over to food and drink. We 
know that in Doncaster many large office buildings have become empty, 
and have been re-purposed as apartments, and more office space is 
vacant. We are told that this proposal is for the top-quality accommodation 
that the current market requires, so we must put our trust in the advice of 
the specialist consultants. The Trust is concerned about the height of the 
proposed building and its impact on nearby streets. It may well be that the 

Page 16



market requires a 5-storeys building here, but no justification or impact 
assessment was included in the application. The current development team 
had looked at the variety of facing materials in the town centre and decided 
on white brickwork, presumably having seen the Portland stone and 
faience. A ceramic material on the new building would be better than brick. 
It would weather well, keep its colour and could be an attractive light shade, 
and not prominent white.  
 
The proposed siting of the new building would relate to the historic street 
pattern, as well as Trafford Way of course, and the green tiling at ground 
level would reflect the locally listed Leopard PH opposite, which is 
welcomed. No assessment of the impact of the new building on the 
Leopard PH was included in the Heritage Report. The large amount of 
glazing proposed on the new building's south elevation might be attractive 
but could cause problems of heat gain and glare that would be best 
avoided. Offices with no dedicated parking at all might work well elsewhere, 
but it could make this scheme less attractive to potential tenants. 

 
7.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 

Internal CDC Consultees  
 
7.1 Environmental Health – No objections, subject to conditions with regards 

to fulfilment of acoustic report recommendations, construction methods and 
waste management 

 
7.2 Local Plans (Employment) – No direct employment policy related issues 

with the application. Defer to Town Centre Policy Officer for comment. 
 
7.3      Air Quality - The development will not have the potential to result in an 

exceedance of the extant air quality objectives. The officer has 
recommended that a condition be placed on the decision to restrict the 
usage of the building for no residential, given the major roadside location.  

  
7.4      Highways Safer Roads – The pedestrian/cycle route between the city 

centre and new development is not ideal and people will cross away from 
the internal zebra crossing.  However, since this is not part of the adopted 
public highway it is beyond my primary area of concern.  Therefore, the 
officer generally accepts the clarifications to the points given in the TA 
Addendum. 

 
7.5      Design and Conservation - No objections to the main building although 

there are missed opportunities. The substation location does compromise 
the usage of the southern side of the building and should be relocated. The 
Conservation Officer does have concerns over the loss of Trafford Court as 
it would result in a loss of a defined boundary for the station forecourt 
square, the landscaping would ‘bleed’ into the adjoining areas. Therefore, 
whilst the landscaping will be an improvement on the existing buildings in 
some ways, developing this site with an additional building or buildings that 

Page 17



responded to its context and help frame the station and its forecourt would 
be thought to be a more appropriate long-term aspiration. 

 
7.6     Drainage – Following the receipt of additional information the Drainage 

Officer has requested a number of conditions.  
 
7.7     Local Plans (Town Centres) - No objections. 
 
7.8     Transportation – Requested the car park occupancy data is updated and 

the TRICs mode split data be checked against the Census Travel to Work 
data for the appropriate ward. This has been submitted and the Transport 
Planner is satisfied with the Transport Statement and Travel Plan and has 
requested conditions.  

 
7.9     Public Health – The HIA is acceptable and there are no objections. 
 
7.10    Urban Design – There are significant negative impacts on the townscape 

through the demolition of Trafford Court which from an Urban Design 
perspective cannot be supported. The open space design needs to be 
improved to offset the negative impacts and is required to deliver an 
exceptional quality development at this most important gateway location as 
identified in the Local Plan. There is a need to increase the quantum of 
open space given the increasing number of people inhabiting the City 
Centre.  

 
7.11    Highways – Requested tracking details for the largest vehicles associated 

with the development using the left turn off Trafford Way into West Street to 
ensure existing manoeuvres remain the same or improve. This was 
provided and is considered satisfactory. The Highways Officer also raises 
concerns regarding the demolition of the buildings and construction of the 
new building, due to the proximity to the A630. The officer has requested 
that construction traffic management rules are agreed with Network 
Management, this is recommended to be secured via a condition.  

 
7.12   Waste and Recycling – Waste management methods are unclear from the 

submission and therefore a condition will be required to provide these 
details to ensure the waste is effectively managed.  

 
7.13    Contaminated Land – Following receipt of a Remediation Strategy the 

Contaminated Land Officer has reviewed the strategy and has no 
objections subject to conditions.  

 
7.14    Ecology - In securing onsite 10% BNG a condition will be tied to the final 

agreed landscaping scheme to be delivered. An updated metric is required 
to reflect any new design and landscaping changes brought forward. The 
updated BNG has been submitted and there are no objections from the 
Ecology Planner, subject to conditions.  

 
 External Consultees 

 

Page 18



7.15 Trans Pennine Trail – The TPT has not been specified within the 
Transport Statement or Travel Plan. An amended Transport Statement and 
Travel Plan has been submitted including the TPT within them. 

 
7.16 Yorkshire Water – No objections, subject to conditions with regards to a 

Construction Environmental Plan and waste water. 
 
7.17    Designing out Crime Officer - No objections. 
 
7.18    Design Panel - The Panel raised issues regarding the scale of the building 

compared to the surrounding built form, how the building sits within its 
context of Trafford Way and West Street, bin collection and servicing, 
substation location, concerns over the materiality and usage of the ‘al 
fresco’ element of the ground floor. However, the panel were overall in 
support of the development and its regenerative benefits for the area.  

 
7.19   Network Rail - No objections, requested a number of informatives. 
 
7.20   South Yorkshire Archaeology Service – No objections subject to a 

condition relating to a written scheme of investigation.   
 
8.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
that:  
 
 ‘Where in making any determination under the planning acts, regard is to be 
had to the development plan, the determination shall be made in accordance 
 with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise’. 
 
8.2 The NPPF (2023) at paragraph 2 states that planning law requires that 

applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 
NPPF must be considered in preparing the development plan and is a 
material consideration in planning decisions.  

 
8.3 The main issues for consideration under this application are as follows: 
 

• The principle of the development 
• Sustainability 
• Impact upon amenity 
• Impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area 
• Impact upon highway safety 
• Trees and Landscaping 
• Flood Risk and Drainage 
• Air Pollution and Contaminated Land 
• Energy Efficiency/Sustainability Features 
• Archaeology  
• Ecology  

Page 19



• Economic Impact 
• S106 Planning Obligations 
• Overall Planning Balance 

 
8.4 For the purposes of considering the balance in this application, planning 

weight is referred to in this report using the following scale: 
 

• Substantial  
• Considerable 
• Significant  
• Moderate 
• Modest 
• Limited 
• Little or no 

 
The Principle of the Development 

 
8.5 The application site falls within Doncaster City Centre Boundary and Key 

Doncaster Town Centre and Main Urban Area Mixed-Use Sites as defined 
in the adopted Doncaster Local Plan. This designation relates to policies 67 
and 68. 

 
8.6      Policy 67 states that new developments will be supported whereby it helps 

improve the centre as a thriving and accessible commercial, shopping and 
leisure destination and lists its design criteria’s in delivering that. The 
design of the building will be discussed further into the report.   

 
8.7      Policy 68 states that key sites listed which includes this site – St Sepulchre 

Gate West will be developed in accordance with the principles included in 
the Policy and other relevant Local Plan policies. Section 8 - St Sepulchre 
Gate West states the following: “This opportunity area will become a town 
gateway with new landmark mixed use development which capitalise upon 
its location close to the retail core and railway station. A reinvigorated and 
bustling, high-density urban quarter will be created with safe and vibrant 
streets and spaces. This will involve the relocation of existing car parking…. 
New office and hotel development will be sought around this gateway 
space…. Any significant redevelopment of this area will need to explore 
opportunities to improve connections to and from the town centre across 
the dual carriageway (Trafford Way/Church Way) and the railway station” 

 
8.8      The site lies within the Main Urban Area, in the City Centre boundary, but 

outside the Primary Shopping Area. Chapter 8 of the adopted Local Plan 
generally seeks to protect and maintain the existing character, function of 
core retail areas, and manage the mix and balance of uses within them. 
Policy 23: Development within Town, District and Local Centres; Part 2: 
Other Centres is the main consideration. The site is not a primary shopping 
area; therefore, proposals will be acceptable in principle for a wider range 
of Main Town Centre Uses, non-town centre uses should be resisted unless 
it can be demonstrated that they will not negatively impact upon the vitality 

Page 20



and viability of the centre with regard to amenity of existing businesses and 
residents. Para 8.21 of the Local Plan states that non-retail uses such as 
offices and homes will generally be supported on the upper floors of 
buildings within existing centres if they do not have a negative impact upon 
the operation of the existing ground floor business or the amenities of 
potential future occupants.   

 
8.9      Class E is interchangeable within its own classification offering a wide 

range of town centre uses. The submitted plans do show flexible small units 
at ground floor with the intention being for retail or food/beverage 
operations to support the offices above and the whole ‘Gateway West’ area 
when further regeneration projects come forward. This would create an 
active area in this location which is a betterment to the current situation on 
site. Furthermore, the upper floors would be within the Class E use class, 
but the plans do show more open plan arrangements with the intention for 
the space to be used for Class A standard offices. This results in retail 
frontages at ground floor, along with landscaping and public open space, 
there is also opportunities for ‘al fresco’ dining onto West Street. These 
uses comply with the Local Plan policies 23 and 67.  

 
8.10   The site lies within 300m of the edge of centre, therefore, to accord with 

Policy 22 (Part 2) if the retail units are no larger than 750sqm then no 
impact assessments will be required. The retail element of this proposal is 
two flexible use units, Class E ground floor with a combined floor space of 
500sqm, so no impact assessments are required with this application.  

 
 
8.11   The proposal would support the aspirations outlined within Policy 68 for the 

‘St Sepulchre Gate West’ area. It would provide a landmark building, with 
active frontages, landscaping, and a mix of uses. All of which should 
support the further regeneration/growth of this area, stimulating economic 
growth within the city centre. Overall, the Local Plan’s Policy Officers have 
no objections to the proposal, and it is considered that the development is 
principally acceptable.  

 
Sustainability 

 
8.12 Paragraph 7 of the NPPF states that one of the core principles of the 

planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development. At a very high level, the objective of sustainable development 
can be summarised as meeting the needs of the present without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 
8.13 There are three strands to sustainability, social, environmental and 

economic. Paragraph 10 of the NPPF states that in order sustainable 
development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of the Framework is 
a presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

 
 

SOCIAL SUSTAINABILITY 

Page 21



 
Impact on neighbouring amenity 

 
8.14   Policy 46(A) of the Doncaster Local Plan states: non-residential and 

commercial developments will be supported where they are designed to 
have no unacceptable negative effects upon the amenity of neighbouring 
land uses. 

 
8.15   Table 2 of the Transitional Developer Guidance (TDG) does not give direct 

guidance regarding commercial buildings, however at page 12 it states that 
a property with 4 storeys should have back-to-back distances of no less 
than 27m to prevent harmful overlooking.   

 
8.16   The closest residential properties to the proposed building are located at the 

Former Coroners Court on the opposite side of Trafford Way (recently 
converted to residential apartments), which is approximately 43m from the 
site and separated by the A630. There are terraced properties on Gordon 
Street, Hexthorpe, these properties are over 60m away from the 
development. Therefore, there is a sufficient distance from the proposed 
building to ensure that there is no harmful overlooking introduced, 
significantly exceeding the 27m requirement in the TDG. 

 
8.17    The balconies at the upper floor level will serve the office floorspace and 

provide a provision of outdoor amenity space for workers. These balconies 
would have an outlook of the commercial units further down West Street, 
mainly the Flying Scotsman Medical Centre. Therefore, no harmful 
overlooking would be created. 

 
8.18    It is recognised that the introduction of a multi-storey building in a location 

which predominantly has two storey buildings, will somewhat alter the 
appearance of the site and street scene, and may be considered as 
dominating in comparison to the existing arrangement. However, the 
application site is designated for mixed use development with aspirations 
for high spec offices as per Policy 68. Furthermore, this development is 
seen as a ‘catalyst’ for similar developments to take place within this 
location, which would result in this development not being a stand-alone 
building forever.  

 
8.19    Given the nature of the surrounding area and uses, which includes a 

variety of city centre uses, an element of disturbance associated with 
evening activities and vehicle movements already exists in this location. 
The introduction of office space (which will be typically used during daytime 
hours) and small ancillary commercial/retail space is not considered to 
cause significant nuisance over and above the existing uses. The design of 
the building will ensure any ventilation/odours are dealt with via an internal 
ventilation system throughout the whole building. The Environmental Health 
Officer has no objections to the application, they are satisfied with the Noise 
Report submitted and have requested conditions in relation to the 
adherence of the Noise Report and full details of waste management to be 
submitted prior to operation.  

Page 22



 
Conclusion on Social Impacts 
 
8.20    Paragraph 8(b) of the NPPF (2023) sets out the social objectives which 

requires developments to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities 
by ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided 
to meet the needs of present and future generations through well-designed 
places; accessible service and open spaces that reflect the current and 
future needs to support community health, social and cultural well-being. 

 
8.21   The proposed uses (offices and ancillary commercial) are not expected to 

create significant disturbance. The proposed development would not 
detract or harmfully impact the residential amenity of existing neighbouring 
residential properties by virtue of overlooking or overshadowing. The 
proposed building would be situated a suitable distance from the nearest 
residential dwellings to ensure that existing amenity is protected. 

 
8.22    It is accepted that the proposal would lead to some noise and disturbance 

being generated whilst construction is taking place, however this is short 
term when considered against the lifetime of the development and a 
condition is attached to mitigate this.  Whilst the development does not 
create significant social benefits, there is no overall harm either, with the 
proposal according with the site’s designation in the adopted Local Plan. 
Overall, the social impact of the development is acceptable and significant 
weight should be attached to this in favour of the development. 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY  

 
Design and Landscaping 

 
8.23 Paragraph 130(a) of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure 

that developments will function well and add to the overall quality of the 
area, not just for the short term but over the lifetime of the development. 
Part (c) seeks to ensure that developments are sympathetic to local 
character and history, including the surrounding built environment and 
landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate 
innovation or change. 

 
8.24    Policies 41, 42, and 46 of the Doncaster Local Plan require development to 

be of a high-quality design that contributes to local distinctiveness, respond 
positively to existing site features, and integrate well with its immediate 
surroundings. 

 
8.25    Policy 43 of the Doncaster Local Plan requires exceptional standard of 

design quality for buildings, spaces and environmental improvements at 
higher profile gateway locations including, where appropriate, providing 
landmark or taller buildings and/or public art. 

 
 

Page 23



8.26    Paragraph 130(a) of the NPPF states that planning decisions should 
ensure that developments will function well and add to the overall quality of 
the area, not just for the short term but over the lifetime of the development. 
Part (c) seeks to ensure that developments are sympathetic to local 
character and history, including the surrounding built environment and 
landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate 
innovation or change. 

 
8.27    Policy 48 states that development will be supported which protects 

landscape character, protects, and enhances existing landscape features 
and provides high quality hard and soft landscaping schemes which include 
fit for purpose planting and generous trees, shrubs, and hedgerow planting. 

 
8.28   The proposal includes the demolition of four buildings, two within the office 

development known as ‘Trafford Court’, Wolsey Plumb Centre, and a 
former Mobility Centre retail unit. The demolition would facilitate the 
erection of a five-storeys commercial building, which would be 23m in 
height with a 4m high plant room on the roof, totalling 27m in height.  

 
8.29   The building has large windows and openings on all five floors, a flat roof 

which will house solar PV screened by a parapet. The materials would be 
white brick work on the upper floors, with a glazed green brick on the lower 
level. The curtain walling, external doors, and planters/railings would be 
metallic gold. The materials have been chosen to reflect the surrounding 
context; the green brick reflects the ‘Leopard PH’ for example.  Glazing 
scale and proportion has been developed to support the daylighting and 
ventilation strategy of the building. There would be planting on terraces 
facing south, which would provide greenery to the elevations and break up 
the white brickwork.  

 
8.30   The site is bisected by West Street, the proposed building sits on the 

southeast area of the site, with the north of West Street providing a high-
quality area of public open space. This area is described as a ‘Valley 
Garden’. The Valley Garden has been designed to complement the harder 
landscaped station forecourt, with the paving to follow pedestrian desire 
lines within the site, trees, planting and mounding to help form a strong 
boundary and sense of enclosure from the traffic noise of the A630. The 
proposal includes a screening feature along the northeast, with further 1m 
tall dense shrubbery and an eventual tree canopy of approximately 8m in 
height. Similarly, to the southwest of the valley garden there would be 
mounding of approximately 750mm in height with shrubs and trees above 
creating enclosure to head height. To the south of the building and the east 
there would be planters offering further landscaping to the other elevations, 
with the southern elevation planters demarcating a spill out zone for the 
ground floor commercial unit and with the eastern planters softening and 
screening the plant area from Trafford Way. The palette of the hard and soft 
materials and choice of planting is to complement the adjacent station 
forecourt and quality streets schemes which have taken place in and 
around the site.  

 

Page 24



8.31    Whilst landscaping designs, planting schemes and hard work plans have 
been provided, it is considered necessary to condition the hard and soft 
landscaping schemes. This is to ensure that a substantial high quality 
landscaping scheme with public art is provided which will be adequately 
maintained and managed and so in full accordance with Policy 43 and 48 of 
the Local Plan. However, the Trees and Hedgerows Officer is satisfied with 
the landscape/planting plans submitted and is confident a robust 
landscaping scheme can be achieved. Given this scheme is a key gateway 
development and in a prominent location of the city centre, it is considered 
appropriate to secure the management of the landscaping for 10 years. 
Furthermore, to ensure the palette of materials is also to the same high 
standard, the materials for the building will also be secured via condition.  

 
8.32    Whilst there are strong regeneration benefits there are also urban design 

impacts which work against the scheme. The scheme is seen to be a 
catalyst for regeneration of the wider City Gateway area and the proposal 
does offer significant benefits capitalising on its location and setting a new 
standard and mix of uses for the area and city centre more generally in 
terms of office developments which it currently struggles to attract. Given 
the longer-term aspirations for the area, the Urban Design Officer is 
comfortable with the scale of the building, albeit it does currently contrast 
with the scale of neighbouring buildings e.g., the leopard and railway public 
houses. However, the Flying Scotsman Medical Centre has already set a 
precedent for taller buildings in this location.  

 
8.33    The main concerns raised by the Urban Design Officer relate to the area of 

public open space and the impact these design decisions have on the 
urban design and townscape qualities of the surrounding area and the 
impact on the spatial enclosure through the redevelopment of Trafford 
Court. From an urban design perspective, successful public spaces are 
enclosed by buildings which activate and enclose the space. Trafford Court 
offers this activation and enclosure for the station square/forecourt, by 
removing these buildings it will significantly enlarge the space and result in 
much more openness reducing the sense of intimacy and security the 
current buildings afford to the space. Furthermore, the removal of these 
buildings also accentuates the contrast of scale between the office building 
and the surrounding lower storey height buildings. The provision of tree 
planting would not help replace the level of enclosure in the short-medium 
term or provide activation like the buildings currently do.  

 
8.34   The Urban Design Officer has also considered the architectural quality and 

materiality of the building. The sustainability credentials of the proposal are 
commendable, however the building (as well as the POS) is not regarded 
as exceptional quality. The more important northern elevation appears less 
interesting than the southern elevation with the omission of the balconies to 
that elevation. There are lots of ‘dummy windows’ particularly at Ground 
Floor and the central part of the Trafford Way elevation and their recesses 
don’t appear significant enough to provide much relief and shadow. 
Likewise, window reveals which don’t seem deep enough to side 
elevations. There may be opportunities to do something more interesting 

Page 25



such as contrasting brick coursing within these reveals and or around 
windows to provide some more subtle interest. Overall, there does not 
appear enough ‘layering’ to the facades. The Urban Design Officer 
considers it to be really important to select an appropriate brick, too light or 
absorbent and it may discolour or stain easy due to the proximity of the 
road. 

 
8.35 Whilst there are objections from Urban Design, it is considered that on 

balance the other environmental benefits of the scheme outweigh the 
issues raised by the Urban Design Officer. Whilst the introduction of a 5-
storey building is larger in scale than the adjacent buildings, this will be a 
landmark site. The use of the proposed materials and substantial high-
quality landscaping will contribute towards the appearance of the area and 
allow a modern mixed-use development to come forward. The development 
is seen as a regenerative catalyst for the whole ‘Gateway West’ area and 
would provide a much-needed use within the city centre boundary. 
Furthermore, the highway works would improve the pedestrian linkages 
from the station to West Street and provide a good area of public open 
space with high quality tree planting and landscaping for visitors to enjoy, 
which in turn provides a significant increase in biodiversity into the city 
centre.  

 
8.36    Despite the conflict with policies 41, 42 and 43 of the Doncaster Local Plan, 

on balance, the regenerative benefits and investment into Doncaster City 
Centre outweighs the harm that the loss of Trafford Court and provision of 
landscaping in its place would have on the townscape. The A-grade offices 
proposed would attract different types of businesses into the city centre and 
increase footfall to the wider shopping areas and be a catalyst for further 
regeneration. To ensure that the loss of Trafford Court results in a high-
quality area of public open space, improvements to the level of landscaping 
is required, and this can be secured via a condition prior to commencement 
of the relevant works.  

 
           Impact upon setting of Listed Building 
 
8.37    Section 66 (1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 (the Act) requires the decision maker to have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting, or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. Policy 36 of the 
Local Plan states that developments affecting the setting of a listed building 
should not harm the significance of the listed building or its setting and 
public benefit should outweigh the harm.  

 
8.38   The site is within proximity to two listed buildings, the Grade II Listed 

Doncaster Railway Station and the Grade II Listed Grand Theatre to the 
northeast beyond the dual carriageway of the A630.  

 
8.39    The proposal will form an important gateway into the city centre and follows 

on from the enhancements to the neighbouring station forecourt. Minus the 
two listed buildings, the surrounding built form is of little architectural 

Page 26



interest. Further along West Street there is The Station PH and The 
Leopard PH, which are both locally listed. To the south across an open 
pedestrianised space lies the Flying Scotsman, a five storey plus recent 
development which again helps give some streetscape and scale to 
Trafford Way as well as to St. Sepulchre Gate and has curved corners, 
traditional features of Doncaster. To the east, on the opposite side of 
Trafford Way, is very poor townscape because of the dual carriageway 
being forced through an historic urban block that even several decades 
after still presents scars to the streetscape that has not yet been properly 
resolved. Beyond this lies the City Centre with some attractive buildings 
near Trafford Way. Further along Trafford Way to the southeast lies 
Portland Place, again this helps to give some enclosure to the street. 

 
8.40   The principle of the office development is welcomed by the Conservation 

Officer, and the architects have attempted to address some concerns 
raised by the Conservation Officer during their early discussions. The main 
orientation relating to West Street and part of its frontage being slightly 
skewed so to respond to West Laith Gate. The proposed building is 
considered to now respond better than existing buildings on site to its 
context. The current open space to the south of the ‘island site’ is retained 
but is compromised with the inclusion of a substation within it and this 
would be better located elsewhere if possible. The substation was 
subsequently brought inwards closer to the office building, which opens the 
area to the south up further.  

 
8.41   The Conservation Officer notes a concern with the proposed landscaped 

area replacing Trafford Court, as it will dilute the sense of arrival within a 
station forecourt. Trafford Court as noted above is not architecturally 
outstanding but does help to give enclosure to Trafford Way and partially to 
the station forecourt. Trafford Court along with the extension of the 
Frenchgate helps to frame the station building and give it more dominance. 
However, it is noted by the Conservation Officer that the landscaping would 
be an improvement on the existing buildings. However, given these 
concerns the Conservation Officer does not object to the development on 
heritage grounds.  

 
8.42 The application site forms part of the cityscape which surrounds Doncaster 

Railway Station and the Grand Theatre, which are key listed buildings in 
Doncaster City Centre.   The application site contributes towards the wider 
large setting of these buildings and their special interest, and therefore 
naturally will have a degree of impact on their setting.  Given the distance 
between these listed assets and the application site, the building and 
associated works would have a limited impact on their setting which is less 
than substantial in fact and degree.  Overall, it is considered that the 
development accords with Policy 36 of the Local Plan.  Within the balancing 
exercise great weight has been afforded to any harm notwithstanding that it 
is less than substantial, and it has been assessed against the public 
benefits of the proposal.  This is discussed further in Section 9 of this 
report. 

 

Page 27



Impact upon highway safety 
 
8.43 Policy 13(A) of the Local Plan states that the Council will work with 

developers to ensure that appropriate levels of parking provision are made 
in accordance with the standards in Appendix 6 (criterion 4) and 
development does not result in unacceptable impacts on highway safety 
(criterion 6).  Developments should also include provision for electric vehicle 
charging points (criterion 4).  

 
8.44 Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that ‘Development should only be 

prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts 
on the road network would be severe.’ 

 
8.45    There are various highway access points to the site via West Street from the 

A630. Pedestrian access through the area is limited around Trafford Court 
and via the existing footpath links to the south of West Street, with staggered 
pedestrian crossing points providing access towards the city centre.  The 
vehicular movements along West Street will be retained, though there would 
be some alterations to improve pedestrian and cyclist connectivity through 
the area.  

 
8.46    A Transport Assessment (TA) and Travel Plan (TP) have accompanied this 

application. The Transport Assessment has concluded that the highways 
alterations to West Street are acceptable in terms of highways safety and 
will continue to provide a suitable route to access to the wider area and to 
the application site for the purpose of servicing and deliveries. The Council’s 
Highways Development Control Officer did request tracking information for 
both servicing and delivery vehicles, this has been provided via an 
addendum to the TA. The Highways Development Control Officer is satisfied 
that vehicles can access the site safely for both servicing and deliveries. 
Additionally, the TA confirms that the site is in a highly sustainable location 
and is accessible by public modes of transport and offers connections to 
existing pedestrian routes to the city centre. Based on the sustainable 
location of the site, the development will be car free, which should 
encourage sustainable modes of transport further. The TA outlines that the 
development would have very minimal trip generation figures 17 two-way 
car trips at peak periods is outlined. A loading bay will be maintained and 
re-surfacing along West Street for the benefit of all delivery and bin 
collections. The amended TA adequately assesses car parking availability 
within the immediate area and that no further car parking spaces are 
required. The development would provide cycle parking for 30 bikes in a 
secure area.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



8.47  The Highways Development Control Officer has been liaising with the 
Highways Network Management Team, it is considered that given the sites 
location abutting a main arterial route through the city (A630), a construction 
traffic management plan will be essential to ensure minimal disruption 
during demolition and construction. Whilst it would be preferable that this 
detail is provided prior to any permission being granted, this level of 
information is usually put forward following significant consultation with the 
highway authority and will include the finer details of demolition and 
construction which is not yet available. The applicant has confirmed that 
they are already in discussions with the Highways Network Management 
Team and the Highways Officer is therefore satisfied that this can be dealt 
with via a pre-commencement condition.  

 
8.48     Following on from the TA, the TP sets out specific measures to encourage 

the use of sustainable modes of transport. The Council’s Transport Planner 
has reviewed the TA and the TP and is satisfied that the proposal accords 
with policies 13, 16, and 17 of the Local Plan and paragraph 112 of the 
NPPF.  

 
Flood Risk and Drainage 

 
 
8.49 Policy 56 states that development proposals will be supported where there 

is adequate means of foul sewerage disposal; no increase in flood risk or 
surface water run-off and make use of SUDs unless it can be shown to be 
technically unfeasible. 

 
8.50 The site lies within Flood Risk Zone 1 as per the Environment Agency’s 

Flood Map for Planning and by Doncaster’s Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment (SFRA). This is the lowest area of flood risk from main river 
flooding.  Nevertheless, major planning applications must be supported by 
the relevant drainage information including plans and strategies to accord 
with Policy 56.  

 
8.51    The Applicant has provided a drainage strategy along with calculations and 

details of the drainage connection. The information provided has been 
reviewed by the Council’s Drainage Officer and there is no objection on this 
basis, subject to the conditions attached.  

 
8.52   Yorkshire Water were also consulted on the application, they have not 

raised any objections. Yorkshire Water’s engineers have requested 
conditions relating to the submission of a feasibility study and storage tank 
capacity details.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



Air Pollution and Contaminated Land 
 
8.53 Policy 55 states that proposals will be required to mitigate contamination by 

demonstrating there is no significant harm to human health; land; natural 
environment; pollution of soil or any watercourse. Developments must 
ensure that necessary remedial action is undertaken and demonstrate that 
any adverse ground conditions have been properly identified and safely 
treated so suitable for the proposed use. 

 
8.54 Policy 54 relates to pollution and states that consideration will be given to 

the impact on national air quality. An air quality assessment will be required 
to enable clear decision making on any relevant planning application. 

 
8.55   The Contamination Officer has reviewed the application in regard to land 

contamination. A remediation strategy has been provided by the applicants. 
This strategy includes a Phase 1 Desk Top Study Report and Interim 
Report. The site has been subject to an appropriate site investigation and 
risk assessment.  The soils, ground gas and controlled waters have been 
tested and benchmarked.  The report concludes the controlled waters only 
marginally exceed acceptable levels, and as the majority of the site will be 
hardstanding, it was concluded no remedial works are required, to which I 
concur.   The soils on site will be placed under hardstanding, and are 
suitable for a commercial end use, to which I concur.  No ground gas 
protection measures are required.  The Remediation Strategy is clear and 
concise; any soils in soft landscaped areas will require a clean cover 
system; watching brief is required throughout the works for unexpected 
contamination; further site investigation is required in the north of the site, 
as this area was previously inaccessible.  The Contaminated Land Officer is 
satisfied with the report and has requested a number of conditions, to 
ensure the remediation is carried out in an appropriate manner. 

 
8.56   The application has also been accompanied by an Air Quality Assessment 

(AQA). The AQA has been reviewed by the Air Quality Officer and they are 
confident that the conclusions of the AQA can be accepted with a high 
degree of confidence. The AQA correctly states that the proposal is purely 
for a commercial usage and therefore the building itself does not fall within 
the remit of the UK’s extant Air Quality Regulations. It also states that there 
will be no parking spaces on site and therefore traffic generated emissions, 
if any, are unlikely to affect Air Quality Management Area 1 which lies to 
north of site along Trafford Way. It is welcomed that the ground floor plan 
shows there to be no occupied areas fronting on to Trafford Way. The Air 
Quality Officer has requested a restriction condition to ensure no residential 
uses are created in the building without formal planning permission and for 
an informative regarding dust and noise.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



Energy Efficiency/Sustainability Features 
 
8.57 Policy 46B relates to major non-domestic applications  and states that 

development must meet the BREEAM rating of at least ‘Very Good’ and 
secure at least 10% of their regulated energy from renewable sources. . 

 
8.58  The application has been supported by a BREEAM Pre-assessment which 

demonstrates that the building will achieve the ‘Excellent’ rating. A condition 
is attached requiring the submission of a post-development report which will 
then assess the physical building to ensure that this rating is achieved. 

 
8.59   The development includes the integration of several sustainable construction 

methods, including solar PV array on the roof, air source heat pumps, high 
performance fabrics for example glazed PPC louvre panels within curtain 
walling units which will be connected to automated hybrid heating/ventilation 
systems, and maximising natural daylight. This is all with the aim to achieve 
Net Zero Carbon in Operation, BREEAM Excellent, and EPC rating A.  

 
Archaeology  

 
8.60 Policy 39 states that development affecting other archaeological assets will 

need to demonstrate how any benefits will outweigh harm to the site. 
 
8.61   The Council’s archaeologist has reviewed the information submitted and has 

no objection to the proposed development in terms of archaeology. The site 
and the surrounding area are known to have archaeological interest, it is 
therefore important the written scheme of investigation does take place, 
some trial trenching is also proposed but this cannot be completed under the 
buildings are demolished, given the agreed location of the trenches. It is 
considered that this can be dealt with via condition.  

 
Ecology  

 
8.62 Policy 29 states proposals will only be supported which deliver a net gain for 

biodiversity and protect, create, maintain, and enhance the Borough's 
ecological networks.  Policy 30 states proposals which may harm priority 
habitats; protected species or features of biodiversity interest will only be 
supported where the DEFRA biodiversity metrics demonstrates that a 
proposal will be deliver a minimum 10% net gain for biodiversity. 

 
8.63 Paragraph 5.1.1 of the adopted Biodiversity Net Gain SPD states that ‘in 

cases where BNG delivery cannot be secured onsite, nearby or within the 
wider Doncaster area, then as a last resort a biodiversity offsetting 
contribution will be accepted by the Council.’ 

 
8.64   Paragraph 5.1.2 follows on to state that a contribution £27,500 per unit will 

be agreed via a Section 106 agreement in compensation for the loss.  
 

Page 31



8.65   The application has been supported by a Bat Report and Ecological Impact 
Assessment which the Ecologist has reviewed and has no objection to the 
development based on the findings and recommendations within the report.  

 
8.66    A biodiversity net gain assessment has also been submitted which outlines 

that there would be a 117% net gain for habitat units and 100% net gain for 
hedgerow units based on the landscape plans submitted. As such no 
further enhancement or mitigation works are required.  

 
8.67   The Ecologist has requested conditions in relation to providing the 1.3 

biodiversity units on site, bat method statement, and an ecological 
enhancement plan. Overall, there are no objections from the Ecologist and 
the development is considered to accord with Policy 29 and Policy 30 of the 
Local Plan.  

 
Conclusion on Environmental Issues 

 
8.68 Paragraph 8(c) of the NPPF (2023) indicates, amongst other things, that 

the planning system needs to contribute to protecting and enhancing the 
natural built and historic environment, including making effective use of 
land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, 
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate 
change, including moving to a low carbon economy. 

 
8.69    Whilst there are objections from Urban Design, it is considered that on 

balance given the other environmental benefits of the scheme outweigh the 
issues raised by the Urban Design Officer. Whilst the introduction of a 5-
storey building is larger in scale than the adjacent buildings, this will be a 
landmark site. The use of the proposed materials and substantial high-
quality landscaping will contribute towards the appearance of the area and 
allow a modern mixed-use development to come forward. The development 
is seen as a regenerative catalyst for the whole ‘Gateway West’ area and 
would provide a much-needed use within the city centre boundary. 
Furthermore, the highway works would improve the pedestrian linkages 
from the station to West Street and provide a good area of public open 
space with high quality tree planting and landscaping for visitors to enjoy, 
which in turn provides a significant increase in biodiversity into the city 
centre.  

 
8.70    The access arrangements are deemed acceptable, as well as the tree and 

landscaping proposals. The site is not within a flood risk area and will 
provide high specification materials and renewable energy sources to 
achieve BREEAM ‘excellent’, EPC rating A, and net-zero in operation. 
Overall, the environmental impact of the development is considered to be 
acceptable and significant weight should be attached to this in favour of the 
development.  

 
 
 
 

Page 32



ECONOMIC SUSTAINABILITY 
 
8.71 The proposed development will provide up to 4,000sqm of Grade-A quality 

office space within this mixed-use area, as well 2x smaller ancillary 
commercial units.   

 
8.72  It is expected that the development would bring forward substantial long term 

economic benefits through the creation of a variety of job roles over the life 
of the development. The office space will attract larger office-based 
companies into the city centre, creating new jobs and increasing footfall into 
the city centre.   

 
8.73   The scheme would bring forward a high level of investment and growth, in 

accordance with the objectives set out in Policy 2: Level of Growth, and would 
make a significant and valuable contribution towards the target 481ha of 
employment land required over the plan period (of which 14 ha is required 
for office development).   

 
8.74   Although the occupiers of the ground floor commercial units have not yet been 

confirmed, it is anticipated that jobs will be generated by the ancillary 
commercial development, being primarily lower skilled and part time type 
roles. This demonstrates that the development will create a variety of job 
roles in the long term. 

 
8.75  This development is being brought forward by the City of Doncaster Council, 

as part of the Town Deal Fund. The development has been brought forward 
to achieve the aims of Policy 68 of the Doncaster Local Plan and the Urban 
Centre Masterplan. The development would result in a gateway development 
with aspirations to attract further regeneration projects within the Gateway 
area. The economic benefits of this application are given significant weight 
in the determination of this application.     

 
8.76   In the short term there would be economic benefit to the development of the 

site through employment of construction workers and tradesmen connected 
with the build of the project however this is restricted to a short period of time 
and therefore carries limited weight in favour of the application. 
 
Conclusion on Economy Issues 

 
8.77 Para 8 a) of the NPPF (2023) sets out that in order to be economically 

sustainable developments should help build a strong, responsive and 
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is 
available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation 
and improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision 
of infrastructure. 

 
 
 
 

Page 33



8.78 The proposal would result in some short term economic benefit in the 
creation of jobs during the construction phase of the proposal and longer term 
would result in a significant number of new jobs and investment, playing a 
part in creating the envisaged economic growth for Doncaster City Centre. 
These factors weigh positively in favour of the application and when 
combined carry significant weight. 

 
9.0 PLANNING BALANCE & CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 In accordance with Paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2023) the proposal is 

considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  Officers have identified no adverse harm that would 
significantly or demonstrably outweigh the benefits identified when 
considered against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole. 

 
9.2 Concerns have been raised regarding the loss of Trafford Court to facilitate 

the public open space proposed as part of this commercial development 
and any knock-on impact to the significance of a designated heritage asset. 
In this case, great weight has been afforded to any harm to the setting of 
the listed buildings notwithstanding that it is less than substantial, and it has 
been assessed against the public benefits of the proposal.  On balance 
there are several other environmental, social, and economic benefits which 
outweigh that harm. The proposal would create an area of public open 
space which would be predominately green in nature with substantial tree 
planting, this type of green space is lacking within the city centre and 
improves the offer for areas of enjoyment/recreation within the city centre 
itself. Furthermore, the introduction of green space such as this would 
substantially improve biodiversity within the city centre. The proposal has 
been developed with the aim of being funded by central government via the 
Towns Fund Deal circa £25 million, which needed to meet the necessary 
criteria and to achieve the aims of the Urban Masterplan and Policy 68, to 
enable much need regeneration into the ‘Gateway West’ area. These 
factors amount to public benefits in favour of the proposal. 

 
9.3 Overall, the proposal is compliant with the development plan and on 

balance is recommended for approval.  
 
10.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
10.1 MEMBERS RESOLVE TO GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION FOR THE 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS BELOW: 
 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
01 The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than 

the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission.  
REASON 
Condition required to be imposed by Section 91(as amended) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

Page 34



 
02.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete 

accordance with the details shown on the amended plans referenced and 
dated as follows: 
Location Plan received 11.10.23 
DGW1-BBA-Z1-00-DR-A-2001 Proposed Ground Floor GA Plan P11 received 
11.10.23 
DGW1-BBA-Z1-01-DR-A-2001 Proposed First Floor GA Plan P11 received 
11.10.23 
DGW1-BBA-Z1-02-DR-A-2001 Proposed Second Floor GA Plan P11 received 
11.10.23 
DGW1-BBA-Z1-03-DR-A-2001 Proposed Third Floor GA Plan P11 received 
11.10.23 
DGW1-BBA-Z1-04-DR-A-2001 Proposed Fourth Floor GA Plan P11 received 
11.10.23 
DGW1-BBA-Z1-05-DR-A-2001 Proposed Fifth Floor GA Plan P13 received 
11.10.23 
DGW1-BBA-Z1-RF-DR-A-2001 Proposed Roof GA Plan P11 received 
11.10.23 
DGW1-BBA-Z1-ZZ-DR-A-3001 GA Elevations Sheet 1 P08 received 11.10.23 
DGW1-BBA-Z1-ZZ-DR-A-3002 GA Elevations Sheet 2 P09 received 11.10.23 
DGW1-BBA-Z1-ZZ-DR-A-3003 GA Elevations Sheet 3 P09 received 11.10.23 
DGW1-BBA-Z0-SL-DR-L-1007 P02 Hardworks Plan - received 29.11.23 
DGW1-BBA-Z0-SL-DR-L-1008 P02 Planting Plan - received 29.11.23 
DGW1-BBA-ZZ-SL-DR-L-7004 P04 External Furniture Details - received 
29.11.23 
DGW1-BBA-ZZ-SL-DR-L-7005 P01 Fencing Details - received 29.11.23 
DGW1-BBA-ZZ-SL-DR-L-7007 P02 Landscape Interface Detail 02 - received 
29.11.23 
REASON 
To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
application as approved. 

 
 
03.  Notwithstanding the submitted landscape plans, prior to the construction of 

the area of public open space, details of all external landscape works shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA). 
Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the LPA, this information should 
include the following details: 

   
  o Hard landscape- exact product details for surface materials, edges, 

street furniture- locations and designs for lighting and / or CCTV columns and 
lamps, bins, benches, bollards, pedestrian guard rails, cycle stands; 

  o Boundaries- boundary wall / railing details to public open space 
including means of enclosure to south western edge of POS adjacent taxi rank 
/ disabled drop off to provide enclosure and restrict pedestrian movement 
through landscaped areas;  

  o Public art- details of proposed small scale public art /feature(s (which 
could be integrated into the boundary features);  

Page 35



  o Design details of stepped auditorium amphitheatre landscape feature 
to be submitted and agreed, as indicated on Hard works plan (DGW1-BBA-z0-
SL-DR-L-1007- P01). This feature is to be integrated into mounding on 
eastern part of POS to function as seating and informal play feature; 

  o Management and maintenance strategy - detailed management and 
maintenance strategy for all elements of the public realm, including details of 
hard and soft landscape aftercare, strategy for replacement soft landscape, 
surface materials and street furniture. 

  o Soft landscape scheme - this shall include a soft landscape plan; a 
schedule providing plant and tree numbers and details of the species, which 
shall comply with the Council's Transitional Developer Requirements 
Document, nursery stock specification in accordance with British Standard 
3936: 1992 Nursery Stock Part One and planting distances of trees and 
shrubs; a specification of planting and staking/guying; a timescale of 
implementation; a detailed specification for tree pit construction that utilises a 
professionally recognised method of construction to provide the minimum 
rooting volume set out in the Council's guidance and a load-bearing capacity 
equivalent to BS EN 124 2015 Class C250 for any paved surface above; a 
specification for planting including details of tree support, tree pit surfacing, 
aeration and irrigation and details of management and maintenance for a 
minimum of 10 years following practical completion of the landscape works.  

   
Thereafter the landscape scheme shall be implemented in full accordance with 
the approved details and the Local Planning Authority shall be notified in 
writing within 7 working days to approve practical completion of any planting 
within public areas or adoptable highway within the site. Any part of the 
scheme which fails to achieve independence in the landscape, or is damaged 
or removed within 10 years of planting shall be replaced within 4 weeks of 
notification to the applicants, in full accordance with the approved scheme, 
unless the local planning authority gives its written approval to any variation. 
REASON 
To ensure a satisfactory appearance and quality of development in line with 
local plan policies 42, 46, 47, and 48 

 
04.  Following the commencement of the development and before 30th September 

of every year during the implementation period (either phased or in full) and 
aftercare period, a 'Landscaping Implementation Report' shall be prepared by 
a suitably qualified landscape architect and / or contractor, and submitted by 
the developer to the Local Planning Authority in order to demonstrate that the 
landscaping has been carried out in full accordance with the approved 
landscaping details. The report should record the landscaping operations 
carried out on the land since the date of commencement, or previous report / 
aftercare meeting, and set out the intended operations for the next 12 months. 
It shall cover the following matters in particular, but not limited to, species, 
size, location, planting and aftercare specification, and be illustrated with 
evidence such as an overall progress summary, inspection site visit notes, a 
schedule of maintenance operations undertaken, before and after photos of 
any remedial plantings or completed works. If required, the developer shall 
arrange to attend a site meeting with the Local Planning Authority to inspect 
the planting and ongoing maintenance requirements. 

Page 36



REASON 
To ensure site landscaping works are undertaken as approved in accordance 
with Policy 48 

 
05.  Prior to commencement of above ground works, product details of the 

proposed external materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. This may include submission of samples if 
requested by the Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority, the development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved materials. 
REASON 
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development 

 
06.  Prior to commencement of above ground works, large scale details, including 

materials, colours and finishes, at a minimum of 1:20 scale of the items listed 
below, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority: 
a)    dummy window and upper level window reveals 
b)    Windows with  window reveals of a minimum 150mm, 
c)     Shopfronts and entrance doors at ground floor level, 
d)    Balconies enclosures to southern elevation, 
e)    The proposed standalone bin store, 
f)     Brick detailing including projecting brickwork and soldier coursing to 
masonry areas, 
g)   Rooftop plant layout, 
h)   GRP substation details 

  Thereafter, the works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  
REASON 
To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with 
Local Plan Policy 48. 

 
07. Within 6 months of first occupation, a post construction BREEAM review shall 

be carried out by a licensed assessor to confirm the rating of BREEAM 
‘excellent’ has been achieved and submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for approval.  
REASON 
In the interests of sustainability and to minimise the impact of the development 
on the effects of climate change. 

 
08.  Prior to commencement of above ground works a statement has been 
submitted to the local planning authority and approved in writing, explaining 
how CO2 emissions generated by the development will be reduced. At least 
10% of the development's energy consumption must be generated using on-
site renewable energy equipment or improvements to the fabric efficiency of 
the building. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority, 
the development shall then proceed in accordance with the approved report. 
To enable full discharge of this condition, prior to the occupation of the 
building, evidence to demonstrate that the agreed measures have been 
installed must be provided and agreed by the local planning authority.  

Page 37



   
REASON 
In the interests of sustainability and to minimize the impact of the development 
on the effects of climate change. 

   
 
9.  All remedial works shall be in accordance with Arc Environmental. Remediation 

Strategy for Gateway 1. Ref 22-143. 27/11/23, unless otherwise approved in 
writing with the LPA. 

   
a)  The approved Phase 3 remediation works shall be carried out in full on site 
under a quality assurance scheme to demonstrate compliance with the 
proposed methodology and best practice guidance. The LPA must be given 
two weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme 
works. If during the works, contamination is encountered which has not 
previously been identified, then all associated works within that location shall 
cease until the additional contamination is fully assessed and an appropriate 
remediation scheme approved by the LPA.   

   
b)  Upon completion of the Phase 3 works, a Phase 4 verification report shall 
be submitted to and approved by the LPA. The verification report shall include 
details of the remediation works and quality assurance certificates to show 
that the works have been carried out in full accordance with the approved 
methodology. Details of any post-remedial sampling and analysis to show the 
site has reached the required clean-up criteria shall be included in the 
verification report together with the necessary documentation detailing what 
waste materials have been removed from the site. The site shall not be 
brought into use until such time as all verification data has been approved by 
the LPA. 

   
REASON 
To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of human health 
and the wider environment, in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Doncaster's Local Plan Policy 54 & 55. 

   
 
10. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) and the Town 
and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, or any Order revoking and 
re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the upper floors of the 
development hereby approved (first floor, second floor, third floor and fourth 
floor) shall only be used/occupied by uses falling within Use Class E(g), and 
for no other purpose (including any other purpose in Class E of the Schedule 
to the Use Classes Order). Additionally the ground floor units shall only be 
used/occupied by uses falling within Use Class E of the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, or any Order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order with or without modification). 
 
 
 

Page 38



REASON   
To ensure that the building is only used for its intended use and cannot be 
converted to other uses and thus bypass the Sequential Test exercise which is 
required by Local Plan Policy 22- Part 1 and to ensure future occupiers are not 
impacted by air quality in accordance with Policy 54 of the Local Plan. 

 
11.  Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) and the Town 
and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, or any Order revoking and 
re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the ground floor units 
cannot be amalgamated into any other arrangement and must remain as two 
separate commercial units as indicated on the approved floorplan: Proposed 
Floorplan - Ground Floor Plan, DGW1 BBA Z1 00 DR A 2001 P11 Received: 
11/10/2023. 
REASON  
To ensure that the development does not bypass the Impact Assessment 
exercise which is required by Local Plan Policy 22- Part 2. 

 
12. The proposed development shall deliver 1.3 biodiversity units on site as 

described in the submitted Biodiversity Metric dated 22 November 2023. Any 
changes to the proposed onsite landscaping must be accompanied by a 
revised Biodiversity Metric that will be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval in writing. Changes should not result in a lowering of the 
net gain outcomes. The proposed habitats shall be created and then retained 
on site through good management for a minimum of 30 years. 
REASON 
In line with Local Plan Policy 30 to ensure a minimum of 10% net gain is 
achieved as a result of the development.  

 
13. No development shall take place (including any demolition, ground works, site 

clearance) until a method statement produced by a suitably qualified ecologist 
and covering the demolition of buildings has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. The works shall be carried out strictly 
in accordance with the approved details. 
REASON 
To ensure the ecological interests of the site are maintained in accordance 
with Local Plan policy 30 and that no offence is committed in respect of 
protected species legislation 

 
14. Within one month of the commencement of development, an ecological 

enhancement plan shall be submitted to the local planning authority for 
approval in writing. This plan shall include details of the following measures, 
all of which shall be implemented prior to the first occupation of the site or an 
alternative timescale to be approved in writing with the local planning 
authority:   

- Siting of 4 integrated bat boxes that shall be incorporated into the fabric of 
the new building in suitable locations for bats. 

 
 
 

Page 39



REASON  
In line with Local Plan Policy 30 to ensure the ecological interests of the site 
are maintained. 

 
15. The requirements of section 6.1.4 table 9 of Doncaster Gateway - Baseline 

Noise Survey & Noise Impact Assessment, 30th July 2023, PC-22-0064-RP1-
Rev A shall be met by all future occupiers of the development, in respect of 
external plant and equipment, and that an acoustic report shall be prepared for 
approval by the local planning authority prior to first use, for all site occupiers 
that utilise any external fixed plant or equipment. 
REASON 
In the interests of the amenities of the locality and occupiers of adjoining 
property. 

   
 
16.  Prior to first occupation of the development, the developer shall submit for 

approval to the local planning authority, a scheme for the management and 
storage of waste at the property, including bin store, maintenance of the area 
and placing of bins for collection and their return. All such requirements of the 
approved scheme shall be implemented prior to first occupation and 
subsequently complied with. 
REASON 
To ensure the development has adequate waste management and to protect 
the amenity of the neighbouring occupiers. 

 
17. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 

Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The approved statement shall be 
adhered to throughout the construction period. The statement shall provide 
for: 
i) measures to control noise, with regard to BS5228 and other appropriate 
standards  
ii) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt  
iii) all other appropriate measures to prevent loss of amenity to the locality. 
REASON 
To protect the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. 

 
18.  Part A (pre-commencement) 
   

No development, including any demolition and groundworks, shall take place 
until the applicant, or their agent or successor in title, has submitted a Written 
Scheme of Investigation (WSI) that sets out a strategy for archaeological 
investigation and this has been approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The WSI shall include: 

   
o The programme and method of site investigation and recording. 
o The requirement to seek preservation in situ of identified features of 

importance. 
o The programme for post-investigation assessment. 
o The provision to be made for analysis and reporting. 

Page 40



o The provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the 
results. 

o The provision to be made for deposition of the archive created. 
o Nomination of a competent person/persons or organisation to 

undertake the works. 
o The timetable for completion of all site investigation and post-

investigation works. 
   

Part B (pre-occupation/use) 
Thereafter the development shall only take place in accordance with the 
approved WSI and the development shall not be brought into use until the 
Local Planning Authority has confirmed in writing that the requirements of the 
WSI have been fulfilled or alternative timescales agreed. 

   
REASON 
To ensure that any archaeological remains present, whether buried or part of 
a standing building, are investigated and a proper understanding of their 
nature, date, extent and significance gained, before those remains are 
damaged or destroyed and that knowledge gained is then disseminated. 

 
19.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Travel 

Plan and the mitigation it details.  An Annual Travel Plan Monitoring Report 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority no 
later than 3 months post the first anniversary of the building being brought into 
use, and this shall continue on an annual basis for the duration of the use 
unless another duration is agreed with the Local Planning Authority. Each 
annual monitoring report shall include collated parking information to ascertain 
the level of off-site parking occurring, revised targets, revised measures 
alongside revised marketing, monitoring and enforcement mechanisms. 
REASON 
To promote non-car methods of use for the development to reduce parking 
demand in the area as required by Policy 13 of the Local Plan. 

 
20. No development shall commence on site until a Construction Traffic 

Management Plan (CTMP) is submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Highway Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout 
the construction phase. As a minimum, the CTMP shall contain information 
relating to (but not limited to): 

 
i. The site compound and parking of vehicles for site operatives and 

visitors. 
ii. The erection and maintenance of security hoarding around the 

development including decorative displays and facilities for public 
viewing including traffic management measures in order to erect the 
hoarding and all approved licences in order to erect hoarding. 

iii. A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition 
and construction works. 

iv. Storage of plant and materials used in demolition/construction of the 
development. 

Page 41



v.        Measures to control noise and the emission of dust and dirt during 
demolition/construction. 

vi.       Wheel washing facilities designated on hard standing areas within the 
site. 

vii.       Volumes and types of construction vehicles. 
viii.       Identification of delivery routes and timing of deliveries; 
ix. Identification of agreed access point and all Temporary signage on the 

adopted highway 
x. Contractors method for controlling construction traffic and adherence 

to routes 
xi.       Loading and unloading of plant and materials including any temporary 

traffic management measures needed i.e. Road/Lane closures, 
footpath closures etc 

xii. Size, route and numbers of abnormal loads 
xiii. Swept path analysis (as required) 
xiv. Construction Period 

 
REASON 
To safeguard the living conditions of neighbouring residents and in the 
interests of highway safety in accordance with Local Plan Policy 13 

 
21.   Prior to any above ground works details of secure cycle parking facilities for 

the occupants of, and/or visitors to the development have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. These facilities shall 
be fully implemented and made available for use prior to the occupation of 
the development hereby permitted and shall thereafter be retained for use at 
all times. 
REASON 

  To ensure that satisfactory facilities for the parking of cycles are provided and 
to encourage travel by means other than private motor vehicles and to 
comply with policy 13 of the Doncaster Local Plan. 

 
22.     The development hereby granted shall not be begun until details of the foul, 

surface water and land drainage systems and all related works necessary 
to drain the site have been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. These works shall be carried out concurrently with the 
development and the drainage system shall be operating to the satisfaction 
of the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of the development.  
REASON 
To ensure that the site is connected to suitable drainage systems and to 
ensure that full details thereof are approved by the Local Planning Authority 
before any works begin. 

 
23.      Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of 

the drainage management and maintenance plan shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The drainage system 
for foul and surface water drainage shall be retained, managed and 
maintained for the lifetime of the development in accordance with the 
approved drainage management and maintenance plan.  
 

Page 42



REASON:  
To ensure the drainage apparatus of the site is adequately maintained for 
the lifetime of the development and to accord with Para. 169 c) of the NPPF 
(2021). 

 
24.      No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the sustainable 

drainage scheme for the site has been completed in accordance with the 
submitted details. The sustainable drainage scheme shall be designed, 
managed and maintained in accordance with the Non-statutory technical 
standards and local standards. 
REASON  
To comply with current planning legislation - National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
25.     The development shall not be begun until details of the sustainable drainage 

scheme for the site have been provided in accordance with the submitted 
details. The sustainable drainage scheme shall be designed, managed and 
maintained in accordance with the Non-statutory technical standards and 
local standards 
REASON 
To comply with current planning legislation - National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
 

INFORMATIVES 
 
01.  INFORMATIVE 
Network Rail Standard Informatives (Please note, not all of these 
requirements may be applicable to this development) 
 
Fail Safe Use of Crane and Plant 
All operations, including the use of cranes or other mechanical plant working 
adjacent to Network Rail's property, must at all times be carried out in a "fail 
safe" manner such that in the event of mishandling, collapse or failure, no 
materials or plant are capable of falling within 3.0m of the nearest rail of the 
adjacent railway line, or where the railway is electrified, within 3.0m of 
overhead electrical equipment or supports. With a development of a certain 
height that may/will require use of a crane, the developer must bear in mind 
the following. Crane usage adjacent to railway infrastructure is subject to 
stipulations on size, capacity etc. which needs to be agreed by the Asset 
Protection Project Manager prior to implementation. 
  
Excavations/Earthworks 
All excavations/ earthworks carried out in the vicinity of Network Rail 
property/ structures must be designed and executed such that no 
interference with the integrity of that property/ structure can occur. If 
temporary works compounds are to be located adjacent to the operational 
railway, these should be included in a method statement for approval by 
Network Rail.  

Page 43



Prior to commencement of works, full details of excavations and earthworks 
to be carried out near the railway undertaker's boundary fence should be 
submitted for the approval of the Local Planning Authority acting in 
consultation with the railway undertaker and the works shall only be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details. Where development may affect 
the railway, consultation with the Asset Protection Project Manager should 
be undertaken. Network Rail will not accept any liability for any settlement, 
disturbance or damage caused to any development by failure of the railway 
infrastructure nor for any noise or vibration arising from the normal use 
and/or maintenance of the operational railway. No right of support is given or 
can be claimed from Network Rails infrastructure or railway land.  
 
Security of Mutual Boundary 
Security of the railway boundary will need to be maintained at all times. If the 
works require temporary or permanent alterations to the mutual boundary the 
applicant must contact Network Rail's Asset Protection Project Manager. 
  
Demolition 
Any demolition or refurbishment works must not be carried out on the 
development site that may endanger the safe operation of the railway, or the 
stability of the adjoining Network Rail structures. The demolition of buildings 
or other structures near to the operational railway infrastructure must be 
carried out in accordance with an agreed method statement. Approval of the 
method statement must be obtained from Network Rail's Asset Protection 
Project Manager before the development can commence. Vibro-impact 
Machinery. Where vibro-compaction machinery is to be used in 
development, details of the use of such machinery and a method statement 
should be submitted for the approval of the Local Planning Authority acting in 
consultation with the railway undertaker prior to the commencement of works 
and the works shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved 
method statement. 
 
Scaffolding 
Any scaffold which is to be constructed within 10 metres of the railway 
boundary fence must be erected in such a manner that at no time will any 
poles over-sail the railway and protective netting around such scaffold must 
be installed.  
  
Bridge Strikes 
Applications that are likely to generate an increase in trips under railway 
bridges may be of concern to Network Rail where there is potential for an 
increase in 'Bridge strikes'. Vehicles hitting railway bridges cause significant 
disruption and delay to rail users. Consultation with the Asset Protection 
Project Manager is necessary to understand if there is a problem. If required 
there may be a need to fit bridge protection barriers which may be at the 
developer's expense.  
  
 
 
 

Page 44



Abnormal Loads 
From the information supplied, it is not clear if any abnormal loads will be 
using routes that include any Network Rail assets (e.g. bridges and level 
crossings). We would have serious reservations if during the construction or 
operation of the site, abnormal loads will use routes that include Network Rail 
assets. Network Rail would request that the applicant contact our Asset 
Protection Project Manager to confirm that any proposed route is viable and 
to agree a strategy to protect our asset(s) from any potential damage caused 
by abnormal loads. I would also like to advise that where any damage, injury 
or delay to the rail network is caused by an abnormal load (related to the 
application site), the applicant or developer will incur full liability.  
  
Two Metre Boundary 
Consideration should be given to ensure that the construction and 
subsequent maintenance can be carried out to any proposed buildings or 
structures without adversely affecting the safety of, or encroaching upon 
Network Rail's adjacent land, and therefore all/any building should be 
situated at least 2 metres from Network Rail's boundary. This will allow 
construction and future maintenance to be carried out from the applicant's 
land, thus reducing the probability of provision and costs of railway look-out 
protection, supervision and other facilities necessary when working from or 
on railway land.  
  
ENCROACHMENT 
The developer/applicant must ensure that their proposal, both during 
construction, and after completion of works on site, does not affect the 
safety, operation or integrity of the operational railway, Network Rail and its 
infrastructure or undermine or damage or adversely affect any railway land 
and structures. There must be no physical encroachment of the proposal 
onto Network Rail land, no over-sailing into Network Rail airspace and no 
encroachment of foundations onto Network Rail land and soil. There must be 
no physical encroachment of any foundations onto Network Rail land. Any 
future maintenance must be conducted solely within the applicant's land 
ownership. Should the applicant require access to Network Rail land then 
must seek approval from the Network Rail Asset Protection Team. Any 
unauthorised access to Network Rail land or airspace is an act of trespass 
andwe would remind the council that this is a criminal offence (s55 British 
Transport Commission Act  
1949). Should the applicant be granted access to Network Rail land then 
they will be liable for all costs incurred in facilitating the proposal. 
  
Access to the Railway 
All roads, paths or ways providing access to any part of the railway 
undertaker's land shall be kept open at all times during and after the 
development 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



02.  INFORMATIVE   
DEVELOPMENTS NEAR OR ON POTENTIAL CONTAMINATED SITES 
Information derived from historic maps show that the above planning 
application is near or on a potential contaminated site, and in light of this it is 
recommended caution is taken during any excavation works. 
 
 
03.  INFORMATIVE 
Arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory undertaker 
and any other arrangements to secure the operation of the system/scheme 
throughout the developments lifetime shall be supplied as part of the 
drainage management and maintenance plan. In addition, the arrangements 
shall have clarified the access that is required to each surface water 
management component for maintenance purposes. 
 
 
04. INFORMATIVE 
The installation of the electric vehicle charging points and associated 
infrastructure as approved should be carried out in accordance with PAS 
1899:2022 'Electric Vehicles - Accessible Charging Specification' (or any 
revisions to this document in the future). 
 
 
05.  INFORMATIVE  
Nothing in this permission shall be construed as authorising the closure, 
diversion, stopping up, obstruction or other alteration, either in whole or in 
part, of any public right of way that crosses or adjoins the application site, in 
order to protect the existing public right of way. For the guidance of the 
applicant such alteration can only be made by requesting the Council to 
make a formal specific footpath order. 
 
 
06.  INFORMATIVE  
Planning permission has been granted on the basis that there is no sound 
and clear cut reason to refuse. The applicant is, however, reminded that the 
responsibility for safe development and secure occupancy of the site rests 
with the Developer and accordingly is advised to consider the possibility of 
the presence or future presence of landfill gas and satisfy himself of any gas 
precaution measure which might be necessary. 
 
07.  INFORMATIVE 
  
PROTECTIONS OF BUILDINGS OR FOUNDATIONS 
  
With regards to the protection of building structures and foundations I would 
advise specific consultation is sought with building control. 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



08.  INFORMATIVE  
The developer shall consider incorporating all possible sustainability features 
into the design of the proposed development. 
 
 
09.  INFORMATIVE 
The applicants attention is drawn to the South Yorkshire Fire and Rescue 
Service comments which states that: Access is to be in accordance with 
Approved Document b Volume 2 Part B5 Section 16.2 16.11 and Table 20.  
Pumping appliances in South Yorkshire will weigh 26 tonnes.  Table 20 
references to pumping appliances should be read as 26 tonnes. 
  
 
10.  INFORMATIVE 
The applicant is advised to seek to implement security measures into the 
development in order to achieve the 'Secured By Design' accreditation from 
South Yorkshire Police. 
 
 
 
11.  INFORMATIVE 
Adequate provision for the storage and collection of waste and recycling is 
essential for both domestic and commercial premises, lawful arrangements 
should be in place prior to the occupation of any property.  The applicant 
should contact waste&recycling@doncaster.gov.uk prior to occupation to 
discuss the provision and siting of suitable bins and setting up a collection 
service. 

 
  
  

Page 47



APPENDIX 1 – SITE PLAN 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



APPENDIX 2 – PROPOSED ELEVATIONS 

 
 

 
 

Page 49



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



APPENDIX 3 – PROPOSED FLOORPLANS 
Ground floor 

 
First floor 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



Second floor 

 
 
Third floor 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



Fourth floor 
 

 
Fifth floor 
 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



www.doncaster.gov.uk 

 
 

Report 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 
                    

 
To the Chair and Members of the  
PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Consideration of variations to two Section 106 Agreements in relation to the 
affordable housing requirements on land to the east side of Hatfield Lane, 
Armthorpe (under references 12/00188/OUTM and 20/01606/FULM). 
 
Relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 

Wards Affected Key Decision 

Cllr Phil Cole Armthorpe No 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. This report seeks approval of the Planning Committee to variations to two 

Section 106 agreements in relation to the affordable housing requirements on 
land to the east side of Hatfield Lane, Armthorpe. 
 

2. The first application under reference 12/00188/OUTM is outline planning 
permission granted at Planning Committee on 17th October 2017 for the 
larger site of residential development, with the decision being subject to a 
Section 106 agreement dated 27th October 2017 (copy is appended for 
reference). Amongst other things, the 106 Agreement delivers 26 per cent 
affordable housing as per the requirement of the Core Strategy in place at 
that time. A copy of the Officer’s report to Planning Committee is appended 
for reference.  

 
3. A reserved matters application was subsequently approved on this larger 

outline site for 382 dwellings on 15th January 2021 under reference 
20/01421/REMM and construction of the site is well underway. 

 
4. The second application under reference 20/01606/FULM is a full planning 

permission granted under Delegated Authority on 28th July 2022 for 18 
dwellings, with the decision being subject to a Section 106 agreement dated 
28th July 2022 (a copy is appended). The 106 Agreement delivers 23 per cent 
affordable housing as per the reduced requirement in the Doncaster Local 
Plan. A copy of the Officer’s Delegation Report is appended for reference.  

 
5. The reason why the 18 dwellings application site was excluded from the 

original outline application despite being part of the same housing allocation 
in the Development Plan, was because at the time of the outline, the smaller 
parcel of land was owned by a third party.  
 

Date: 9th January 2024                       

Page 55

Agenda Item 6.



The 18 dwellings approved under the separate full application under 
reference 20/01606/FULM made up the full allowance of 400 dwellings 
permitted on this allocated housing site in the Local Plan and Armthorpe 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

 
6. The larger site that would deliver 99 affordable homes under the existing 106 

Agreement (being 26 per cent of 382) would under this Deed of Variation 
deliver 88 affordable homes (being 23 per cent of 382). The smaller site that 
would under the existing 106 Agreement deliver 4 affordable homes (being 23 
per cent of 18) would be changed to deliver 9 affordable homes (being 50 per 
cent of 18). 

 
7. Although under these Deed of Variations, 6 fewer affordable units would be 

delivered across the whole of the site (a reduction of 103 to 97), the Council 
(acting in its strategic housing capacity) has actively sought to agree this deal 
with the developer. The Council will be able to purchase 11 dormer 
bungalows and 9 of these are being built on the smaller scheme for 18 
dwellings and hence the reason for varying both 106 Agreements to increase 
the requirement on the smaller site and reduce it on the larger site. The 
Council will be able to increase its supply of older people’s housing and this is 
a Mayoral priority. Any purchase of these dwellings could only be for 
affordable rent (in this case Social or Target Rent), as the Council does not 
buy properties for shared ownership. Bungalows attract a higher open market 
value than houses due to their scarcity, build cost and land take. Affordable 
rented properties also carry a much greater subsidy on price than that of 
shared ownership properties. The affordable units will also be built to a higher 
specification to meet the Council’s needs. The Council in its strategic housing 
capacity is therefore happy to agree to 6 fewer affordable units to secure the 
type of affordable housing that is needed in the borough. The Developer has 
positively engaged with the Council’s Strategic Housing team to agree to this 
variation to the affordable housing offer. The request for the variations to the 
S106 legal agreements must be considered by the Council in its Local 
Planning Authority capacity.  

 
8. If the Local Planning Authority agrees to vary the Section 106 Agreements, 

the number of affordable units being delivered across the site through the 
Deeds of Variation would be: 

 
12/00188/OUTM – 88 dwellings (23%) 
20/01606/FULM – 9 dwellings (50%) 
Total number of units – 97 dwellings (24%)     

 
EXEMPT REPORT 
 
9. This report does not contain exempt information. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10. It is recommended that Planning Committee authorise the Head of Planning 

to agree a Deed of Variation to vary the terms of the Section 106 agreement 
dated 27th October 2017 to reduce the requirement of affordable housing from 
26% to 23% in accordance with the terms of this report. The provisions 
relating to Education, Highways, Transportation, bus stops and the Travel 
Plan are unchanged. 
 

Page 56



11. It is recommended that Planning Committee authorise the Head of Planning 
to agree a Deed of Variation to vary the terms of the Section 106 agreement 
dated 28th July 2022 to increase the requirement of affordable housing from 
23% to 50% in accordance with the terms of this report. The variations will 
continue to serve a useful purpose equally well in respect of affordable 
housing provision. 

 
WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER? 
 
12. The variation to the first Section 106 agreement would reduce the 

requirement of on-site affordable housing from 26% to 23%. This would 
reduce the number of affordable units on this part of the site by 11. This is an 
allocated housing site in the Local Plan with Reserved Matters Planning 
Permission and is being delivered on site. With the variation, the development 
would continue to benefit the local community, as it is delivering a range of 
new homes on an allocated site by providing a range of new 2,3 and 4 
bedroomed houses and bungalows and thus a good mix of house types. 

 
13. The variation to the second Section 106 agreement would increase the 

requirement of on-site affordable housing from 23% to 50%. This would 
increase the number of affordable units on this part of the site by 5. This also 
falls within the allocated housing site in the Local Plan with full planning 
permission and is being delivered on site. The development would continue to 
benefit the local community as it is delivering a range of new homes, on an 
allocated site by providing a range of new 2,3 and 4 bedroomed houses and 
bungalows and thus a good mix of house types. 

 
14. Although there is an overall reduction by 6, the variations to the 106 

Agreements would enable the Council in its strategic housing capacity to 
progress a purchase deal with the developer to own and manage the eleven 
dormer bungalows and deliver the type of affordable housing that is 
evidenced as being needed locally for older people.  

 
BACKGROUND 

 
15. The City of Doncaster Council as part of the Cabinet Report of 22nd June 

2022 (Phase 2 of Council House Build Programme and S106 Acquisitions) 
approved a programme of purchases from developers through Section 106 
planning agreements for 46 homes, which included 41 bungalows for older 
people. This report includes the eleven 2-bed dormer bungalows on these 
two permissions in Armthorpe.  

 
16. The City of Doncaster Council in its strategic housing capacity has been 

negotiating with the developer of these two sites over the past two years to 
secure these eleven new build 2-bed dormer bungalows, which would be 
directly purchased by the Council rather than being sold on the open market. 
Two of the dormer bungalows are on the larger site (12/00188/OUTM) and 
nine are on the smaller site (20/01606/FULM). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



17. Negotiations have now concluded between the Council’s Strategic Housing 
arm and the Developer. An enhanced affordable housing specification has 
been agreed, including solar panels, electric showers, solid wooden doors, 
wider concrete footpaths, larger patios, external lights plus other additional 
items. A formal Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) valuation has 
been undertaken for the properties by the Council’s Strategic Asset 
Management team and a financial modelling assessment undertaken using 
the St Leger Homes financial modelling tool. These negotiations have 
resulted in an agreed purchase price for the eleven dormer bungalows, which 
will be advertised as socially rented for older people on the Council’s social 
housing waiting list. 

 
18. The City of Doncaster Council is keen to increase its older persons housing 

stock by eleven 2-bed dormer bungalows, providing much needed affordable 
homes for life in Armthorpe. The need for older person’s affordable housing in 
Armthorpe is the second highest out of all the 90 settlements across 
Doncaster and seen as a high priority by the Mayor. 

 
19. Before the purchase deal can progress, formal agreement from the Local 

Planning Authority to variation of the S106 agreements in relation to the 
affordable housing requirement is required. The Strategic Housing arm of the 
Council and the Developer both seek the agreement of the Local Planning 
Authority to the variations set out in this report. The Local Planning Authority 
has power to agree to vary S106 agreements. 

 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION 
 
20. To not agree to the two Deeds of Variations would mean that the City of 

Doncaster Council would be unable to proceed with the proposed purchase of 
11 affordable social rented 2- bed dormer bungalows for older people with an 
enhanced affordable housing specification. The Developer would be required 
to abide by the terms of the existing Section 106 Agreements for both sites. 
 

21. To agree to the two Deeds of Variations would allow the City of Doncaster 
Council and the Developer to progress the purchase of the 11 dormer 
bungalows and provide much needed socially rented properties for older 
people in Armthorpe and increase the Council’s social property stock 
managed by St Leger Homes.   

 
IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES 
 
22. This report is considered to impact on the following key outcomes.   
 
 

Great 8 Priority   Positive 
Overall  

Mix of 
Positive 

& 
Negative  

Trade-
offs to 

consider 
– 

Negative 
overall  

Neutral or 
No 

implications  

  

Tackling 
Climate 
Change  

       

Page 58



Comments: There are no positive or negative effects with regards to climate 
change. 

  

Developing the 
skills to thrive 
in life and in 
work  

    
  

Comments:  There are no positive or negative effects with regards to developing 
skills. 

  

Making 
Doncaster the 
best   
place to do 
business and 
create good 
jobs  

       

Comments: There are no positive or negative effects with regards to business and 
creating jobs. 

  

Building 
opportunities 
for   
healthier, 
happier and 
longer lives for 
all  

      
 

Comments: If agreed, the development will create lifetime homes for eleven older 
person’s households by living in socially rented 2-bed dormer bungalows in 
Armthorpe. 

  

Creating safer, 
stronger,   
greener and 
cleaner   
communities 
where everyone 
belongs  

       

Comments:  There are no positive or negative effects with regards to creating 
safer, stronger and cleaner communities. 

  

Nurturing a 
child and   
family-friendly 
borough  

       

Comments:  There are no positive or negative effects with regards to nurturing a 
child and family-friendly environment. 

  

Building 
Transport and 
digital 
connections fit 
for the future  

       

Page 59



Comments: There are no positive or negative effects with regards to building 
transport and digital connections fit for the future.  

  

Promoting the 
borough and its 
cultural, 
sporting, and 
heritage 
opportunities  

       

Comments: There are no positive or negative effects with regards to promoting the 
cultural, sporting and heritage opportunities in the borough. 

Fair & Inclusive         

Comments: There are no anticipated equality implications associated with the 
purchase of these new build properties. 
 
All housing developments supported by the Council will be accessible depending 
on individual need. Such assessments will not discriminate against any applicant 
and particularly due to any of the protected characteristics of the Equality Act 
2010.  
 
All the Council’s housing stock, managed by St Leger Homes will be allocated in 
line with their allocations policy to meet the individuals need.  
 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials AH Date 13/12/23] 
 
23. In considering the request to vary the two S106 legal agreements under 

S106A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) the Local 
Planning Authority must consider whether the obligations in the agreement 
would continue to serve the original useful purpose equally well. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials CS dated 22.11.2023] 

24.     The report is proposing that the planning committee authorise the Head of 
Planning to agree a Deed of Variation to vary the terms of the Section 106 
Agreement dated 27th October 2017 to reduce the requirement of affordable 
housing from 26% to 23%. This will reduce the number of affordable units on 
this part of the site by 11. 

25.   The second S106 Agreement will increase the requirement of on-site 
affordable housing from 23% to 50%. This will increase the number of 
affordable units on this part of the site by 5. This also falls within the 
allocated housing site in the Local Plan with full planning permission and is 
being delivered on site. 

26 Although under these Deed of Variations, 6 fewer affordable units would be 
delivered across the whole of the site (a reduction of 103 to 97), the Council 
has actively sought to agree this deal with the developer. The changes to 
the 106 Agreements will mean that the Council will own and manage the 
dormer bungalows and can deliver the type of affordable housing that is 
needed locally for older people. 

  

 

Page 60



HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials DK dated 22.11.2023] 
 
27.     There are no direct Human Resource impacts in relation to this report, but if 

in future, staff are affected, or additional specialist resources are required 
then further consultation will need to take place with Human Resources.   

 
TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials ET dated 21.11.2023] 
 
28.    There are no technology implications in relation to this report. 
 
RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
29. None. 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Appendix 1 – S106 Legal Agreement – 27th October 2017 
Appendix 2 - Planning Committee Report – 17th October 2017 
Appendix 3 – S106 Legal Agreement – 28th July 2022 
Appendix 4 – Delegated Officer Report – 4th July 2022 
  
 
REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS 
 
Mel Roberts, Principal Planning Officer 
01302 734897 melvyn.roberts@doncaster.gov.uk 
  
 
Dan Swaine 
Director of Economy and Environment  

Page 61

mailto:melvyn.roberts@doncaster.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 17th October 2017 
 
 

Application   
 
Application 
Number: 

12/00188/OUTM Application 
Expiry Date: 

27th April 2012 

 
Application 
Type: 

Outline Planning Major 

 
Proposal 
Description: 

Proposed residential and commercial/employment (B1, B2 and B8) 
development (being resubmission of application 10/01725/OUTM, 
refused on 18/10/11) 

At: Land on the east side of Hatfield Lane, Armthorpe 
 
For: MPSL Planning and Design 
 
 
Third Party Reps: 

 
20 
 

 
Parish: 

 
Armthorpe Parish Council 

  Ward: Armthorpe 
 
Author of Report Mel Roberts 
 
MAIN RECOMMENDATION: GRANT SUBJECT TO A SECTION 106 

AGREEMENT 
 
 

 
 
1.0 Reason for Report 

Page 207



 
1.1 This application is being referred to planning committee due to the level of public 
interest shown.  
 
2.0 Proposal and Background 
 
2.1 This is an outline application for a mixed use residential and 
commercial/employment development on a site of just over 29 hectares. All matters 
are reserved apart from the means of access to the site and an indicative masterplan 
has been submitted.  
 
2.2 The original application indicated a scheme of 500 dwellings and 2 large 
industrial units. The residential part of the scheme has been amended to show 400 
dwellings to fall in line with the provisions of the emerging Armthorpe Neighbourhood 
Development Plan. The industrial element has been amended to show 4 smaller 
units; the change to the industrial units came as a response to advice from the 
Council’s Inward Investment team, who felt that there was likely to be more demand 
for smaller units. The industrial element would likely comprise mainly distribution 
uses to complement the adjoining West Moor Park employment area.  
 
2.3 It is intended that the residential and commercial/employment components of the 
development would take place to the west and east respectively of a central strip of 
open space along the route of a major electricity transmission line. The indicative 
layout shows the site divided roughly in the proportion of 60:40 residential and 
employment development. Access to the residential development will be provided via 
a new roundabout off Hatfield Lane. Access will be provided via a left in/ left out 
junction off the West Moor Link to serve the proposed employment site. This junction 
will also provide a second access to the residential development. In addition, 
alterations are proposed to the layout of the roundabouts at the junction of West 
Moor Link and Hatfield Lane and the junction of West Moor Link and Thorne Road 
(Sainsbury’s roundabout) to increase capacity. A pedestrian crossing is proposed 
across Hatfield Lane to the north of the junction with Mercel Avenue.   
 
2.4 Although the proposed layout is indicative at this stage, a number of principles 
have been set out in the submitted masterplan that would inform any reserved 
matters application. There will be a landscaped buffer between the residential and 
employment uses along the route of the overhead power line that crosses the site. 
There will be a large area of open space (including play area) and landscaped buffer 
along the northern boundary of the site to soften the impact of the development to 
the wider countryside. There will also be a landscaped buffer along the southern 
boundary to create separation with the existing residential properties on Mercel 
Avenue. It is also proposed to extend the existing allotments that are situated on the 
southern boundary of the site. Balancing ponds are proposed to the east of the 
industrial units and on the open space land between the industrial units and the 
residential element. 
 
2.5 The residential part of the development will comprise mostly 2 storey properties 
with focal buildings at 2.5/3 storeys and the industrial units will be about 12m high. It 
is proposed that the dwellings on the southern boundary will be single storey to avoid 
any overlooking of existing properties on Mercel Avenue. 
  

Page 208



2.6 The site is an open area of land on the northern edge of Armthorpe. The M18 
motorway runs to the east of Armthorpe and the site is about 1km from junction 4. 
Residential properties on Mercel Avenue and allotments bound the site to the south. 
At the south-eastern end of Mercel Avenue is an area of public open space. Part of 
the south-east boundary of the site follows Rands Lane, on the opposite side of 
which is Armthorpe Burial Ground. To the north and west, the site is bounded by the 
West Moor Link and Hatfield Lane, beyond which is agricultural land. To the east, the 
site bounds a number of small holdings, access to which is provided via West Moor 
Lane. Further east, beyond West Moor Lane, is West Moor Business Park.  
 
2.7 The site comprises two fields, which are in agricultural use. The land rises gently 
from the north-east to the south-west. It is crossed by two electricity transmission 
lines. The major line is carried by pylons and crosses the site diagonally from the 
south-east corner by Rands Lane to the West Moor Link. A lower secondary line 
runs across the southern part of the site between Hatfield Lane and Rands Lane. 
There are hedgerows of varying height and extent on the frontages to Hatfield Lane 
and West Moor Link.  
 
2.8 The Council has issued a screening opinion to confirm that although the proposal 
falls within Schedule 2 of the Regulations, an Environmental Impact Assessment is 
not required for this proposal. 
 
3.0 Relevant Planning History 
 
3.1 An almost identical outline application (albeit for 500 houses) was refused under 
planning reference 10/01725/OUTM on 18th October 2011 and was dismissed on 
appeal on 4th October 2012. The appeal was dismissed by the Secretary of State 
because the housing component of the proposal would be premature in respect of 
the emerging Sites and Policies DPD, especially given the size of the development 
and the fact that the development plan strategy did not envisage housing allocations 
in Armthorpe prior to 2016. The Secretary of State also acknowledged that the 
Council had proven a five year housing land supply.  
 
3.2 Outline planning permission was granted for Commercial/Employment 
development (Class B1, B2 and B8) on approximately 12.83ha of land on 20th June 
2014 under reference 13/00796/OUTM. This industrial consent is in the same 
position as that indicated on this current outline application.  
 
3.3 An outline application for Commercial/Employment development (Class B1, B2 
and B8) on approx. 12.83ha of land being variation of condition 30 of 
13/00796/OUTM (variation of maximum floorspace of units) was approved on 30th 
March 2017 under reference 15/02597/OUTM. 
  
3.4 An outline application for 400 houses was submitted on 23rd May 2016 under 
reference 16/01358/OUTM. This application has been appealed on non-
determination and is scheduled for a hearing on October 18th 2017. 
 
3.5 Details of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for 
Commercial/Employment development (Class B1, B2 and B8) on approx. 12.83ha of 
land (being matters reserved in outline application 15/02597/OUTM granted on 
30/03/17) was approved on 29th August 2017 under reference 17/01528/REMM. 
 

Page 209



4.0 Representations 
 
4.1 A public exhibition was held on two days at the end of April 2010 at Armthorpe 
Community Centre to allow members of the public to view the scheme and make 
comments on the proposals prior to the submission of the original application under 
reference 10/01725/OUTM. A total of 120 people visited the exhibition over the two 
days and 49 comments were made. Some of the views expressed included a desire 
for bungalows on the boundary with properties on Mercel Avenue, increased traffic 
generation, lack of provisions such as doctors and schools, need for more affordable 
housing and potential flood risk. Following the public consultation event, the plans 
were amended to provide bungalows along the Mercel Avenue boundary and to 
include a pedestrian crossing across Hatfield Lane.    
 
4.2 The current application has been advertised in the press, on site and with letters 
to neighbouring properties on Mercel Avenue. 20 letters of objection have been 
submitted and these can be summarised as follows: 
  
i) the application does not comply with planning policy. 
ii) there will be an increase in congestion and pollution from the additional traffic 
generated from the development. 
iii) there will be a loss of important countryside and agricultural land. 
iv) there are a lack of facilities in Armthorpe to cope with the increase in people. 
v) there is no need for the additional industrial units, as there are some already 
vacant on the West Moor Park site. 
vi) the housing is too close to the electricity pylons and this will bring about health 
risks. 
vii) there will be a loss of wildlife. 
viii) there will be a loss of privacy to the properties on Mercel Avenue. 
 
4.3 White Young Green (WYG) has submitted an objection to the application. WYG 
is acting for Miller Homes who currently have an application in for 264 houses on 
land at Grange Farm (south of West Moor Link and to the east of Sainsbury’s) under 
reference 12/02133/FULM. WYG has carried out a technical review of the highways 
solution and in their view this raises road safety and capacity concerns at the two 
proposed site access junctions and two off-site junctions (West Moor Link/Hatfield 
Lane roundabout and West Moor Link/Thorne Road/Sainsbury’s roundabout). In 
summary, WYG is of the view that the results of the technical review highlight the 
following issues: 
 

i) the residential layout should include restrictions to prevent HGV access 
through the site. 

ii) a priority junction is not appropriate on the West Moor Link due to the high 
volumes of traffic on the link 

iii) short sections of dual carriageway to incorporate a junction on an 
otherwise single carriageway should not be provided.   

iv) the available link lengths on the West Moor Link do not provide suitable 
overtaking opportunities prior to the proposed site access junction. 

v) the layout of the proposed West Moor Link site access junction does not 
comply with TD42/95. 

vi) the modified splitter islands at West Moor Link/Hatfield Lane Roundabout 
do not meet the central island tangentially. 

Page 210



vii) the proposed modification at the West Moor Link/Thorne Road/Sainsbury’s 
roundabout does not mitigate the impact of the development during the 
PM peak period. 

viii) the AM peak period analysis of the West Moor Link/Thorne 
Road/Sainsbury’s roundabout shows that the junction operates 
significantly over capacity. 

ix) the proposed auxiliary lane at the West Moor Link/Thorne 
Road/Sainsbury’s roundabout cannot accommodate the predicted queuing 
at the junction. 

x) the modified splitter island at the West Moor Link/Thorne 
Road/Sainsbury’s roundabout does not meet the central island 
tangentially.  

  
5.0 Parish Council 
 
5.1 Armthorpe Parish Council has raised no objections, because it has allocated this 
land for housing and employment development in the emerging Armthorpe 
Neighbourhood Development Plan.  
 
5.2 Edenthorpe Parish Council has been consulted and has not responded. 
 
6.0 Consultations 
 
6.1 Transportation has responded and has raised no objections. 
 
6.2 Highways (Development Control) have responded and have raised no 
objections, subject to conditions. 
 
6.3 The Highways Agency (now Highways England) has responded and has raised 
no objections. 
 
6.4 Public Rights of Way has raised no objections, as no footpaths are affected by 
the development. 
 
6.5 The Urban Design Officer has raised no objections in principle. The indicative 
density is appropriate to the area, the movement hierarchy is logical and legible and 
the scheme will be outward looking towards the proposed open space.    
 
6.6 The Architectural Liaison Officer has raised a few suggestions that are more 
relevant to a detailed application. 
 
6.7 The Open Space Officer has raised no objections, providing that an area open 
space equivalent to 15 per cent of the site area is provided together with a Locally 
Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) and arrangements for its future maintenance.  
6.8 The Ecology Officer has raised no objections subject to conditions. 
 
6.9 Natural England has responded and has raised no objections. 
 
6.10 The Tree Officer has raised no objections, but has pointed out that the mature 
trees on the eastern half of the site have been felled. 
 

Page 211



6.11 South Yorkshire Archaeology Service has raised no objections subject to a 
condition requiring further archaeological evaluation of the site. 
 
6.12 South Yorkshire Mining Advisory Service has responded and has raised no 
objections. 
 
6.13 The Environment Agency has raised no objections subject to a condition that 
the development is carried out in accordance with the Flood Risk Assessment. 
 
6.14 Yorkshire Water has requested further information that can be provided through 
the use of appropriate conditions. 
 
6.15 Armthorpe Internal Drainage Board has raised no objections subject to 
conditions. 
 
6.16 Hatfield Chase Internal Drainage Board has responded and has raised no 
objections.  
 
6.17 The Internal Drainage Officer has raised no objections subject to conditions. 
 
6.18 The Contaminated Land Officer has raised no objections subject to a condition 
requiring further investigation into ground conditions. A full gas risk assessment is 
recommended because of the presence of a former pond adjacent to the site. 
 
6.19 Air pollution has responded and has raised no objections. An air quality 
assessment has been submitted with the application. The results indicate that the 
effect of the development on local air quality is negligible and all predicted values are 
below UK air quality objectives. A Construction Management Plan is to be required 
as a condition of any consent and this will ensure that any dust arising during 
construction is controlled.  
 
6.20 Environmental Health has been consulted and has raised no objections. A 
Noise Assessment has been submitted and this indicates that noise levels are such 
that acceptable internal ambient noise levels in the development can be achieved 
using conventional thermal double glazing.  
 
6.21 The Housing Officer has raised no objections subject to the provision of 26 per 
cent affordable housing.  
 
6.22 The Education department has requested a contribution towards educational 
facilities. 
 
6.23 National Grid has been consulted and has not responded. 
7.0 Relevant Policy and Strategic Context 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
7.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) confirms that planning law 
requires that applications must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan, unless materials considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF does not change 
the statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision making. 
Proposed development that accords with an up-to-date plan should be approved and 

Page 212



proposed development that conflicts should be refused unless other materials 
considerations indicate otherwise. At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development. 
 
7.2 The NPPF states that the government is committed to ensuring that the planning 
system does everything it can to support sustainable growth and therefore significant 
weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth through the 
planning system. 
 
7.3 The NPPF states that the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside 
should be recognised. It states that decisions on applications that generate 
significant amounts of movement should take account of; whether the opportunities 
for sustainable transport modes have been taken up; safe and suitable access to the 
site can be achieved; and improvements can be undertaken within the transport 
network that costs effectively limit the significant impacts of the development. Other 
areas are covered by the NPPF including the need for good design, flooding and 
ecology.   
 
7.4 One of the core planning principles is that planning should be genuinely plan-led, 
empowering local people to shape their surroundings, with succinct local and 
neighbourhood plans setting out a positive vision for the future of the area. It states 
that neighbourhood plans will be able to shape and direct sustainable development 
in their area. 
 
7.5 Paragraph 216 states that from the day of publication, decision-takers may give 
weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: 
  

i) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the 
preparation, the greater weight that may be given); 

ii) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies 
(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater weight that 
may be given); and 

iii) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan 
to the policies in the Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging 
plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may 
be given).     

 
National Planning Policy Guidance 
 
7.6 The National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) states that neighbourhood 
planning provides the opportunity for communities to set out a positive vision for how 
they want their community to develop over the next ten, fifteen, twenty years in ways 
that meet identified local need and make sense for local people. 
 
7.7 The NPPG states that an emerging Neighbourhood Plan may be a material 
consideration. Paragraph 216 of the NPPF sets out the weight that may be given to 
relevant policies in emerging plans in decisions taking. Factors to consider include 
the stage of preparation of the plan and the extent to which there are unresolved 
objections to relevant policies. Whilst a referendum ensures that the community has 
the final say on whether the neighbourhood plan comes into force, decision makers 
should respect evidence of local support prior to the referendum when seeking to 
apply weight to an emerging neighbourhood plan. 

Page 213



 
7.8 The NPPG states that arguments that an application is premature are unlikely to 
justify a refusal of planning permission other than where it is clear that the adverse 
impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, taking the policies in the Framework and any other material considerations 
into account. Such circumstances are likely, but not exclusively, to be limited to 
situations where both: 
 

a) the development proposed is so substantial, or its cumulative effect would be 
so significant, that to grant permission would undermine the plan-making 
process by predetermining decisions about the scale, location or phasing of 
new development that are central to an emerging Local Plan or 
Neighbourhood Plan; and 

b) the emerging plan is at an advanced stage but is not yet formally part of the 
development plan for the area. 

 
7.9 Refusal of planning permission on the grounds of prematurity will seldom be 
justified where a draft Local Plan has yet to be submitted for examination, or in the 
case of a Neighbourhood Plan, before the end of the local planning authority 
publicity period. Where planning permission is refused on grounds of prematurity, the 
local planning authority will need to indicate clearly how the grant of permission for 
the development concerned would prejudice the outcome of the plan-making 
process.  
 
Doncaster Core Strategy 
 
7.10 Policy CS2 states that outside the Main Doncaster Urban Area, the Principal 
Towns (including Armthorpe) will be the focus for growth and regeneration. It 
identifies a need for between 646 and 923 houses to be built at Armthorpe. It 
identifies the M18/M180 corridor at junctions close to settlements (including 
Armthorpe) as suitable for distribution warehousing and identifies a need for an 
additional 290 hectares of land. 
 
7.11 Policy CS3 states that Doncaster’s countryside will be protected and enhanced. 
It cites a number of examples of development that would be acceptable in the 
countryside and these do not include large scale housing and industrial 
development. Proposals which are outside of development allocations will only be 
supported where they would: retain and improve key green wedges; not be visually 
detrimental; not create or aggravate highway or amenity problems; and preserve the 
openness of the Countryside Protection Policy Area.   
 
7.12 Policy CS4 seeks to direct development to areas of lowest flood risk. 
 
7.13 Policy CS5 states that sufficient land will be allocated for employment for the 
creation of 36,000 jobs. 
 
7.14 Policy CS9 states that new developments will provide, as appropriate, transport 
assessments and travel plans to ensure the delivery of travel choice and sustainable 
opportunities for travel. 
 
7.15 Policy CS10 states that new allocations will be distributed according to policy 
CS2 with allocation priority afforded to well-located brownfield urban sites, followed 

Page 214



by other well located urban sites, followed by sustainable urban extension sites. It 
states that new urban extensions to Principal Towns can come forward from 2016 
onwards. 
 
7.16 Policy CS12 states that sites of 15 or more houses will normally include 
affordable houses on-site with the proportion, type and tenure split reflecting the 
latest Strategic Housing Market Assessment, except where a developer can justify 
an alternative scheme in the interests of viability. 
 
7.17 Policy CS14 relates to design and sustainable construction and states that all 
proposals in Doncaster must be of high quality design that contributes to local 
distinctiveness, reinforces the character of local landscapes and building traditions, 
responds positively to existing site features and integrates well with its immediate 
and surrounding local area.  
 
7.18 Policy CS16 seeks to protect Doncaster’s natural environment, particularly 
where protected species may be affected. 
 
7.19 Policy CS17 states that Doncaster’s green infrastructure network (including 
green wedges) will be protected, maintained, enhanced and where possible 
extended. In the supporting text, the policy states that green wedges will be identified 
where development allocations need to be sensitive to strategic rural gaps between 
settlements and these will include land between Armthorpe and Edenthorpe. 
 
7.20 Policy CS18 states that Doncaster’s air, water and land resources will be 
conserved, protected and enhanced both in terms of quantity and quality, including 
the need to protect high quality agricultural land.   
 
Unitary Development Plan 
 
7.21 Policy ENV2 states that the Council will maintain a Countryside Policy Area in 
the eastern part of the borough, covering all countryside outside the Green Belt. 
 
7.22 Policy ENV4 establishes the purposes for which development in the 
Countryside Policy Area is likely to be permitted. Large mixed use employment and 
residential developments do not fall into any of the identified categories of 
development.  
 
7.23 Policy EMP17 sets out a series of requirements which new industrial and 
commercial development should satisfy. These include the provision of a satisfactory 
access, a higher standard of design where new buildings would be directly visible 
from main roads and proposals for screening where sites adjoin open countryside. 
 
7.24 Policy ENV38 seeks to protect archaeological interest on a site. 
 
7.25 Policy ENV53 states that the scale of new development must have regard to its 
wider visual impact. It should not have a significant adverse visual impact on views 
from major transport routes; or views across open countryside; or views of important 
landmarks. 
 
7.26 Policy RL4 seeks the provision of local public open space and requires 15% of 
the total site area of new developments of over 20 dwellings to be laid out as public 

Page 215



open space, where the site falls within an area of existing public open space 
deficiency. 
 
Armthorpe Neighbourhood Development Plan 
 
7.27 An Armthorpe Neighbourhood Development Plan is being prepared by the 
Parish Council. The Examiner has made his suggestions including the 
recommendation that the green wedge does not extend to this site (because in his 
view it is not needed given that there is open countryside to the north). The Council 
is likely to accept all of the modifications apart from the one which removes the 
green wedge from the northern part of this application site. The Council will therefore 
need to advertise for 6 weeks that we are not accepting the removal of the green 
wedge, and following this, will move the Neighbourhood Plan to a referendum. The 
following policies are those as recommended by the Examiner: 
 
7.28 Policy ANP1 allocates land for a total of between 700 and 800 houses during 
the period 2011 and 2028. It states that permission will be given for new housing on 
two sites: the Lings, West Moor Link Road for between 350 and 400 dwellings (this 
application site) and west of Hatfield Lane for between 350 and 400 dwellings. 
 
7.29 Policy ANP2, states proposals for new housing must be well integrated with the 
existing village and surrounding environment and services. Subject to viability and 
land ownership considerations, they will need to incorporate good connections to the 
rest of the village and the village centre in particular, be good quality design and 
provide new facilities that can be shared with adjacent areas – e.g. open space. 
 
7.30 Policy ANP5 requires all new housing to be of high quality and designed to 
reflect local character.  They must demonstrate how they meet policy CS14 of the 
LDF Core Strategy. The policy sets out a number of principles which will help 
achieve the requirements of the policy. 
 
7.31 Policy ANP7 states proposals for new housing of 15 units or more should 
provide affordable housing as required by Policy CS12 of the Doncaster Core 
Strategy.  Such housing must visually indistinguishable from the market housing. 
 
7.32 Policy ANP10 allocates land at ‘The Lings, West Moor Link Road’ (the 
application site) for housing and is expected to deliver between 350 and 400 
dwellings, of which 26% will be affordable, subject to viability.  The development is to 
provide education facilities or contributions to serve the future residents; open space 
in accordance with Doncaster Council’s policy; a design and layout which protects 
the residential amenity of the existing residential properties to the south of the site; 
recognition of the role that the site plays in establishing a gateway to Armthorpe 
village; connections to existing local services and facilities; prioritise sustainable local 
connections and access for pedestrians and cyclists; a highway design which 
minimises traffic impact on the existing highway network; the inclusion of a 
landscape and open space buffer designed to protect the residential amenity of 
dwellings in close proximity to the employment area. 
 
7.33 Policy ANP12 allocates sites for employment use and this includes the area 
shown on this application for industrial development.  
 

Page 216



7.34 Policy ANP17 states that each site allocated for employment or residential 
development and/or the provision of educational facilities will need to provide a full 
Transport Impact Assessment. 
 
7.35 Policy ANP18 states that developers shall take account of the location and 
nature of electricity installations and transmission equipment, pipelines and other 
infrastructure owned or operated by or on behalf of statutory utility companies and 
ensure that any proposed buildings will comply with statutory safety clearances. 
 
7.36 Policy ANP19 states developers will be encouraged to improve better planning 
of public transport. Measures to mitigate the adverse impacts of housing and 
employment development to promote the use of public transport will be encouraged.  
 
7.37 Policy ANP21 states that where appropriate, necessary and subject to viability, 
developer contributions will be required to mitigate the impacts of any development 
and contribute to infrastructure where proposals require: direct provision to be made 
on-site (e.g. affordable housing and open space); off-site works to ensure that the 
development can be delivered in line with other policy objectives (including highway 
improvements). Where infrastructure is to be provided either on or off site, provision 
for its long-term maintenance will be required. 
 
7.38 Policy ANP28 states that subject to the limits imposed by pooled contributions, 
developers will be expected to meet the contributions as published from time to time 
by Doncaster MBC, reflecting the appropriate costs of mitigating the impact of 
residential development having regard to the pupil yield on a per pupil cost basis in 
respect of appropriate contributions towards the provision of school buildings and the 
serviced land cost for the provision of school buildings and associated playing fields 
and related facilities of appropriate size. These contributions shall be calculated and 
made on a per pupil yield and taking into account any surplus capacities within the 
catchment area. These calculations shall be made for each planning application for 
residential development, for both primary and secondary school provision within 
Armthorpe. 
 
7.39 Policy ANP32 states that developers must provide publicly accessible open 
space in accordance with the site-specific policies on housing allocations and 
windfall sites. Where feasible, open space should connect to other open spaces and 
provide links to new and existing pedestrian/cycle routes.   
 
7.40 Policy ANP34 requires sustainable urban drainage to be incorporated into new 
development as part of the overall proposals for drainage. 
 
7.41 Policy ANP36 states development on the edge of Armthorpe should maintain 
and where possible make allowances for the visual openness and connections with 
and to the surrounding countryside. 
 
8.0 Planning Issues and Discussion 
 
8.1 In accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004, the starting point for consideration of this application is the development plan. 
All decisions should be made in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 

Page 217



8.2 In this case, the main issues relate to the principle of the development, 
prematurity and weight to be attached to the emerging Neighbourhood Plan, 
character and appearance, economy, highways, site layout and design, flooding, 
ecology, archaeology and agricultural land. 
 
Principle of the Development 
 
8.3 The proposal falls into two distinct elements, namely the commercial/employment 
part and also the residential element. The principle of developing the eastern part of 
the site for commercial/employment uses is acceptable on the basis that there is an 
extant reserved matters approval under reference 17/01528/REMM. The eastern 
part of the site is also allocated for employment in the emerging Armthorpe 
Neighbourhood Development Plan and is therefore in accordance with policy 
ANP12. The issue at stake therefore is whether the housing element of the proposal 
is acceptable, having regard to the development plan and all other material 
considerations. 
 
8.4 An area of open countryside extends to the north of Armthorpe and includes the 
application site. This tract of open land is part of the Countryside Policy Area 
designated under policy ENV2 of the UDP. Protection of the countryside in the east 
of the borough is taken forward in the Core Strategy by policy CS3, which is 
concerned with the Countryside Protection Policy Area. 
 
8.5 The proposal does not fall within any of the categories which may be acceptable 
in the Countryside Policy Area under policy ENV4. Policy CS3 does make reference 
to new urban extensions, but only by way of allocations. Otherwise it provides 
support for proposals which would be appropriate to a countryside location or which 
have particular locational requirement. The proposal would represent a significant 
extension to the urban area of Armthorpe, but it is not yet a formal allocation, and it 
does not, therefore arguably meet the specific provisions of policy CS3 of the Core 
Strategy. The site is however allocated for residential development in the emerging 
Armthorpe Neighbourhood Development Plan and significant weight can now be 
attached to this document given that it has passed its independent examination 
stage (and this is further discussed in paragraphs 8.13 and 8.14 of the report).   
 
8.6 Armthorpe is designated in the Core Strategy as a Principal Town. In accordance 
with policy CS2 of the Core Strategy, Principal Towns should be the main local focus 
for housing and other development. Policy CS2 acknowledges that urban extensions 
will be required to accommodate the proposed growth at Armthorpe of between 646 
and 923 dwellings. Policy CS10 states that new urban extensions to Principal Towns 
can come forward from 2016 onwards. 
 
8.7 The explanation to policy CS3 of the Core Strategy makes it clear that urban 
extensions onto land previously designated as Countryside Policy Area will be 
required for housing purposes in Doncaster. The explanation to policy CS2 of the 
Core Strategy points out that urban extensions will be needed at several principal 
towns, including Armthorpe to accommodate the growth proposed there. Not only is 
there clear support in the Core Strategy for extending Armthorpe, but it is 
acknowledged that such expansion should take place notwithstanding the protection 
afforded to the surrounding countryside by policies ENV4 and CS3. This approach is 
consistent with the core planning principles set out in the NPPF, which recognise the 
character and beauty of the countryside, but also seek to proactively drive and 

Page 218



support sustainable economic development to deliver, amongst other things, the 
homes that the country needs. 
 
8.8 The proposal would conflict with the specific provisions of policy ENV4 of the 
UDP and policy CS3 of the Core Strategy in terms of development in the 
Countryside Policy Area and Countryside Protection Policy Area. However, policy 
CS3 is more up-to-date in recognising the importance of extensions to the growth 
and regeneration strategy and it is more closely aligned with the NPPF which seeks 
to support economic development whilst recognising the value of the countryside. 
Policy CS3, therefore, carries greater weight and the proposal would not be 
inconsistent with the objectives of this policy which seeks to minimise the extent of 
urban extensions. The site is relatively sustainable given that it is located on the 
edge of Armthorpe and within access to a range of facilities for pedestrians, cyclists 
and public transport users. There are two bus services operating in close proximity to 
the site that runs between Armthorpe and Doncaster town centre. The nearest bus 
stops are located on Hatfield Lane and Mercel Avenue and are within walking 
distance of the site. 
 
Prematurity and weight to be attached to the emerging Armthorpe Neighbourhood 
Plan  
 
8.9 The Secretary of State refused a similar application under application reference 
10/01725/OUTM. The appeal was dismissed on the basis that the housing element 
of the application was premature to the Sites and Policies DPD. Although the 
Inspector acknowledged that the DPD was at an early stage such that (in 
accordance with guidance set out in the document ‘The Planning System: General 
Principles’) it would seldom be appropriate to refuse permission on prematurity 
grounds, he felt that there were particular circumstances in that case to justify a 
refusal. Firstly, the scale of the housing proposal was such that it would account for a 
substantial proportion of the housing intended for Armthorpe (54 to 77%). Secondly, 
the Core Strategy (under policy CS10) did not envisage housing allocations in 
Armthorpe prior to 2016 and at the time of the planning inquiry, it was anticipated 
that the DPD would be in place by 2014. The Inspector also attached importance to 
his findings that there was no pressing need to release housing land at that time 
given that there was a 5 year supply and this was a further important factor allowing 
the Inspector to give weight to the prematurity argument. The Inspector did not 
consider that a prematurity argument carried any weight with respect to the 
Neighbourhood Plan because it was at such an early stage and there was no 
indication as to the scope or content of such a plan.  
 
8.10 The issue of prematurity must now be considered against the guidance in the 
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) rather than that in ‘The Planning System: 
General Principles.’ Although there are differences between the guidance in the 
previous document and that in the NPPG, in common they identify essentially two 
issues with respect to prematurity (a) whether the proposal has such a significant 
impact upon the draft plan as to pre-determine or undermine the plan process, and 
(b) whether the relevant draft plan has reached a sufficiently advanced stage for it to 
carry sufficient weight to found a prematurity argument. In effect the first issue has to 
be present to give rise to any potential prematurity issue, but even if it is present then 
consideration has to be given to the second issue. 
 

Page 219



8.11 With respect to the first issue, the Secretary of State concluded that a 
development of 500 houses in Armthorpe in the context of a potential allocation of 
646 to 923 new dwellings would be so substantial as to pre-determine the plan 
process. The current proposals are of a reduced scale (400 houses), but they still 
remain substantial. This proposal would provide between 43 to 62 per cent of the 
proposed dwellings in Armthorpe and it remains of such a scale as to satisfy the first 
issue.  
 
8.12 With respect to the second issue, the Inspector concluded that the application 
was premature to the Sites and Policies DPD, because it was anticipated that 
allocations would be in place two years before the intended release of these sites in 
2016 and there was no pressing need to release sites in advance of the allocations 
due to an identified 5 year housing land supply. The prematurity issue is still relevant 
with this application because the Armthorpe Neighbourhood Development Plan 
(which allocates this site for development) has not yet been formally adopted. The 
NPPG makes it clear that an application can be considered premature if the 
emerging plan is at an advanced stage but is not yet formally part of the 
development plan for the area.  
 
8.13 Whilst the Armthorpe Neighbourhood Development Plan has reached an 
advanced stage such that any decision before its adoption could be considered 
premature, conversely the plan is now at a stage where significant weight can be 
attached to it. The site is allocated for development in the Neighbourhood Plan and 
policy ANP10 states that permission will be given for new housing on this site of 
between 350 and 400 dwellings. Paragraph 216 of the NPPF offers guidance on the 
weight that decision-makers can give to relevant policies in emerging plans. The 
decision–maker must have regard to 3 issues: the stage of preparation of the 
emerging plan; the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant 
policies; and the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan 
to the policies in the Framework.  
 
8.14 In terms of the first issue, the Armthorpe Neighbourhood Development Plan is 
at an advanced stage in that it has been checked by an independent examiner. The 
NPPF makes it clear that the more advanced the preparation of the Neighbourhood 
Plan then the greater weight that may be given. In terms of the second issue, the 
objections received against the Neighbourhood Plan have been considered by the 
examiner and he has found the plan to be sound and so the objections made can 
arguably be considered to be resolved. The NPPF states that greater weight can be 
attached to the Neighbourhood Plan where unresolved objections are less 
significant. In terms of the third issue, the examiner is satisfied that the relevant 
policies in the Neighbourhood Plan are consistent with the policies in the Framework. 
The NPPF states that the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in 
the Framework then the greater the weight that may be given.     
 
8.15 This application site has consistently been allocated for development in the 
Neighbourhood Plan. Extensive consultation has been carried out with the local 
community through the preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan. The most recent 
consultation exercise involved the publication of the second draft of the 
Neighbourhood Plan. In addition to 10 consultation responses from 
developers/landowners/agents/statutory consultees, email replies were submitted by 
5 local residents and a further 28 written ones (33 in total). The 17 residents who 
opposed the second draft raised issues such as no need for more houses, impact on 

Page 220



traffic, countryside and local services and so on rather than any specific objection to 
the allocation of the site for development. The 17 residents who supported the 
Neighbourhood Plan agreed that the sites west and east of Hatfield Lane (this 
application site) were the best. Guidance in the NPPG states that 'Whilst a 
referendum ensures that the community has the final say on whether the 
neighbourhood plan comes into force, decision makers should respect evidence of 
local support prior to the referendum when seeking to apply weight to an emerging 
neighbourhood plan.' There is evidence of support for the Neighbourhood Plan and 
the allocation of this site for development and there is also no suggestion that the 
community at large is opposed to this allocation and this adds to the argument that 
significant weight can now be attached to the Neighbourhood Plan.    
 
Character and appearance 
 
8.16 The introduction of the proposed housing and warehouse units would extend 
urban development onto the site, change its character and result in a reduction in 
openness on this part of the northern edge of town. The development as a whole 
would however relate well to the existing urban form, given the spread of the built-up 
area on two sides of the site. Development would extend up to the West Moor Link 
Road, which marks the limit of the built-up area to the south-east and which is a 
distinct physical feature close to Armthorpe. The proposal would represent a natural 
extension of the settlement and it would not fundamentally alter the pattern of built 
development and open land in the locality. Significantly it does not form part of the 
green wedge in the strategic gap between Armthorpe and Edenthorpe as identified in 
policy CS17 of the Core Strategy. 
 
8.17 The intended approach to open space and landscaping has been set out in this 
application. A green wedge (incorporating a play area and football pitch) runs along 
the northern part of the site and this carries on to form a strip of open space that 
separates the residential and employment areas in accordance with the plan 
provided in the Armthorpe Neighbourhood Plan. If the Council decides to retain the 
need for a green wedge on this site in the Neighbourhood Plan, despite the 
Examiner’s recommendation that it be removed, then this proposal would still 
conform to the Neighbourhood Plan by providing this green wedge as part of the 
layout. Other areas of open space are shown on the masterplan that would assist in 
breaking up the extent of the built form. A landscape buffer, incorporating a mound 
and tree cover, is proposed along the West Moor Link frontage in accordance with 
policy EMP17 of the UDP and tree planting would also form part of the landscaping 
proposed along Hatfield Lane and to the rear of the existing dwellings on Mercel 
Avenue. The extent and nature of the landscaping proposed would assist in 
assimilating the development into its surroundings.  
 
8.18 Other key design themes have been included in the masterplan including 
adequate separation between the residential and industrial uses and a density that 
reflects the site’s location on the edge of a settlement.  
 
8.19 The access into the site from Hatfield Lane has been designed to ensure that 
the dwellings adjacent to the roundabout are used to frame the access, fronting onto 
Hatfield Lane and thereby creating a gateway into the site. The second access from 
the West Moor Link is well landscaped with public open space either side of the 
entrance. Within this open space there is a focal area of public art which then leads 

Page 221



onto the tree lined entrance road. The indicative masterplan indicates that dwellings 
will front onto the areas of open space to ensure that there is overlooking.   
 
8.20 The application therefore accords with the guidance set out in the NPPF, policy 
CS14 of the Core Strategy, policies ENV17 and ENV53 of the Doncaster UDP and 
policies ANP2, ANP5, ANP10, ANP32 and ANP36 of the Armthorpe Neighbourhood 
Development Plan.   
 
Transport 
 
8.21 The applicant has submitted a Transport Assessment (TA) to consider the 
transportation impacts of the proposed development. The TA is based on a 
development of up to 500 dwellings (as originally proposed) and 22,297 square 
metres of employment use.  
 
8.22 The TA concludes that with the addition of the development traffic, Junction 4 of 
the M18 is predicted to continue to be operating within capacity. The TA highlights 
the need for mitigation works to accommodate the extra traffic generated by the 
development. Mitigation measures are therefore proposed for the West Moor 
Link/Hatfield Lane and Sainsbury's roundabouts. The works to the roundabouts are 
to be secured through a planning obligation and are to be completed prior to the 
occupation of the second industrial unit or the 176th dwelling, whichever is the earlier.  
 
8.23 The applicant has also agreed to pay a contribution of £349,961 towards the 
West Moor Link improvement scheme, given that this development will increase the 
amount of traffic along this route. The West Moor Link improvement scheme is a 
Sheffield City Region Investment Fund (SCRIF) to dual the West Moor Link from the 
M18 to the Shaw Lane Roundabout. The applicant has submitted a draft Unilateral 
Undertaking which states that the West Moor Link contribution will be made at 
various stages of the development. Should the West Moor Link improvements be 
carried out before the works to the roundabouts are required then the obligation to 
carry out works to the roundabout will be removed, as these works will form part of 
the West Moor Link improvement scheme.   
 
8.24 The applicant has also submitted Travel Plans for both the residential and 
employment developments to reduce the impact of single occupancy car trips and 
whilst they are acceptable in principle, further detailed work would be required. The 
development site is well located to encourage trips by public transport with the 
nearest bus stops located on Hatfield Lane and Mercel Avenue. It has been 
demonstrated that 40 per cent of the residential development is within 400 metres of 
a bus stop and that 80 per cent is within 500 metres. It is therefore not necessary to 
divert bus routes into the site. To enhance pedestrian safety, a pedestrian crossing is 
proposed across Hatfield Lane to the north of the junction with Mercel Avenue. This 
will link the development to the footway on the western side of Hatfield Lane and 
form part of a safe pedestrian route to the schools on Mere Lane. The three bus 
stops on Mercel Avenue and Hatfield Lane are to be upgraded or replaced. 
 
8.25 The highway network has been designed to reduce traffic speeds and 
incorporates a primary route with footpaths each side and secondary shared surface 
roads linking primary routes. The road network ensures ease of access for all plots 
to areas of public open space and footpath routes. Footpaths are provided within the 

Page 222



areas of open space with a footpath link through to Mercel Avenue, ensuring ease of 
access to local bus routes and the existing public open space. 
 
8.26 In terms of the highway objections raised by WYG, there is no requirement to 
design the residential layout to include restrictions to prevent Heavy Goods Vehicle 
(HGV) access through the site. HGV traffic is expected to predominately approach 
the site from the M18, with roughly 10 per cent along the West Moor Link from the 
direction of Doncaster. The proposed masterplan does not show a direct route 
through the residential part of the site and this together with the relatively narrow 
carriageway and the presence of parked cars is likely to dissuade HGV drivers from 
driving through the residential part to access the industrial units.   
 
8.27 The “left in left out” priority controlled junction onto the West Moor Link 
(including the introduction of a kerbed central reserve and associated modifications 
to existing lining and signing) has been the subject of Stage 1 / 2 Road Safety Audits 
in accordance with HD 19/03 “Road Safety Audit” that forms part of volume 5 of the 
Design Manual for Roads and Bridges. The subsequent design has received 
technical approval from the Council’s Highways and Street Lighting Design team and 
construction works on site will be subject to a Section 278 Legal Agreement. It 
should also be noted that the same access arrangements have previously been 
granted planning permission as part of the consent for the commercial element of the 
proposal under reference 17/01528/REMM. 
 
8.28 The Sainsbury’s roundabout is already over capacity without the development 
traffic and the additional development traffic will make the operation of the junction 
worse, but not severe. The increase in queue of 2 vehicles in the PM peak hour on 
Thorne Road West is not considered severe. The proposed development mitigation 
works to the A630 West Moor Link/Hatfield Lane and A630 West Moor Link / A18 
Thorne Road roundabouts will be subject to Section 278 Agreements, Road Safety 
Audits and requisite technical approvals by the Councils’ Highways and Street 
Lighting Design team. The application therefore accords with the guidance set out in 
the NPPF, policy CS9 of the Core Strategy, policy EMP17 of the Doncaster UDP and 
policies ANP10, ANP17, ANP19 and ANP32 of the Armthorpe Neighbourhood 
Development Plan. 
 
Flooding 
 
8.29 The employment part of the site (which benefits from an extant permission) falls 
within Flood Zone 3. The residential part of the site lies within Flood Zone 1, which is 
the least likely to flood. A full Flood Risk Assessment has been submitted with the 
application. This shows that the development is suitable for this location and can be 
safely developed to mitigate all identified long term flood risks in this area. 
Furthermore, it is demonstrated that the layout may be developed to incorporate 
elements of drainage incorporating SuDS that will not only provide adequate runoff 
protection, but will also provide an improvement in the runoff quality. The application 
therefore accords with the guidance set out in the NPPF, policy CS4 of the Core 
Strategy and policy ANP34 of the Armthorpe Neighbourhood Development Plan. 
 
Ecology 
 
8.30 An ecological survey has been submitted with the application. The survey 
shows that the site is intensively managed, predominantly arable and improved 

Page 223



grassland crop. No records of any amphibians came to light during the survey. A bat 
survey has also been submitted and this shows that none of the trees on site have 
any cracks, raise bark or broken limbs that would provide bat roost potential and no 
bats were recorded within the body of the site during the survey. Biodiversity 
enhancement measures could be incorporated into the scheme to include wildflower 
grassland and amphibian wildlife ponds (this is to be secured by a planning 
condition). The application accords with the guidance set out in the NPPF and policy 
CS16 of the Core Strategy. 
 
Archaeology 
 
8.31 An archaeological assessment has been submitted with the application. The 
assessment identifies that while no heritage assets are recorded within the site 
boundary itself, crop mark evidence does indicate the presence of possible field 
systems within the proposed development site and there is extensive evidence for 
Iron Age and Romano-British activity in the immediate vicinity, as well as more 
limited evidence of Neolithic, Bronze Age, Medieval and Post-Medieval 
archaeological deposits. A review of historic mapping indicates that the site has 
remained largely unchanged for the last 150 years and therefore there is a high 
potential for archaeological deposits to exist on the site, especially as archaeological 
remains having been found to the west and east of the site. A planning condition will 
ensure that further archaeological evaluation of the site is carried out. The 
application accords with policy ENV38 of the Doncaster Unitary Development Plan. 
 
Loss of agricultural land 
 
8.32 Local, regional and national policies seek to protect the best and most versatile 
agricultural land. In the UDP inquiry on this site, the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and 
Fisheries (MAFF) considered that the site was not the best and most versatile 
agricultural land due to the grading of the site and the fact that it was contained by 
roads. The circumstances have not changed since the UDP inquiry and so the site 
need not be retained for agricultural purposes. The application therefore accords 
with policy CS18 of the Core Strategy. 
 
Economic impacts 
8.33 The provision of 240,000 square feet of industrial and commercial floorspace 
will provide significant employment benefits to Armthorpe and Doncaster, creating 
approximately 700 direct jobs. The proposal will also deliver a significant number of 
construction jobs that will be suited to local people. Opportunities for indirect job 
creation will be provided for the relevant service and spin off industries which will 
serve the proposed development when complete e.g. waste collection, maintenance, 
caterers and so on. The proposal will also deliver new workers and expenditure into 
the local economy to support nearby shops and facilities. The application therefore 
accords with the need to support economic development as set out in the NPPF. 
 
Other issues 
 
8.34 Local residents have expressed concern about the effect of the development on 
facilities and services in Armthorpe. There is an identified shortage of primary school 
places in Armthorpe and a contribution is to be made towards this. Apart from 
education, there is no evidence that the development would place undue pressure 
on local facilities and services. 

Page 224



 
8.35 There are also concerns from local residents that development adjacent to the 
existing properties on Mercel Avenue would result in a loss of privacy and sunlight 
for their occupiers. The indicative masterplan shows that a layout can be devised 
with adequate separation distances between existing and proposed dwellings and 
with an intervening landscaped buffer. Some of the dwellings on this part of Mercel 
Avenue are bungalows and it is the intention that the adjacent dwellings to these 
properties which would be built on the application site would also be bungalows. 
These matters of layout and landscaping would be addressed in detail at reserved 
matters stage and a condition would require their preparation in accordance with the 
illustrative masterplan considered with the outline proposal. The proposed 
development would not unacceptably worsen the living conditions of nearby 
residents. 
 
8.36 The proposal includes an extension to the existing area of allotments to the 
north of Mercel Avenue. This part of the proposal would respond to the need 
identified by the Parish Council for additional allotment space and is to be secured 
by a suitably worded condition.  
 
8.37 Some concern has been expressed about health risks from the major electricity 
transmission line which runs across the site. The site would be laid out so that the 
line would not pass over housing or through the employment area, but would be 
within a linear area of open space. No specific evidence has been submitted to 
indicate that future residents, employees and visitors would be adversely affected by 
the presence of the electricity transmission line and generalised concerns do not 
carry weight against the proposal. The application therefore accords with policy 
ANP18 of the Armthorpe Neighbourhood Development Plan.    
 
Planning Obligations 
 
8.38 The applicant has submitted a draft Unilateral Undertaking. This includes a 
contribution to the West Moor Link improvement scheme of £349,961, works to the 
West Moor Link/Hatfield Lane and Sainsbury’s roundabouts, 3 bus stops and a 
Transport Bond of £43,296 to be used if targets for the number and type of trips to 
and from the site are not met. Travel Plan measures will include the appointment of a 
travel co-ordinator, the provision of information about alternative means of transport 
to the private car and the promotion of car-sharing schemes. Additionally, under the 
residential travel plan each new dwelling would receive a travel pass for discounted 
travel by public transport for one year and a voucher towards a bicycle and/or bicycle 
equipment. 
 
8.39 It also includes a contribution of 26 per cent affordable housing as per the 
requirements of policy CS12 of the Core Strategy and policies ANP7 and ANP10 of 
the Armthorpe Neighbourhood Development Plan. The delivery of a sizeable amount 
of affordable housing would be a significant benefit of the proposed development. 
 
8.40 There is also to be an education contribution towards the cost of the provision 
of primary school places in the locality required by the development as per the 
requirements of policies ANP10 and ANP28 of the Armthorpe Neighbourhood 
Development Plan. The contribution is to be based on a formula devised by the 
Education Department. 
 

Page 225



9.0 Overall conclusions 
 
9.1 The commercial/employment element of the application is acceptable given that 
there is an extant permission in place for a similar proposal.  
 
9.2 In terms of the housing element of the proposal, the site is allocated as a 
Countryside Policy Area in the Doncaster UDP and a Countryside Protection Policy 
Area in the Doncaster Core Strategy and is not identified as a suitable proposal in 
policies ENV4 of the UDP and CS3 of the Core Strategy.  
 
9.3 Policy CS2 of the Core Strategy however identifies the need for between 646 
and 923 dwellings in Armthorpe through urban extensions. It is acknowledged by 
policy CS2 that such urban expansion should take place notwithstanding the 
protection afforded to the surrounding countryside by policies ENV4 and CS3. Policy 
CS10 states that these urban extensions can come forward from 2016 onwards. 
 
9.4 Policy CS3 of the Core Strategy allows for the development of urban extensions 
to Principal Towns through allocations. The proposal would not be inconsistent with 
the objectives of this policy which seeks to minimise the extent of urban extensions. 
The site is allocated for development in the emerging Armthorpe Neighbourhood 
Plan and significant weight can be attached to the plan given that it is well advanced, 
is consistent with the policies in the Framework and objections (mainly by competing 
developers) have been resolved by the examiner; there is also evidence of support 
for the Neighbourhood Plan by the community.  
 
9.5 The issue of prematurity to the Neighbourhood Plan, although still relevant, is 
less significant now because the Neighbourhood Plan has consistently shown this 
site for development and we are now at a point beyond 2016 whereby policy CS10 of 
the Core Strategy allows for the release of land for urban extensions. The 
consistency of the application with the Armthorpe Neighbourhood Plan at this 
advanced stage of its preparation means that the adverse impacts of granting 
planning permission would not outweigh the benefits and therefore the issue of 
prematurity in itself would not justify a refusal of planning permission. The site has 
consistently been allocated for development in the Armthorpe Neighbourhood 
Development Plan and so it is considered that the granting of planning permission 
would not prejudice the outcome of the plan-making process.  
 
9.6 The site is sustainable given that it is located on the edge of Armthorpe and 
within access to a range of facilities for pedestrians, cyclists and public transport 
users. The proposed development would not have an adverse effect on the 
character and appearance of the area, nor would it unacceptably reduce highway 
safety or constrain the free flow of traffic. All other planning matters have been 
satisfactorily resolved. 
 
9.7 The proposed development will bring about jobs and housing to which significant 
weight should be attached. The provision of affordable housing would be a 
significant benefit and some weight should also be given to the extension of the 
allotments.  
 
9.8 In conclusion, the proposed development on an allocated site in an advanced 
emerging Neighbourhood Plan, together with an extant permission for employment 
and the support for urban extensions from 2016 onwards in countryside locations 

Page 226



outweigh any argument that the application is premature to the emerging 
Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
Recommendation 
 
MEMBERS RESOLVE TO GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION FOR THE 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT, SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS BELOW AND 
FOLLOWING THE COMPLETION OF AN AGREEMENT UNDER SECTION 106 OF 
THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 IN RELATION TO THE 
FOLLOWING MATTERS:  
 

A) 26% affordable housing. 
B) Education contribution based on a formula. 
C) Contribution of £349,961 towards West Moor Link improvement scheme. 
D) Works to West Moor Link/Hatfield Lane and Sainsbury’s roundabouts prior to 

the occupation of the 174th dwelling.  
E) Transport Bond of £43,296 and monitoring. 
F) The three bus stops on Mercel Avenue and Hatfield Lane to be upgraded or 

replaced.  
G) Travel Plan measures to include the appointment of a travel co-ordinator, the 

provision of information about alternative means of transport to the private 
car, the promotion of car-sharing schemes and a travel pass for discounted 
travel by public transport for one year and a voucher towards a bicycle and/or 
bicycle equipment. 
 

THE HEAD OF DEVELOPMENT BE AUTHORISED TO ISSUE THE PLANNING 
PERMISSION UPON COMPLETION OF THE AGREEMENT. 
 

1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later 
than whichever is the later of the following dates:- i) The expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission or ii) The expiration of two years from 
the final approval of the reserved matters or in the case of different dates the 
final approval of the last such matter to be approved.  
REASON 
Condition required to be imposed by Section 92 (as amended) of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
2) In the case of the reserved matters, application for approval must be made 

not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this 
permission.  
REASON 
Condition required to be imposed by Section 92(as amended) of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

3) Approval of the details of the layout, scale, appearance and landscaping of 
the site (hereinafter referred to as reserved matters) shall be obtained from 
the Local Planning Authority before the commencement of any works.  
REASON 
The application is in outline and no details having yet been furnished of the 
matters referred to in the outline they are reserved for subsequent approval by 
the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Page 227



4) The reserved matters shall be prepared in accordance with the proposed 
indicative master plan. 
REASON 
To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
application as approved. 
 

5) Access to the site shall be in accordance with the details shown on the 
approved plans referenced 9118:01 C dated February 2010 and 
49325065/P/001 REV C. 
REASON 
To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
application as approved. 
 

6) No residential development shall take place until a scheme for the mitigation 
of traffic noise has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The residential development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved scheme. 
REASON 
To ensure that residential properties are not affected by noise. 
 

7) No development shall take place, until a Construction Method Statement has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. 
The statement shall provide for: 
 
i) - the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors  
ii) - loading and unloading of plant and materials  
iii) - storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development  
iv) - the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate  
v) - measures to be taken within the curtilage of the site to prevent the 
deposition of mud or debris on the public highway.  
vi) - measures to control noise and the emission of dust and dirt during 
construction  
vii) - a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works 
REASON 
To safeguard the living conditions of neighbouring residents and in the 
interests of highway safety. 

 
8) Prior to the commencement of development, an ecological enhancement plan 

shall be submitted to the local planning authority for approval in writing. This 
plan shall include details of the following measures, all of which shall be 
implemented prior to the first occupation of the site or in an alternative 
timescale to be approved in writing with the local planning authority:   
- Roosting features for Pipistrelle bat species to be incorporated into buildings 
adjacent to the landscaped buffers.  
- The wildlife friendly design principles that will be used within the balancing 
ponds. 
- The inclusion of two bee and wasp banks. 
- A species rich hedgerow to be planted along the eastern boundary of the 
site and a species rich hedgerow and/or tree line along the western boundary. 

Page 228



- The native species mix to be used within all buffer planting. 
- The wildflower species mix to be included within the design. 
REASON  
To ensure the ecological interests of the site are maintained in accordance 
with policy 16 of the Doncaster Core Strategy. 
 

9) The development permitted by this planning permission shall only be carried 
out in accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and the 
following mitigation measures detailed within the FRA: 
i) Residential development to be located on land greater than 5mAOD as 

demonstrated by the site layout plans and the topographic survey.  
REASON 
To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future users. 
 

10)  No development shall take place until a scheme for the provision of drainage 
works has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall include measures to control the infiltration and 
discharge of surface water to the ground. None of the dwellings shall be 
occupied until the drainage scheme has been implemented in respect of the 
residential part of the development. None of the employment units shall be 
occupied until the drainage scheme has been implemented in respect of the 
employment part of the development. 
REASON  
To ensure that the water environment and the public water supply are 
protected. 
 

11)  No development approved by this permission shall be commenced prior to a 
contaminated land assessment and associated remedial strategy, together 
with a timetable of works, being accepted and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority (LPA), unless otherwise approved in writing with the LPA. 

 
a) The Phase 2 site investigation and risk assessment, if appropriate, must be 
approved by the LPA prior to investigations commencing on site. The Phase 2 
investigation shall include relevant soil, soil gas, surface and groundwater 
sampling and shall be carried out by a suitably qualified and accredited 
consultant/contractor in accordance with a quality assured sampling and 
analysis methodology and current best practice. All the investigative works 
and sampling on site, together with the results of analysis, and risk 
assessment to any receptors shall be submitted to the LPA for approval.   
 
b)  If as a consequence of the Phase 2 Site investigation a Phase 3 
remediation report is required, then this shall be approved by the LPA prior to 
any remediation commencing on site. The works shall be of such a nature as 
to render harmless the identified contamination given the proposed end-use of 
the site and surrounding environment including any controlled waters, the site 
must not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environment 
Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land after 
remediation. 
 
c)  The approved Phase 3 remediation works shall be carried out in full on site 
under a quality assurance scheme to demonstrate compliance with the 
proposed methodology and best practice guidance. The LPA must be given 

Page 229



two weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme 
works. If during the works, contamination is encountered which has not 
previously been identified, then all associated works shall cease until the 
additional contamination is fully assessed and an appropriate remediation 
scheme approved by the LPA.   
 
d)  Upon completion of the Phase 3 works, a Phase 4 verification report shall 
be submitted to and approved by the LPA. The verification report shall include 
details of the remediation works and quality assurance certificates to show 
that the works have been carried out in full accordance with the approved 
methodology. Details of any post-remedial sampling and analysis to show the 
site has reached the required clean-up criteria shall be included in the 
verification report together with the necessary documentation detailing what 
waste materials have been removed from the site. The site shall not be 
brought into use until such time as all verification data has been approved by 
the LPA. 
REASON 
To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of human health 
and the wider environment and pursuant to guidance set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  This is required prior to commencement to 
ensure that the necessary mitigation measures can be put in place should any 
contamination be found. 

 
12)  The development shall not begin until a scheme for the provision of public 

open space on site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall provide for at least 15 per cent of the 
site area as public open space. The public open space shall be provided in 
accordance with the approved scheme and this shall include: 
i details showing the location and type of public open space and how the 

open space is to be landscaped; 
ii details of the provision of a Locally Equipped Area of Play and 

children's football pitch on site. 
iii the timing of the provision of the public open space and arrangements 

for its future maintenance. 
REASON 
To ensure the satisfactory provision of public open space in 
accordance with policy RL4 of the Doncaster Unitary Development 
Plan and the Council's Supplementary Planning Guidance on Adoption 
and Maintenance of Public Open Space in New Developments. 
 

13)  No development shall take place until a scheme for the extension of the 
allotments has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall include the timescale for provision and 
arrangements for management. The extension to the allotments shall be 
provided in accordance with the approved scheme. 
REASON 
There is a need for allotments in the area and this development will create 
additional demand.      
 

14)  Development shall not commence until a detailed scheme for the realigned 
carriageway between Mercel Avenue and the West Moor Link roundabout has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 

Page 230



scheme shall include details of the design of the new roundabout to ensure 
capacity of a 4th arm to serve land to the west of Hatfield Lane, a new 
footway, a pedestrian crossing across Hatfield Lane and details of the new 
highway verge. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the 
occupation of any dwellings on site. 
REASON 
To ensure that details of the realigned carriageway are acceptable in 
accordance with policy 9 of the Doncaster Core Strategy. 
 

15)  The first submission of Reserved Matters for housing shall include a Design 
Guide to be approved by the Local Planning Authority, which shall be applied 
to all subsequent Reserved Matters submissions for all other units within the 
site. The guide shall follow the principles established in the Design and 
Access Statement Ref 9118 dated December 2011. The Design Guide shall 
refer to and reflect the Council's existing design guidance, and cover the 
following key detailed design matters:  
 
1) Movement hierarchy and street types- the network of streets and car 

free routes and how these integrate into existing networks, using street 
sections and plans to illustrate the hierarchy, 

2) Urban design principles- how the development will create a permeable 
and secure network of blocks and plots with well-defined, active and 
enclosed streets and spaces, 

3) Legibility strategy- how the scheme will be easy to navigate using 
gateways, views, nodes and landmarks for orientation, 

4) Residential character areas- the different areas of housing within the 
site and details of the key characteristics of each zone in terms of 
layout, scale, siting, appearance, and landscape, 

5) Architectural appearance, building details and materials- informed by a 
local character appraisal, 

6) Open space character areas- the function, appearance and design 
principles for each key areas of open space, 

7) Vehicle and cycle parking- including details of allocated and visitor 
parking strategies in line with the Council's parking standards, 

8) Hard and soft landscape- including street surfacing, junction 
treatments, street furniture, signage, management and maintenance, 

9) Boundary treatments- details of front, side, rear and plot division 
boundaries for each street type / character area. 

10) Building for Life Statement- how BFL principles are to be met by the 
development. 

REASON 
To ensure a consistent and co-ordinated design approach, in the interests of 
the satisfactory function and appearance of the development. 
 

16)  Before the development is brought into use, sight lines shall be rendered 
effective by removing or reducing the height of anything which obstructs 
visibility at any height greater than 900mm above the level of the nearside 
channel of the public highway. The visibility thus provided shall thereafter be 
maintained as such, unless otherwise approved in writing by the Highways 
Authority. 
REASON 
In the interest of road safety. 

Page 231



 
17)  The development hereby approved shall not exceed 400 dwellings. 

 REASON 
To ensure that the development accords with policies ANP1 and ANP10 of 
the Armthorpe Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

18)  The proposed development shall not include any B1(a) uses within the final 
layout. 
REASON 
To control office uses outside of town centre locations, in accordance with the 
provisions of Policy CS2 of the Core Strategy. 
 

19)  Before the development commences, a BREEAM pre-assessment, or 
equivalent assessment, shall be submitted for approval demonstrating how 
BREEAM 'Very Good' will be met for the employment element of the 
application. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning 
authority, the development will take place in accordance with the approved 
assessment. Prior to the occupation of any of the industrial buildings, a post 
construction review shall be carried out by a licensed assessor and submitted 
for approval.  
REASON 
To accord with policy CS14 of the Core Strategy and in the interests of 
sustainability and to minimise the impact of the development on the effects of 
climate change. 
 

20)  Prior to the submission of any reserved matters application, an 
archaeological evaluation of the application area will be undertaken in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation that has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  Drawing upon the 
results of this field evaluation stage, a mitigation strategy for any further 
archaeological works and/or preservation in situ will be approved in writing 
with the local planning authority and then implemented. 
REASON 
To ensure that the site is archaeologically evaluated in accordance with an 
approved scheme and that sufficient information on any archaeological 
remains exists to help determine any reserved matters and to comply with 
policy ENV38 of the Doncaster Unitary Development Plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 
 
 

Page 232



 
Masterplan for the site. 

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council, Civic Office Waterdale Doncaster DN1 3BU 

Development and Planning 
 
Delegation Report 
  

AUTHORITY UNDER LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
DELEGATED POWERS 

 
 

Application No: 20/01606/FULM 
 

Case Officer: Mel Roberts 
 

Recommendation: Planning Permission GRANTED 
(Sec106) 
 

Date of Recommendation: 4th July 2022 
 

 

 
Delegation Compliance: 
 
1. This application is in accordance with adopted scheme of delegation. 
 
Yes 
 
 
Senior / Principal Officer Declaration 
 
I certify that, in my opinion, the determination of the application meets the Agreed Scheme 
of Delegation and that the Recommendation is acceptable. 
 
Delegation and Recommendation Authorised By: 
 
A.Suddes 
 
 
Date: 
 
07.07.2022 
 
 
This application is in accordance with adopted scheme of delegation: 
 Page 253



Yes 
 
 
Proposal and background 
 
This application seeks planning permission for the erection of 18 dwellings on land off 
Hatfield Lane, Armthorpe. The proposal comprises 9 houses and 9 bungalows, with the 
bungalows being situated on the southern boundary closest to the existing bungalows on 
Mercel Avenue. The bungalows have bedrooms in the roofspace with velux windows on the 
rear. This site forms part of the wider housing site to the north approved under reserved 
matters application 20.01421.REMM and is well under way with construction. The reason 
this site is being applied for separately is that it was not in the ownership of the applicant at 
the time the outline application was approved in October 2017 under reference 
12.00188.OUTM. It still forms part of the same site and the same allocation for housing in 
both the Local Plan and the Neighbourhood Plan and makes up no more than 400 houses 
allowed under the policy of the Neighbourhood Plan (with 382 being approved under the 
reserved matters).  
 
Site Description  
 
The site is located to the east of Hatfield Lane, Armthorpe, Doncaster. The site itself 
comprises a small section of an improved grassland arable field. The wider housing site lies 
to the north and east with existing dwellings to the south on Mercel Avenue. The land to the 
west of Hatfield Lane benefits from reserved matters approval for 400 dwellings under 
20.01694.REMM on June 2021. 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
There is no planning history on this site, but the land immediately to the north has consent 
for 382 dwellings under reference 20.01421.REMM. 
 
Planning Policy Context 
 
National Planning Policy Framework  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF) sets out the Government's planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. Planning permission must 
be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. The NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions and the 
relevant sections are outlined below. 
 
Paragraphs 7 to 11 establish that all decisions should be based on the principles of a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. One of the three overarching objectives 
of the NPPF is to ensure a significant number and range of homes are provided to meet the 
needs of present and future generations (paragraph 8b). 

Page 254



 
Paragraph 63 requires on site provision of affordable housing where a need is identified. 
 
Paragraph 110 sets out that in assessing specific applications for development, it should be 
ensured that 
 
a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be or have been  
taken up, given the type of development and its location 
b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users 
c) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport elements and the content of 
associated standards reflects current national guidance, including the National Design 
Guide and the National Model Design Code and  
d) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of 
capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an 
acceptable degree. 
 
Paragraph 111 states that development should only be prevented or refused on highway 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 
 
Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to 
live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities (paragraph 126). 
 
Local Plan 
 
The site is allocated for housing in the Doncaster Local Plan, which reflects its allocation in 
the Armthorpe Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
Policy 1 identifies Armthorpe as a Main Town, which is a focus for substantial housing 
growth.  
 
Policy 2 states that the Local Plan's strategic aim is to facilitate the delivery of at least 920 
new homes each year over the plan period 2018 to 2035 (15,640 net homes in total), with a 
total settlement allocation of 1,049 for Armthorpe. 
 
Policy 7 states that the delivery of a wider range and mix of housing types, sizes and 
tenures will be supported through the following 
 
a) New housing developments will be required to deliver a mix of house sizes, types, prices, 
and tenures to address as appropriate the needs and market demand identified in the latest 
Housing Need Assessment 
b) Housing sites of 15 or more homes (or 0.5ha or above) will normally be expected to 
include 23 per cent affordable homes in the borough's high value housing market areas or a 
lower requirement of 15 per cent elsewhere in the borough (including starter homes which 
meet the definition) on site. 

Page 255



 
Policy 13 sets out that new development shall make appropriate provision for access by 
sustainable modes of transport to protect the highway network from residual vehicular 
impact to ensure that 
a) access to the development can be made by a wide choice of transport modes, including 
walking, cycling, private vehicles and public transport 
b) site layouts and the street environment are designed to control traffic speed through an 
appropriate network and street hierarchy that promotes road safety for all 
c) walking and cycling are encouraged with the development and beyond, through the 
design of facilities and infrastructure within the site and provision of linkages to the wider 
network 
d) appropriate levels of parking provisions are made and 
e) existing highway and transport infrastructure is not adversely affected by new 
development. Where necessary, developers will be required to mitigate (or contribute 
towards) and predicted adverse effects on the highway network. 
 
Policy 16 states that the needs of cyclists must be considered in relation to new 
development and in the design of highways and traffic management schemes to ensure 
safety and convenience. Provision for secure cycle parking facilities will be sought in new 
developments.  
 
Policy 17 states that an increase in walking provision in Doncaster will be sought. Walking 
will be promoted as a means of active travel. Proposals will be supported which provide new 
or improved connections and routes, which enhance the existing network and address 
identified gaps within that network. The needs of pedestrians will be considered and 
prioritised in relation to new developments, in public realm improvements and in the design 
of highways and traffic management schemes. 
 
Policy 21 sets out that all new housing and commercial development must provide 
connectivity to the Superfast Broadband network unless it can be clearly demonstrated that 
this is not possible.  
  
Policy 28 deals with open space provision in new developments and states that proposals of 
20 family dwellings or more will be supported which contribute 10 or 15 per cent of the site 
as on site open space to benefit the development itself, or a commuted sum in lieu of this 
(especially where the site is close to a large area of open space). 
 
Policy 30 seeks to protect sites and species of local, national and international importance 
and requires proposals to meet 10 per cent net gain for biodiversity. 
 
Policy 32 states sets out that proposals will be supported where it can be demonstrated that 
woodlands, trees and hedgerows have been adequately considered during the design 
process, so that a significant adverse impact upon public amenity or ecological interest has 
been avoided. 
 

Page 256



Policy 41 sets out that imaginative design and development solutions will be encouraged to 
ensure that proposals respect and enhance identity, character and local distinctiveness. In 
all cases, proposals will need to demonstrate an understanding of the context, history, 
character and appearance of the site, neighbourhood and wider area, to inform the 
appropriate design approach. 
 
Policy 42 states that high quality development that reflects the principles of good urban 
design will be supported. Proposals for new development will be expected to follow a best 
practice design process and where appropriate, use established design tools to support 
good urban design. 
 
Policy 44 sets out that new housing will be supported where it responds positively to the 
context and character of existing areas and creates high quality residential environments 
through good design. 
 
Policy 45 states that new housing proposals will be supported where they are designed to 
include sufficient space for the intended number of occupants and shall meet the Nationally 
Described Space Standard as a minimum. 
 
Policy 48 states that development will be supported which protects landscape character, 
protects and enhances existing landscape features and provides a high quality, 
comprehensive hard and soft landscape scheme. 
 
Policy 50 states that development will be required to contribute positively to creating high 
quality places that support and promote healthy communities and lifestyles, such as 
maximising access by walking and cycling. 
 
Policy 54 sets out that where developments are likely to be exposed to pollution, they will 
only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that pollution can be avoided or where 
mitigation measures will minimise significantly harmful impacts to acceptable levels. This 
includes giving particular consideration to the presence of noise generating uses close to 
the site. 
 
Policy 56 states that development sites must incorporate satisfactory measures for dealing 
with their drainage impacts to ensure waste water and surface water runoff are managed 
appropriately and to reduce flood risk to existing communities.  
 
Policy 65 states that developer contributions will be sought to mitigate the impacts of 
development through direct provision on site, provision off site, and contributions towards 
softer interventions to ensure the benefits of the development are maximised by local 
communities. 
 
Armthorpe Neighbourhood Plan 
 

Page 257



Armthorpe has a Neighbourhood Plan that was adopted in November 2018. Policy ANP1 
states that permission will be given for new housing on two sites including this site (the 
Lings) for between 350 and 400 dwellings. Policy ANP2 states that proposals for new 
housing must be well integrated with the existing village and surrounding environment and 
services. Subject to viability and land ownership considerations, they will need to 
incorporate good connections to the rest of the village and the village centre in particular, be 
good quality design and provide new facilities that can be shared with adjacent areas e.g. 
open space. Policy ANP5 requires all new housing to be of high quality and designed to 
reflect local character. Policy ANP7 states that any development on this site shall provide 
for affordable housing, education contributions and open space. There should be a 
recognition of the role that the site plays in establishing a gateway to Armthorpe village and 
provide connections to local facilities. It shall include a highway design which minimises 
traffic impact on the existing highway network and is designed to reduce inconvenience to 
the users of the local road network during construction and following completion of the 
development. Policy ANP25 states that developers must provide publicly accessible open 
space in accordance with the site specific policies on housing allocations and windfall sites. 
Where feasible, open space should connect to other open spaces and provide links to new 
and existing pedestrian and cycle routes. Policy ANP27 requires sustainable urban drainage 
to be incorporated into new development as part of the overall proposals for drainage.  
 
Other material planning considerations 
 
Doncaster Council's previous suite of adopted Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 
have been formally revoked in line with Regulation 15 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, following the adoption of the Local Plan. The 
SPDs refer to superseded development plan policies, and some provide guidance which is 
not in accordance with the new Local Plan. The Transitional Developer Guidance (April 
2022) provides guidance on certain elements, including design, during the interim period, 
whilst new SPDs to support the adopted Local Plan are progressed and adopted. The 
Transitional Developer Guidance, Carr Lodge Design Code and the South Yorkshire 
Residential Design Guide (SYRDG), should be treated as informal guidance only as they 
are not formally adopted SPDs. These documents can be treated as material considerations 
in decision making, but with only limited weight. 
 
Representations 
 
The application has been advertised in the press, on site and with letters sent to all existing 
properties that border the site to the south. No objections have been received.  
 
Parish Council 
 
Armthorpe Parish Council was consulted, but made no comments. 
 
Relevant Consultations 
 

Page 258



The Urban Design Officer has responded and has raised no objections. 
 
Highways have responded and have raised no objections. 
 
Ecology are satisfied with the amended BNG metric and the assessments now that urban 
gardens have been taken out. The BNG report is a well written and thorough report. It is 
pleasing to see included a tabulation of how the BNG Good Practice Principles are being 
satisfied through the proposals for on site and off site delivery of BNG and other ecological 
enhancements.  
 
Trees. The phase 1 habitat survey shows that trees are not an issue. There will be 
unavoidable loss of the roadside hedgerow (H1) as a result of the reconfiguration of the 
highway. This hedge, whilst species poor, possibly derives from the 1774 Enclosure Act for 
the parish of Armthorpe. Regrettably, there has been much loss of hedgerows of similar 
heritage in Armthorpe for developments much bigger than this. This being the case, one has 
to be pragmatic and accept a landscape and ecology led approach to ensure for a net gain 
in biodiversity via landscaping. Regarding the landscaping, this is, of course, determined by 
wider design issues. My initial comments are that there are strong road frontage tree 
features and good planting of the internal POS's and of the other boundaries. However, 
within much of the street scene itself, the tree cover will be restricted to small trees in 
private gardens that will not make a long term contribution to the scheme. Strategically 
placed large species of trees should be considered in the highway.     
 
Strategic Housing has raised no objection subject to the usual requirements for affordable 
housing provision. 
 
Yorkshire Water has responded and has raised no objections. 
 
Contamination. It is understood this is a standalone application, although it is linked to 
12.00188.OUTM.  A phase 1 has already been reviewed for this land (under 
12.00188.OUTM), which recommends further risk assessment.  In light of this, and to 
ensure consistency between applications for the same area, I strongly recommend CON 1 
(without section a) is attached to any favourable permission.    
 
Public Health has responded and has raised no objections to the HIA submitted. 
 
Superfast South Yorkshire have asked for the standard condition. 
 
Ward members 
 
Councillor Tyas has written in, but his comments refer to the wider site to the north which 
has been approved under the reserved matters application. One comment that is relevant is 
his desire to see bungalows backing onto Mercel Avenue and that is the case with this 
application. 
 

Page 259



Assessment 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The site is allocated for housing both in the Armthorpe Neighbourhood Plan and the Local 
Plan and so is acceptable in principle. This application for 18 houses added to the 382 
already approved under the reserved matters makes up the total of 400 allowed under 
policy ANP1 of the Armthorpe Neighbourhood Plan. 
  
Design  
 
The proposal has been designed to tie in with the approved development to the north. 
Details of materials, boundary treatments etc. have been provided and these are 
acceptable. The proposed dwellings all meet National Minimum Space standards. The 
Urban Design Officer has raised no objections. The proposal accords with policies 41, 42, 
44 and 45 of the Local Plan. 
 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
The scheme has been designed to ensure that there is no loss of residential amenity, with 
adequate separation distances (around 25m) to existing residential properties on Mercel 
Aveneue and also within the scheme itself. Bungalows are provided along the southern 
boundary to ensure that there will be no overlooking of existing dwellings.  
 
Highways 
 
The scheme has been designed with adequate parking provision and to ensure that there 
are no highway safety issues and no objections have been raised by the Highway Officer.  
 
Ecology 
 
An Ecology Report has been submitted with the application. The survey identifies the 
habitats on site as comprising improved grassland, tall ruderal, dense scrub and two young 
mature sycamore trees. The habitats were considered to be common and widespread and 
overall of low ecological value with the two trees offering the most value to wildlife. The site 
was considered to provide some limited opportunities for foraging and commuting bats, 
hedgehogs, common and widespread species of invertebrates and birds. No further surveys 
for these species are required due to the small scale of the site and limited habitats. A Bat 
Survey for the wider site showed that impact on bats is not an issue. 
 
Mitigation measures for these species will be required to compensate for the loss of 
habitats. During the vegetation clearance works, the scrub areas should be hand searched 
for hedgehogs and be undertaken outside the bird nesting period (March to August 
inclusively). During the construction phase, good practice measures should be implemented 
to avoid mammals such as hedgehogs and badgers from becoming trapped and harmed. 

Page 260



The development should retain the two trees and incorporate native species planting 
wherever possible. Lighting spill should be avoided along the southern boundary and all 
new lighting should conform to best practice guidelines outlined in Bats and Artificial 
Lighting in the UK (2018). As mitigation for the loss of habitats, the development should 
contain new roosting and nesting opportunities for birds, bats and invertebrates on at least 
10 per cent of the new buildings. A hedgehog highway should also be incorporated into the 
new gardens to maximise opportunities for this species. A BNG Assessment has been 
submitted. This shows a gain of 0.85 per cent. The application therefore accords with policy 
30 of the Local Plan. 
 
Flood Risk, Foul and Surface water drainage 
 
The site falls within Flood Zone 1. Surface water onsite will be stored in an attenuation basin 
that is part of the wider housing development. This is shown on the engineering strategy 
drawings and is designed ensure the flow of water into local watercourses is at an 
acceptable and agreed flow rate in line with requirements from Severn Trent Water. 
 
The FRA concludes that the development is suitable for this location and can be safely 
developed to mitigate all identified long term residual flood risks in this area. Furthermore, it 
is demonstrated that the layout may be developed to incorporate elements of drainage 
incorporating SuDS that will not only provide adequate runoff protection but will also provide 
an improvement in the runoff quality. 
 
Planning obligations 
 
In terms of developer contributions, the open space for this development is being provided 
on the larger housing site and is over and above the policy requirement even taking into 
consideration this site. Education have also confirmed that there is to be no education 
contribution for the larger development, as the data showed that there was no need. The 
only issue that this application needs to secure therefore is the provision of affordable 
housing. There is a requirement for 4 affordable units (based on 23 per cent) and this is to 
be secured through a 106 Agreement.  
 
Summary 
 
The proposal is in accordance with the Armthorpe Neighbourhood Plan and the Local Plan 
and all planning issues have been resolved. It is therefore recommended that planning 
permission be approved subject to a Section 106 Agreement that secures 4 affordable units.   
 
  

Page 261



Conditions / Reasons 
 
 
01.  STAT1 The development to which this permission relates must be begun not 

later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this 
permission.  

  REASON 
  Condition required to be imposed by Section 91(as amended) of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
02.  U0098842 The development hereby permitted must be carried out and completed 

entirely in accordance with the terms of this permission and the details 
shown on the approved plans listed below: 

  Drawing number 18-00 dated 14.02.2020 (Location plan) 
  Drawing number 18-01 Rev D dated 12.01.2022 (Site plan) 
  House type B 
  House type C 
  House type C1 
  House types C and C1 semi detached 
  House type L 
  Drawing number 19052_A_HT_GE_13 dated Jan 2020 (Semi detached 

bungalow) 
  Drawing number 19052_A_HT_UC_13 dated Jan 2020 (Semi detached 

bungalow) 
  Drawing number 19052_A_HT_GE_14 dated Jan 2020 (Bungalow) 
  Drawing number 05 dated Feb 2020 (Street scenes and sections) 
  Drawing number 06 Rev P2 dated 26.11.2020 (Boundary treatment 

plan) 
  Drawing number 07 dated Feb 2020 (Boundary treatment details) 
  Drawing number 08 Rev B dated 04.05.2021 (Materials plan) 
  Drawing number 02.03 Rev L dated 01.04.22 (Floor levels) 
  Drawing number SK01.03 dated March 2020 (Drainage Plan) 
  REASON 
  To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 

application as approved. 
 
03.  MISC11 Upon commencement of development details of measures to facilitate 

the provision of gigabit-capable full fibre broadband for the 
dwellings/development hereby permitted, including a timescale for 
implementation, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

  REASON 
  To ensure that all new housing and commercial developments provide 

connectivity to the fastest technically available Broadband network in 
Page 262



line with the NPPF (para. 114) and Policy 21 of the Doncaster Local 
Plan. 

   
 
04.  U0098848 Within 2 months of the commencement of development a Management 

Plan for proposed onsite habitats based on the report BWB, LDP2438 
April 2021 shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
approval in writing.  The Management Plan shall detail the following: 

  i) An adaptive management plan for the site detailing the management 
measures to be carried out over the development of the site in order to 
achieve the target conditions proposed for each habitat parcel. 

  ii) Objectives relating to the timescales in which it is expected progress 
towards meeting target habitat conditions will be achieved. 

  iii) A commitment to adaptive management that allows a review of the 
management plan to be undertaken and changes implemented if 
agreed in writing by the LPA and if monitoring shows that progress 
towards target conditions is not progressing as set out in the agreed 
objectives. 

  iv) That monitoring reports shall be provided to the LPA on the 1st 
November of each year of monitoring (Years 1, 2, 5, 10, 20, 25 and 30) 
immediately following habitat creation.  

  Once approved in writing the management measures and monitoring 
plans shall be carried out as agreed. 

  REASON 
  To ensure the habitat creation on site and subsequent management 

measures are sufficient to deliver a net gain in biodiversity as required 
by Local Plan policy 30B and the NPPF paragraph 174. 

 
05.  U0098849 No development shall take place until a Biodiversity Offsetting scheme 

based on the report BWB, LDP2438 April 2021 containing details of the 
required number of Habitat Units to be delivered off-site shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Off-site delivery shall be provided via arrangements with a third party 
provider. Details of the off-site scheme shall include the following: 

   
  i) Details of agreements and evidence of contract(s) having been 

entered into with third parties for the delivery of the required biodiversity 
net gain offsetting of 1.01 Habitat Units. 

  ii) An adaptive management plan for the site detailing the management 
measures to be carried out to achieve target habitats and conditions 
according to DEFRA metric 2.0 habitat trading rules. 

  iii) Objectives relating to the timescales in which it is expected progress 
towards meeting target habitat conditions will be achieved. 

  iv) A commitment to adaptive management that allows a review of the 
management plan to be undertaken and changes implemented if 

Page 263



agreed in writing by the LPA and if monitoring shows that progress 
towards target conditions is not progressing as set out in the agreed 
objectives. 

  v) That monitoring reports shall be provided to the LPA on the 1st 
November of each year of monitoring (Years 1, 2, 5, 10, 20, 25 and 30) 
immediately following habitat creation. 

   
  Once approved in writing the agreed Biodiversity Offsetting scheme 

shall be implemented in accordance with the submitted details.  
  REASON. 
  To ensure the habitat creation on site and subsequent management 

measures are sufficient to deliver a net gain in biodiversity as required 
by Local Plan policy 30B and the NPPF paragraph 174. 

 
06.  U0098850 Within two months of the commencement of development an ecological 

enhancement plan shall be submitted to the local planning authority for 
approval in writing. This plan shall be based on the recommendations at 
Section 4.6 of BWB, LDP2438 April 2021, and will require the siting of 
bat and bird boxes on 40% all dwellings of which shall be implemented 
prior to the first occupation of the site or an alternative timescale to be 
approved in writing with the local planning authority. 

  REASON  
  To ensure the ecological interests of the site are maintained in 

accordance with Local Plan policy 29 
 
07.  U0098851 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved full 

details of a scheme of landscaping shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless as shall be specifically 
approved by the Local Planning Authority, the landscape scheme shall 
include a plan indicating the planting location of all trees and shrubs; a 
schedule including the nursery stock specification for all shrubs and 
trees in compliance with British Standard 3936: Part 1: 1992 
Specification for Trees and Shrubs and planting density/numbers; a 
detailed specification for engineered tree pit construction that utilises a 
professionally recognised method of construction to provide the 
minimum rooting volume set out in the Council's Development 
Guidance and Requirements supplementary planning document and a 
load-bearing capacity equivalent to BS EN 124 Class C250 for any 
paved surface above; a specification for planting including details of 
tree support, tree pit surfacing, aeration and irrigation; a maintenance 
specification and a timescale of implementation, which shall be within 3 
months of completion of the development or alternative trigger to be 
agreed. Thereafter, the landscape scheme shall be implemented in full 
accordance with the approved details and the Local Planning Authority 
notified prior to backfilling any engineered tree pits to inspect and 

Page 264



confirm compliance and within seven days of the completion of 
landscape works to inspect and approve practical completion in writing. 
Any tree or shrub planted as part of the scheme that is removed or is 
found to be dying, diseased or seriously damaged within five years of 
practical completion of the planting works shall be replaced during the 
next available planting season in full accordance with the approved 
scheme, unless the local planning authority gives its written approval to 
any variation.  

  REASON 
  These details have not been provided and are required prior to 

commencement of development to ensure that a landscape scheme is 
implemented in the interests of environmental quality. 

 
08.  U0099903 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 

with the Construction Method Statement Rev A dated 02.12.2020.  
  REASON 
  To safeguard the living conditions of neighbouring residents and in the 

interests of highway safety. 
 
09.  U0098859 No development approved by this permission shall be commenced prior 

to a contaminated land assessment and associated remedial strategy, 
together with a timetable of works, being accepted and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority (LPA), unless otherwise approved in writing 
with the LPA. 

   
  a)  The Phase 2 site investigation and risk assessment, if appropriate, 

must be approved by the LPA prior to investigations commencing on 
site. The Phase 2 investigation shall include relevant soil, soil gas, 
surface and groundwater sampling and shall be carried out by a suitably 
qualified and accredited consultant/contractor in accordance with a 
quality assured sampling and analysis methodology and current best 
practice. All the investigative works and sampling on site, together with 
the results of analysis, and risk assessment to any receptors shall be 
submitted to the LPA for approval.   

   
  b)  If as a consequence of the Phase 2 Site investigation a Phase 3 

remediation report is required, then this shall be approved by the LPA 
prior to any remediation commencing on site. The works shall be of 
such a nature as to render harmless the identified contamination given 
the proposed end-use of the site and surrounding environment including 
any controlled waters, the site must not qualify as contaminated land 
under Part 2A of the Environment Protection Act 1990 in relation to the 
intended use of the land after remediation. 

   
Page 265



  c)  The approved Phase 3 remediation works shall be carried out in full 
on site under a quality assurance scheme to demonstrate compliance 
with the proposed methodology and best practice guidance. The LPA 
must be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the 
remediation scheme works. If during the works, contamination is 
encountered which has not previously been identified, then all 
associated works shall cease until the additional contamination is fully 
assessed and an appropriate remediation scheme approved by the 
LPA.   

   
  d)  Upon completion of the Phase 3 works, a Phase 4 verification report 

shall be submitted to and approved by the LPA. The verification report 
shall include details of the remediation works and quality assurance 
certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full 
accordance with the approved methodology. Details of any post-
remedial sampling and analysis to show the site has reached the 
required clean-up criteria shall be included in the verification report 
together with the necessary documentation detailing what waste 
materials have been removed from the site. The site shall not be 
brought into use until such time as all verification data has been 
approved by the LPA. 

  REASON 
  To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of human 

health and the wider environment, in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Doncaster's Local Plan Policy 54 & 55. 

 
 
 
Informatives 
 
 
 
01.  U0016609 INFORMATIVE 
 Works carried out on the public highway by a developer or anyone else 

other than the Highway Authority shall be under the provisions of Section 
278 of the Highways Act 1980. The agreement must be in place before 
any works are commenced. There is a fee involved for the preparation of 
the agreement and for on-site inspection. The applicant should make 
contact with Malc Lucas - Tel 01302 735110 as soon as possible to 
arrange the setting up of the agreement 

  
 The developer shall ensure that no vehicle leaving the development 

hereby permitted enter the public highway unless its wheels and chassis 
are clean. It should be noted that to deposit mud on the highway is an 
offence under provisions of The Highways Act 1980.  

Page 266



 
 
 
Justification 
 
STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH ARTICLE 35 OF THE TOWN AND COUNTRY 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE ORDER 2015 
 
In dealing with the application, the Local Planning Authority has worked with the applicant to 
find solutions to the following issues that arose whilst dealing with the planning application: 
 
Ensure that the dwellings met National Space Standards 
 
 

Due regard has been given to Article 8 and Protocol 1 of Article 1 of the European 
Convention for Human Rights Act 1998 when considering objections, the 

determination of the application and the resulting recommendation. it is considered 
that the recommendation will not interfere with the applicant’s and/or any objector’s 

right to respect for his private and family life, his home and his correspondence. 
 

 

Page 267



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

  
Date: 9th January 2024 

 
To the Chair and Members of the Planning Committee 
 
APPEAL DECISIONS 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to inform members of appeal decisions received from 

the planning inspectorate.  Copies of the relevant decision letters are attached for 
information. 

 
EXEMPT REPORT 
 
2. This report is not exempt.  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3. That the report together with the appeal decisions be noted. 
 
WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER? 
 
4. It demonstrates the ability applicants have to appeal against decisions of the Local 

Planning Authority and how those appeals have been assessed by the planning 
inspectorate. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
5. Each decision has arisen from appeals made to the Planning Inspectorate. 
 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
6. It is helpful for the Planning Committee to be made aware of decisions made on 

appeals lodged against its decisions. 
 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION 
 
7. To make the public aware of these decisions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 269

Agenda Item 7.



IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES 
 
8.  

Great 8 Priority Positiv
e 

Overall 

Mix of 
Positive & 
Negative 

Trade-offs 
to consider 
– Negative 

overall 

Neutral or 
No 

implications 

Tackling 
Climate Change 

 
 

   

Comments: 
Quality planning decisions contribute to the Councils Great 8 Priorities 
 

Developing 
the skills to thrive in 
life and in work 

 
 
 

   

Comments: 
Quality planning decisions contribute to the Councils Great 8 Priorities 
 

Making 
Doncaster the best  
place to do business 
and create good jobs 

 
 
 

   

Comments: 
Quality planning decisions contribute to the Councils Great 8 Priorities 
 

Building 
opportunities for  
healthier, happier and 
longer lives for all 

 
 
 

   

Comments: 
Quality planning decisions contribute to the Councils Great 8 Priorities 
 

Creating safer, 
stronger,  
greener and cleaner  
communities where 
everyone belongs 

 
 
 

   

 

Page 270



Comments: 
Quality planning decisions contribute to the Councils Great 8 Priorities 
 

Nurturing a 
child and  
family-friendly 
borough 

 
 
 

   

Comments: 
Quality planning decisions contribute to the Councils Great 8 Priorities 
 

Building 
Transport and digital 
connections fit for the 
future 

 
 
 

   

Comments: 
Quality planning decisions contribute to the Councils Great 8 Priorities 
 

Promoting the 
borough and its 
cultural, sporting, and 
heritage 
opportunities 

 
 
 

   

Comments: 
Quality planning decisions contribute to the Councils Great 8 Priorities 
 
 
Fair & Inclusive  
 

    

Comments: 
Demonstrating good governance 

 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials AH Date  13/12/2023] 
 
9. Sections 288 and 289 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, provides that a 

decision of the Secretary of State or his Inspector may be challenged in the High 
Court. Broadly, a decision can only be challenged on one or more of the following 
grounds: 
a) a material breach of the Inquiries Procedure Rules; 
b) a breach of principles of natural justice; 

Page 271



c) the Secretary of State or his Inspector in coming to his decision took into 
account matters which were irrelevant to that decision; 

d) the Secretary of State or his Inspector in coming to his decision failed to take 
into account matters relevant to that decision; 

e) the Secretary of State or his Inspector acted perversely in that no reasonable 
person in their position properly directing themselves on the relevant material, 
could have reached the conclusion he did; 
a material error of law. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials BC Date  13/12/2023] 
 
10. There are no direct financial implications as a result of the recommendation of this 

report, however Financial Management should be consulted should financial 
implications arise as a result of an individual appeal. 

 
HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials CR Date  13/12/2023] 
 
11. There are no Human Resource implications arising from the report. 
 
TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials PW Date  13/12/2023] 
 
12. There are no technology implications arising from the report 
 
RISK AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
13. It is considered that there are no direct health implications although health should 

be considered on all decisions. 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
14. N/A 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
15. Decisions on the under-mentioned applications have been notified as follows:- 
 
 
Application 
No. 

Application Description & 
Location 

Appeal 
Decision 

Ward Decision 
Type 

Committee 
Overturn 

 
22/01941/FUL 

 
Erection of 5 dwellings with 
associated access and 
landscaping (being 
resubmission of 21/03266/FUL 
withdrawn 01.02.2022). at 
Land Off Birch Close, 
Sprotbrough, Doncaster, DN5 
7LF 

 
Appeal 
Dismissed 
08/12/2023 

 
Sprotbrough 

 
Delegated 

 
No 

 
22/01895/OUT 

 
Outline planning application for 
the erection of up to 4 
residential dwellings  (with all 
matters reserved except for 

 
Appeal 
Dismissed 
28/11/2023 

 
Finningley 

 
Delegated 

 
No 

Page 272



access) at Field House, 
Station Road, Blaxton, 
Doncaster 

 
22/02802/TEL 

 
Installation of 
telecommunications 5G 
telecoms H3G 20m street pole 
and additional equipment 
cabinets at 
Telecommunications Mast, 
Pinfold Lane, Fishlake, 
Doncaster 

 
Appeal 
Dismissed 
28/11/2023 

 
Norton And 
Askern 

 
Delegated 

 
No 

 
 

     

 
Copies of the appeal decisions are appended to this report.  
 
GLOSSARY OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS  
 
16. N/A 
 
REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS 
 
Amanda Hobson, Technical Support & Improvement Officer  
 
TSI Officer Phone Number 737489 | TSI Officer Email address 
Amanda.hobson@doncaster.gov.uk 
 
Dan Swaine, Director of Place 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 273



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 22 November 2023  
by L Hughes BA (Hons) MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 8 December 2023  

 

Appeal Ref: APP/F4410/W/23/3317244 
Land off Birch Close, Sprotbrough DN5 7LF  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Idyllic Developments Ltd against the decision of Doncaster 

Metropolitan Borough Council. 

• The application Ref 22/01941/FUL, dated 15 August 2022, was refused by notice dated 

10 October 2022. 

• The development proposed is the development of 5 dwellings with associated access 

and landscaping. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. The appellant’s appeal evidence includes revised and additional plans and 

technical information. This provides minor amendments and further clarity, and 
the Council has consulted relevant parties. In accordance with the Holborn 

Studios Ltd 2017 judgement, accepting this evidence as the basis for the 
appeal therefore meets the substantive and procedural tests, and no parties 
would be prejudiced in the interests of natural justice. The Council also 

confirmed that the reason for refusal relating to drainage is no longer upheld, 
following the receipt of this additional information. I see no reason to make a 

different conclusion. 

3. The parties disagree as to the original intent of the part of Birch Close which 
would provide the site’s access point. However, even were I to conclude that 

this was designed to act as the site’s future access, an intent from over 15 
years ago is not determinative to my decision. The access road has been used 

since its construction as a turning head, for parking, and to access the gardens 
of the adjoining dwellings. I have therefore assessed the appeal proposal 
against this context. 

Main Issues 

4. The main issues are: 

• whether the proposed development is in a suitable location for housing, 
having regard to its backland location including its effect on the character and 
appearance of the area; and 

• the effect of the proposed development on the living conditions of the 
occupiers of neighbouring properties with particular regard to privacy and 

disturbance, and on potential future occupiers with particular regard to 
overshadowing. 

Page 275

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/F4410/W/23/3317244

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Reasons 

Suitable Location for Housing 

5. The site consists of the rearmost portions of the gardens of 4 properties on 

Park Drive, comprising scrub vegetation cover, hedgerows, lawn, and a heavily 
treed orchard. Some trees, including within the eastern and western 
boundaries, are subject to Tree Protection Orders (TPOs). Dwellings lie either 

side, and a TPO woodland lies adjacent to the south. The proposal is for 5 
detached dwellings, accessed off the existing adopted highway of Birch Close. 

6. The main parties agree that the proposal would meet the definition of backland 
development in the Transitional Developer Guidance (TDG) (updated August 
2023). This provides supplementary guidance, being a material consideration 

of limited weight. Although the appellant suggests the site is not typical 
backland, I have not seen any circumstances which exclude it from an 

assessment against the relevant backland development plan policies.  

7. The site is within an area of protection from further backland development, as 
identified by the Doncaster Local Plan (LP) (2021) Policies Map and Policy 

44(C). Subject to various requirements, this policy supports backland housing, 
and states that modest redevelopment on backland sites may be considered 

acceptable. Its justification text further identifies that protection areas will 
generally be protected from backland development. Backland development is 
therefore not fully precluded as a matter of principle. A definition of ‘modest’ is 

a matter of planning judgement set against the site context. Compared to the 
number of dwellings to either side, and the 10 dwelling threshold for major 

development in the National Planning Policy Framework ('the Framework') 
(2023), I find 5 dwellings to be modest.  

8. However, the Policy 44 intent is to retain the prevailing character of these 

areas, and so requires minimising the loss of rear domestic gardens due to the 
need to maintain local character, amenity, garden space, green infrastructure, 

and biodiversity. Development should generally conform to existing plot sizes 
and not lead to overdevelopment or a cramped appearance. This is reinforced 
in Policy S3 of the Sprotbrough Neighbourhood Development Plan up to 2035 

(NDP) (2020), with residential development in rear gardens resisted where 
there would be an unacceptable impact on the character of the local area in 

terms of loss of openness, mature trees, and a significant increase in the 
density of built form. Therefore, the principle of the proposal cannot be 
divorced from its impact on the character and appearance of the area.  

9. The proposal would result in the loss of 17 Category B trees identified as 
having moderate quality and value, 10 Category C trees, and 1 Category U 

tree. Many are protected by TPOS, indicating that they have been deemed 
worthy of special protection. Pruning would also be required to some retained 

trees due to the proximity to the new dwellings. There would be additional 
planting and a landscape buffer, and some tree retention including the adjacent 
woodland, which would result in more landscaping and natural areas than the 

adjacent sites. Some trees for removal are also identified as having structural 
issues. However, the trees have a strong positive contribution towards the 

area’s established green and open character, and the loss of this significant 
green backdrop would be substantial overall.  

Page 276

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/F4410/W/23/3317244

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

10. Outstanding details for tree protection methods during construction could be 

addressed via a condition. However, it is not unreasonable to assume that due 
to the proximity of some of the trees by and within plots 1 to 3, future 

occupiers may have dissatisfaction or anxiety with shade, and falling leaves 
and debris. The arboricultural survey refers to this potential to some extent, as 
well as from potential issues with building insurers. Over time there would be a 

significant risk of pressure for substantial pruning or complete felling of some 
trees, which could be difficult for a reasonable local planning authority to resist. 

As a consequence, the site may become even more urbanised. I therefore find 
overall that the extent and potential extent of tree loss, would cause harm to 
the area’s prevailing verdant character.  

11. As such, I cannot assess the impact of the built form of the proposed 
development in isolation from this loss. I do find that it would generally follow 

the character of the more recent developments of Birch Close and Burghley 
Court close to either side, to which I give more precedence than the built form 
of the Park Drive dwellings. The new dwellings would not have abnormally 

short gardens in comparison, and the remaining size and length of the Park 
Drive gardens would still be significant. The new dwellings would also not 

dominate the frontage properties, as advised in the TDG. 

12. However, the massing on some plots would appear overbearing in combination, 
and in contrast to the site’s current openness. Along with the large areas of 

paving, this indicates an overall overdevelopment of the site. The conflict with 
and overshadowing from the retained trees would also give the impression of a 

cramped layout. It would be overdevelopment and a significant increase in the 
density of built form overall. 

13. I thus find the proposed development unacceptable having regard to its 

backland location, including its harmful effect on the character and appearance 
of the area with particular regard to tree loss. As such, it would conflict with 

the LP Policies 10, 32, 41, 42, and 44, and the Sprotbrough NDP Policy S3. 
Together these provide tree protection, and require proposals to be high quality 
development which is sympathetic to the character of the area and respond 

positively to their context, to not be overbearing, and to be well integrated with 
the built and natural environment. It would also similarly conflict with the 

Framework paragraphs 130 and 131, and the TDG. 

Living Conditions 

14. The existing area of road between the side elevations of Nos. 34 and 37 Birch 

Close includes a pedestrian footpath to each side of the carriageway, plus a 
further small strip of land alongside No. 34. Each dwelling has an outwards 

opening kitchen window in these elevations. While relatively small, and acting 
as additional windows to the main elevations, they do provide ventilation, light, 

and outlook to the habitable room of the main kitchen/dining/family space. 
They are not set back behind any defensible boundary, and the windows open 
outwards, which for No. 37 would be fully across the pavement. 

15. The more intensive use of these footpaths as part of the site’s access would 
therefore cause issues regarding these windows which only rarely apply at 

present. There would be some loss of privacy, and potential physical harm from 
pedestrians bumping into them.  

Page 277

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/F4410/W/23/3317244

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

16. There would also be increased noise and disturbance to Nos. 34 and 37 due to 

additional vehicle movements. However, this would not be of such magnitude 
from 5 dwellings that I find it would be unduly harmful within the residential 

layout. The high brick walls to the gardens would also block some noise.  

17. Paragraph 3.5.9 of the TDG does identify that backland access routes should be 
a minimum of 3m to the edge of the nearest house, and with appropriate 

boundary screening. However, the access road already exists in its current 
form, and the red line boundary does not include this area. I therefore do not 

find the guidance sufficiently material such that it would suggest a reason for 
refusal in this regard.  

18. With regard to overlooking, the TDG states that there must be at least 10m to 

the boundary from rear elevation habitable room windows, to avoid harm to 
neighbouring gardens. Although the gardens of Plots 4 and 5 would fall slightly 

short of this, I cannot see that this would cause harm to the living conditions of 
their future occupants or those in the Park Drive dwellings. Those gardens are 
a minimum of 49m in length, which is more than sufficient to avoid any 

significant overlooking between windows, and would also allow for sufficient 
privacy for the vast majority of the garden areas.   

19. Similarly, although the plot 4 and 5 dwelling heights would be somewhat 
imposing, this would rarely be perceived at close range such that they would 
not be dominating or overbearing. Overshadowing would only be across a very 

small proportion of the Park Drive gardens. 

20. Although not cited within the reason for refusal, the Council’s evidence also 

refers that tree overshadowing would cause harm to the living conditions of 
occupiers of plots 1-3. The arboricultural report suggests that the plot 2 tree 
would dominate the garden as it grows, alongside the similar potential from the 

other trees in those gardens and the woodlands. Although non-habitable rooms 
would be closest to the areas of shade, overshadowing would lead to a poor 

quality of external environment. The TDG as the relevant detailed guidance 
states that at least 50% of a private amenity area should receive unobstructed 
sunlight in summer, which I have not been convinced could be achieved. I note 

there was no objection from the Environmental Health team, but this does not 
indicate a lack of general harm. 

21. Overall, the proposal would cause harm to the living conditions of the occupiers 
of neighbouring properties, with particular regard to privacy and disturbance. 
There would also be harmful overshadowing of the gardens for the site’s future 

occupiers. As such, it would conflict with the LP Policies 10 and 44, which 
together and amongst other matters, seek to provide for an acceptable level of 

residential amenity for existing and future residents, and for no significant 
impact on living conditions including privacy. It would also conflict with the 

Framework paragraph 130 which requires a high standard of amenity for 
existing and future users, and guidance within the TDG.  

Other Matters 

22. A lack of appropriate mitigation for the site’s proposed tree loss was a reason 
for refusal. The LP Policies 32 and 33, amongst other matters, require sufficient 

replacement planting where trees are to be removed, which can include off-site 
financial compensation.  

Page 278

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/F4410/W/23/3317244

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

23. The appellant’s appeal evidence includes a signed Unilateral Undertaking (UU) 

to this end. However, the Council does not accept its provisions, and so has 
maintained its reason for refusal. Despite this, I have not considered any 

matters relating to this financial contribution to be a main issue in this case. 
This is because the main parties have agreed both the need for the 
contribution, and the amount of money to be paid. The only matter for 

determination would be whether the UU has been properly executed and would 
be sufficiently binding, such as to guarantee the payment. However, as I am 

dismissing the appeal on other grounds, the UU will not come into effect. As 
such, a detailed assessment to this end is not necessary. 

24. The benefits of the proposed development would be 5 additional dwellings in an 

urban area. This is supported in general by the Framework which seeks to 
significantly boost the supply of homes, but I have no evidence that there is a 

local housing undersupply, or that the types of dwellings would meet any 
specific housing requirement. Therefore, the dwellings would only be a limited 
benefit. There would also be a short-term economic benefit from construction, 

and an economic benefit from the spending from new occupants, but again this 
would be limited. I find these to be modest benefits overall, to which I give 

moderate weight. The landscape buffer, tree planting, and landscaping would 
also provide additional habitats, alongside the off-site ecological mitigation for 
the tree loss. I give this biodiversity benefit limited weight.  

Conclusion 

25. The proposal conflicts with the development plan as a whole. With no other 

material considerations outweighing this conflict, for the reasons given above I 
conclude that the appeal is dismissed. 

 

L N Hughes 

INSPECTOR 

Page 279

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 21 November 2023  
by L N Hughes BA (Hons) MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 28 November 2023 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/F4410/W/23/3318664 
Field House, Station Road, Blaxton, Doncaster DN9 3AF  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr and Mrs Kevin and Julie Honcharenko against the decision of 

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council. 

• The application Ref 22/01895/OUT, dated 5 August 2022, was refused by notice dated 

10 February 2023. 

• The development proposed is outline planning application for the development of up to 

4 residential dwellings, with all matters reserved except for access. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. The site address above is taken from the application form, albeit the site is ore 

proximate to the settlement of Finningley than to Blaxton. 

Main Issues 

3. The main issues are: 

• whether the proposed development is in a suitable location for housing, 
having regard to the settlement strategy; and 

• the effect of the proposed development on the character and appearance of 
the countryside. 

Reasons 

Suitable Location for Housing 

4. The site is bound by fields to the north and west, a railway line to the south, 

and the rear of Station Road dwellings to the east. It comprises a large 
detached dwelling and garage, within a large garden. The proposal is for up to 

4 dwellings off the access drive of the existing dwelling.  

5. Policy 1 of the Doncaster Local Plan (LP) (2021) sets the settlement hierarchy, 
and identifies that development limits have been drawn around the various 

settlements. The site lies adjacent to but outside of the development limit of 
Finningley, which is designated as one of the ‘Service Towns and Villages’.  

6. Part (5) of Policy 1 and the Policies Map identify areas outside of the defined 
development limits as a ‘Countryside Policy Area’ (CPA), which therefore 
applies to the appeal site. Proposals for new development in the CPA will be 

supported where in accordance with Policy 25.  

Page 281

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/F4410/W/23/3318664

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

7. The remainder of Policy 1(5), including the criteria, only applies if the Council is 

unable to demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply (5YHLS). The appellants 
suggest that the vast majority of the LP housing allocations are major sites 

likely to take some time until delivery, but I have no detailed evidence on this 
basis. As the parties agree there is at least a 5YHLS, with the Council 
identifying a supply of over 11 years, I therefore find it clear that the second 

part of Policy 1(5) is not applicable. This policy must be read as a whole, and 
so I do not discount as only a small element this 5YHLS requirement. 

8. Policy 25 sets various criteria for CPA proposals. Only Part (3) relates to new 
dwellings, which would only be supported if they are provided for various 
essential needs, exception sites, and isolated homes of exceptional design 

quality. As the parties agree that the proposal would not relate to any of these 
housing types, it would not comply with Policy 25.  

9. Although the Policy 25 justification text refers to the need to avoid new isolated 
homes in the countryside, the policy wording itself takes precedence. This does 
not specify that the policy only applies to proposed isolated homes, or does not 

apply to locations adjacent to the development limits. It is appropriate to 
assess the proposal against Policy 25.  

10. As the proposal would conflict with Policy 25, it follows that it would also 
conflict with Policy 1. Overall therefore, the proposed development is not in a 
suitable location for housing, having regard to the local settlement strategy, 

and so would conflict with the LP Policies 1 and 25.  

Character and Appearance  

11. The reason for refusal refers to harm to the intrinsic character and beauty of 
the countryside, and to the rural setting of Blaxton. Although this wording 
reflects criterion (D) of the LP Policy 1, which I have identified does not apply, 

it also reflects the National Planning Policy Framework ('the Framework') 
(2023) paragraph 174(b). It is appropriate to consider the general impact of 

the proposal on the character and appearance of the countryside. I take the 
Council’s description of ‘Blaxton’ in this regard to refer to this general area of 
countryside, similar to its use within the address. 

12. Amongst other matters, the LP Policy 41 requires proposals to respect and 
enhance character and local distinctiveness, including of local landscapes, and 

for proposals to respond positively to their context, setting, and existing site 
features. They should also integrate visually and functionally with the 
immediate and surrounding area at a settlement, neighbourhood, street and 

plot scale. Some form of indicative new massing on the site can therefore be 
considered against Policy 41, despite the matters which are reserved. 

13. The proposed dwellings would have built form and development to 3 sides. 
However, there is a clear separation in character and density between the site 

and the urban form of the dwellings to the east and south, including due to the 
strong boundaries. To the north, the existing dwelling and garage is a 
protrusion behind this main pattern of development along Station Road. 

Although it can be glimpsed from Station Road, its large bulk and spacious 
layout is very different to the adjacent dwellings. Along with its garden, its 

village fringe location does not make it visually a part of the built up area, but 
forms part of the countryside setting of that built up area.  

Page 282

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/F4410/W/23/3318664

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

14. Furthermore, there is no strong boundary between the site and the fields to its 

west. Although significant screening and separation could be introduced as part 
of the proposal, this does not alter that at present, the site has the 

characteristic and function of a clearly very open garden with a strong rural 
aspect. As such, it contributes to the intrinsic character of the countryside, 
allowing for wide views across it. 

15. Notwithstanding the proposal’s small scale of 1 to 4 dwellings, including in 
relation to the size of Finningley as a whole, and including any height or size 

limitation, it would therefore encroach into this setting. It would not visually 
integrate within the local countryside character. Alongside the new dwellings 
there would also be additional domestic paraphernalia, hardstanding, boundary 

treatments, and parked cars, all of which would urbanise the open landscape. 

16. Overall therefore, I find the proposed development would cause harm to the 

character and appearance of the countryside, and would conflict with the LP 
Policy 41. It would also conflict with paragraph 174(b) of the Framework, and 
also paragraph 130 whereby developments must add to the overall quality of 

the area, and be sympathetic to local character including the surrounding 
landscape setting. I note that although the Council has also referred to the LP 

Policy 44, this relates to detailed design, and is therefore not directly relevant 
as all matters are reserved at this stage.  

Other Matters 

17. The Council suggests the site is not previously developed land (PDL) because it 
is within the built-up area, and the Framework definition specifically excludes 

land in built-up areas such as residential gardens. I take account of the High 
Court judgement in Dartford Borough Council vs Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government ([2017] EWCA Civ 141). Although that 

case was within the Green Belt, the relevant part of the judgement concluded 
that residential gardens outside of designated built up areas are classified as 

PDL. As the site is outside of the development limit boundary, I therefore find 
the site to be PDL.  

18. The LP Spatial Strategy identifies that development in rural areas should make 

the most effective use of PDL, but PDL is not referenced within the LP policies 
except for sites for Gypsies, Travellers, and Travelling Show People. However, I 

disagree with the appellants’ assertion that the Framework paragraph 11(d) 
presumption in favour of sustainable development should therefore be applied. 
As identified above, I find the LP policies to be relevant for the purposes of 

determining the principle of development within and outside the development 
limits.  

19. However, in accordance with the requirements of s38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act (2004), I am required to determine the appeal in 

accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The Framework is a material consideration which may provide 
additional policy guidance or support. Paragraphs 111, 119, and 120 provide 

general support for the re-use of PDL, encouraging the effective use of land in 
meeting the need for homes, and support for the development of under-utilised 

land and buildings. Although also highlighted by the appellants, the PDL 
reference at paragraph 85 relates to meeting local business and community 
needs of the rural economy, rather than for new dwellings. 

Page 283

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/F4410/W/23/3318664

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

20. Alongside this support, I also take account of the Framework PDL definition, 

which identifies that it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage of 
the developed land should be developed. As a residential garden which has not 

previously contained any built form, I find this to be a relevant consideration. 
Overall, the Framework provides limited support for the site’s development 
solely on the basis of it being PDL, to which I give limited weight.  

21. A further material consideration is that neither the 5YHLS nor the housing 
target in the LP acts as a ceiling to additional dwellings. The proposal would 

result in up to 4 additional dwellings on the edge of a service village. The 
Framework seeks to significantly boost the supply of homes, and so additional 
housing in this location is a benefit of the proposal. The resulting social and 

economic benefits would be the additional market housing in a relatively 
sustainable location, the new occupiers increasing local expenditure and 

demand for local services, and the economic benefits from construction. These 
benefits for 4 dwellings would be modest, and I give them moderate weight.  

22. There may also be potential environmental benefits such as increased 

biodiversity, and sustainable methods of construction and eco style housing. 
These are not specific or certain at this stage due to the proposal being only in 

outline, but I have taken them into account in principle, and give them limited 
weight.  

23. The evidence references a site at Old Cantley, where the Council’s planning 

officers accepted a departure from the development plan including against 
Policy 25, albeit the proposal was ultimately refused by Committee and 

dismissed on appeal1. The description of that site’s positioning is sufficiently 
different to that before me such that I do not find it to be determinative.  

Conclusion 

24. The provision of up to 4 dwellings would provide various modest benefits, and 
the Framework also provides limited support to the development of the site as 

PDL. However, the Framework is also clear that good design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development. I have found that the proposal would cause harm to 
the character and appearance of the countryside. It would also harm the 

Borough’s development strategy by providing new development in a 
countryside location, and there is a substantial existing housing supply.  

25. Overall therefore, the proposal conflicts with the development plan as a whole. 
With no other material considerations outweighing this conflict, for the reasons 
given above I conclude that the appeal is dismissed. 

 

L N Hughes 

INSPECTOR 

 
1 APP/F4410/W/22/3302327 

Page 284

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 21 November 2023  
by F Wilkinson BSc (Hons), MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 28 November 2023 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/F4410/W/23/3323218 
Pinfold Lane, Doncaster DN7 5LT  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant approval required under Article 3(1) and Schedule 2, Part 16, 

Class A of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 

Order 2015 (as amended). 

• The appeal is made by CK Hutchison Networks (UK) Limited against the decision of 

Doncaster Council. 

• The application Ref 22/02802/TEL, dated 21 December 2022, was refused by notice 

dated 6 February 2023. 

• The development proposed is 5G telecoms installation: H3G 20m street pole and 

additional equipment cabinets. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. The principle of development is established by Article 3(1) of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as 

amended) (the GPDO). The provisions of the GPDO require the local planning 
authority to assess the proposal solely based on its siting and appearance, 
taking account of any representations received. I have determined the appeal 

on the same basis. The provisions of Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A of the GPDO 
do not require regard to be had to the development plan. I have nevertheless 

had regard to the policies of the 2021 adopted Doncaster Local Plan 2015-2035 
(the Local Plan) and the 2023 National Planning Policy Framework (the 

Framework) only in so far as they are a material consideration relevant to 
matters of siting and appearance. 

Main Issues 

3. The main issues are: 

• the effect of the siting and appearance of the proposal on the character and 

appearance of the Fishlake Conservation Area (the Conservation Area) and 
the setting of the nearby Grade II listed building; and 

• if there is any harm, whether this would be outweighed by the need for the 

installation to be sited as proposed, having regard to the potential 
availability of alternative sites. 

 

Page 285

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/F4410/W/23/3323218

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Reasons 

Conservation Area 

4. The appeal site is part of a grassed verge that sits in between the road and 

pavement at the junction of Pinfold Lane and Trundle Lane, and within the 
Conservation Area. The proposal would comprise a 20 metre high pole and 
three associated equipment cabinets. Notwithstanding that the cabinets may be 

within the size limits to be classified as permitted development without prior 
approval, they are shown on the plans and within the specification and would 

not be required if it were not for the proposed pole. 

5. The Conservation Area comprises a loose grained rural village stretching from 
the historic core associated with the church and following the length of Pinfold 

Lane. A farmstead within the Conservation Area reinforces the village’s rural 
qualities and agricultural legacy. Buildings tend to be of a relatively simple 

form, mainly two storeys in brown/orange brick, with clay pantile roofs. The 
street pattern is one of relatively straight roads with pronounced bends, which 
foreshortens views along them. There are several open spaces within the 

Conservation Area which are interspersed with the built form, resulting in a 
varied street scape of open and enclosed spaces. The open spaces add 

positively to the Conservation Area’s character and appearance and serve to 
underline its rural setting, as do the mature trees around the edge of and 
within the village. The significance of the Conservation Area is in part derived 

from these aspects. 

6. Vertical structures in the form of heritage streetlights of around six metres in 

height and of regular spacing are apparent in the street scape. There are also 
several wooden telegraph poles in the area, and two trees to the rear of the 
site, which the submitted plans show as around 12 and 15 metres in height. 

7. The site sits on a prominent curve in the road, highly visible on approach from 
both directions along Pinfold Lane. Such views would not be over a long 

distance due to the characteristic bends on the lane. Nevertheless, views up 
and down Pinfold Lane are identified as key views in the Conservation Area 
Appraisal and the road junction where the proposal would be located acts as a 

focal point for these views. In such views, the pole and cabinets would be seen 
in front of an open area which, given its strongly rural character, contributes 

positively to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. In 
addition, the pole would be visible in views towards the church from vantage 
points along Trundle Lane. The church is an important focal point within the 

Conservation Area, both historically and aesthetically.  

8. The height of the pole has been reduced to the minimum necessary for its 

purpose of deploying 5G services and meeting the International Commission on 
Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection standard. However, it would appear as an 

obviously engineered feature of a greater scale and bulk than the existing 
vertical structures.  

9. The trees to the rear would provide some screening to the lower parts of the 

pole from certain vantage points. However, even when the trees are in full leaf, 
the pole would still appear conspicuously tall. During the winter months, when 

the tree canopies are reduced, it would stand out further. The black colour 
proposed for the pole and cabinets as shown on the submitted plans would help 
reduce the contrast with the backdrop, although much less so for the upper 

Page 286

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/F4410/W/23/3323218

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

sections of the pole which would mainly be viewed against the sky. The pole 

would remain highly prominent in views from the surrounding area including 
along Pinfold Lane and towards the church. Given its location, height and 

uncompromisingly modern and utilitarian appearance, the pole would be 
dominant and discordant in this location. 

10. I appreciate that efforts have been made to keep the development away from 

potentially sensitive receptors and to locate it on a wider area of public realm. 
However, the height and positioning of the proposal would stand out as an 

incongruous feature. The presence of some limited nearby street furniture in 
the form of a directional sign and street name would not result in the proposal 
appearing compatible. 

11. For the reasons given, I conclude that the siting and appearance of the 
proposal would not preserve the character or appearance of the Conservation 

Area. Consequently, there would be harm to its significance.  

Setting of the nearby Listed Building 

12. The Council has raised concern about the effect on the nearby Grade II listed 

pinfold located on Pinfold Lane to the northeast of the site, although little 
explanation is given for this other than proximity. The sign on the pinfold states 

that it was used as a pound for confining stray animals. This tallies with my 
understanding of the purpose of pinfolds. The pinfold would have had a 
functional and historic relationship with the surrounding land, given the 

village’s agricultural associations. The proposal would be visible in views of the 
pinfold along Pinfold Lane towards the rural open area to the rear of the site, 

where it would appear as an unduly urban and jarring feature. The proposal 
would appear as a visually disruptive element within the setting of the listed 
building and so would harm its significance. 

Balance and Conclusion on Heritage Assets 

13. In terms of the Framework, I assess the harm to the Conservation Area and 

the setting of the listed building as less than substantial. Even so, less than 
substantial harm does not equate to a less than substantial planning objection, 
especially where national policy expectations for conserving such assets have 

not been met. In such circumstances, paragraph 202 of the Framework states 
that the harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. 

14. Paragraph 114 of the Framework states that advanced, high quality and 
reliable communications infrastructure is essential for economic growth and 
social well-being. The proposal would allow for the construction of 

infrastructure which would enable the roll out of 5G coverage, enhance network 
speeds and connectivity within the surrounding area. It would therefore 

contribute towards the Framework’s objective of supporting high quality 
communications infrastructure such as 5G. Those implications may be 

considered public benefits and carry moderate weight in favour of the proposal. 

15. Paragraph 199 of the Framework states that great weight should be given to 
the heritage asset’s conservation. Paragraph 200 requires clear and convincing 

justification for any harm to or loss of significance of a designated heritage 
asset. Consequently, the harm I have identified to the significance of the 

Conservation Area and the setting of the listed building attracts considerable 

Page 287

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/F4410/W/23/3323218

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

weight against the proposal. Given the weight that I attach to the public 

benefits, these would not outweigh the harm that would be caused. 

16. Consequently, insofar as they are a material consideration, the proposal would 

conflict with Policies 21(I), 34, 35, 36 and 37 of the Local Plan. Amongst other 
matters, these policies do not support proposals, including telecommunications 
infrastructure, that harm the significance of a conservation area or a listed 

building or its setting other than where that harm is outweighed by the public 
benefits of the development; and require proposals that affect known heritage 

assets to include sufficient information to gain an understanding of the 
potential impact that the proposals will have on the significance of any heritage 
assets likely to be affected. There would also be conflict with the Framework’s 

historic environment objectives as set out in paragraphs 194, 195, 197, 199, 
and 202. 

Alternative Sites 

17. Paragraph 115 of the Framework states that the number of communications 
masts and the sites for such installations should be kept to a minimum 

consistent with the needs of consumers, the efficient operation of the network 
and providing reasonable capacity for future expansion. It encourages the use 

of existing masts. The appellant has investigated alternative sites as required 
by paragraph 117 of the Framework and discounted them, due to unsuitable 
pavements/grass verges and/or concerns around visibility splays. Based on the 

submitted evidence, I am not convinced that sufficient justification has been 
provided to support the discounting of these sites. 

18. I appreciate that the search area for the proposal is constrained. I am also 
mindful that there is a limit to how far an operator can reasonably be expected 
to go to demonstrate no other less intrusive or harmful sites are available. 

However, only limited information has been provided as to why the alternative 
sites were discounted or why these were the only possible locations within the 

search area. Furthermore, there is no information as to the consideration given 
to sites outside of the Conservation Area. Indeed, there is no recognition within 
the appellant’s Site Specific Supplementary Information and Planning 

Justification Statement about the presence of the Conservation Area or listed 
building. I am not therefore satisfied that all alternative, potentially less 

harmful options have reasonably been explored and therefore that no more 
suitable sites are available. 

19. Consequently, I conclude that the harm I have identified to the significance of 

the Conservation Area and to the setting of the nearby Grade II listed building 
is not outweighed by the need for the installation to be sited as proposed, 

having regard to the potential availability of alternative sites. 

Conclusion 

20. For the above reasons, having had regard to all matters raised, I conclude that 
the appeal should be dismissed. 

F Wilkinson  

INSPECTOR 
 

Page 288

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

	Agenda
	4. Minutes of the Planning Committee Meeting held on 12th December, 2023
	5. Schedule of Applications
	To the Chair and Members of the
	PLANNING COMMITTEE
	PLANNING APPLICATIONS PROCESSING SYSTEM

	i5 schedule 1 23.02052.4FULM Gateway One (FINAL)

	6. Consideration of variations to two Section 106 Agreements in relation to the affordable housing requirements on land to the east side of Hatfield Lane, Armthorpe (under references 12/00188/OUTM and 20/01606/FULM).
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	EXEMPT REPORT
	9.	This report does not contain exempt information.
	RECOMMENDATIONS
	10.	It is recommended that Planning Committee authorise the Head of Planning to agree a Deed of Variation to vary the terms of the Section 106 agreement dated 27th October 2017 to reduce the requirement of affordable housing from 26% to 23% in accordance with the terms of this report. The provisions relating to Education, Highways, Transportation, bus stops and the Travel Plan are unchanged.
	11.	It is recommended that Planning Committee authorise the Head of Planning to agree a Deed of Variation to vary the terms of the Section 106 agreement dated 28th July 2022 to increase the requirement of affordable housing from 23% to 50% in accordance with the terms of this report. The variations will continue to serve a useful purpose equally well in respect of affordable housing provision.
	WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER?
	12.	The variation to the first Section 106 agreement would reduce the requirement of on-site affordable housing from 26% to 23%. This would reduce the number of affordable units on this part of the site by 11. This is an allocated housing site in the Local Plan with Reserved Matters Planning Permission and is being delivered on site. With the variation, the development would continue to benefit the local community, as it is delivering a range of new homes on an allocated site by providing a range of new 2,3 and 4 bedroomed houses and bungalows and thus a good mix of house types.
	13.	The variation to the second Section 106 agreement would increase the requirement of on-site affordable housing from 23% to 50%. This would increase the number of affordable units on this part of the site by 5. This also falls within the allocated housing site in the Local Plan with full planning permission and is being delivered on site. The development would continue to benefit the local community as it is delivering a range of new homes, on an allocated site by providing a range of new 2,3 and 4 bedroomed houses and bungalows and thus a good mix of house types.
	14.	Although there is an overall reduction by 6, the variations to the 106 Agreements would enable the Council in its strategic housing capacity to progress a purchase deal with the developer to own and manage the eleven dormer bungalows and deliver the type of affordable housing that is evidenced as being needed locally for older people.
	BACKGROUND
	15.	The City of Doncaster Council as part of the Cabinet Report of 22nd June 2022 (Phase 2 of Council House Build Programme and S106 Acquisitions) approved a programme of purchases from developers through Section 106 planning agreements for 46 homes, which included 41 bungalows for older people. This report includes the eleven 2-bed dormer bungalows on these two permissions in Armthorpe.
	16.	The City of Doncaster Council in its strategic housing capacity has been negotiating with the developer of these two sites over the past two years to secure these eleven new build 2-bed dormer bungalows, which would be directly purchased by the Council rather than being sold on the open market. Two of the dormer bungalows are on the larger site (12/00188/OUTM) and nine are on the smaller site (20/01606/FULM).
	17.	Negotiations have now concluded between the Council’s Strategic Housing arm and the Developer. An enhanced affordable housing specification has been agreed, including solar panels, electric showers, solid wooden doors, wider concrete footpaths, larger patios, external lights plus other additional items. A formal Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) valuation has been undertaken for the properties by the Council’s Strategic Asset Management team and a financial modelling assessment undertaken using the St Leger Homes financial modelling tool. These negotiations have resulted in an agreed purchase price for the eleven dormer bungalows, which will be advertised as socially rented for older people on the Council’s social housing waiting list.
	18.	The City of Doncaster Council is keen to increase its older persons housing stock by eleven 2-bed dormer bungalows, providing much needed affordable homes for life in Armthorpe. The need for older person’s affordable housing in Armthorpe is the second highest out of all the 90 settlements across Doncaster and seen as a high priority by the Mayor.
	19.	Before the purchase deal can progress, formal agreement from the Local Planning Authority to variation of the S106 agreements in relation to the affordable housing requirement is required. The Strategic Housing arm of the Council and the Developer both seek the agreement of the Local Planning Authority to the variations set out in this report. The Local Planning Authority has power to agree to vary S106 agreements.
	OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION
	20.	To not agree to the two Deeds of Variations would mean that the City of Doncaster Council would be unable to proceed with the proposed purchase of 11 affordable social rented 2- bed dormer bungalows for older people with an enhanced affordable housing specification. The Developer would be required to abide by the terms of the existing Section 106 Agreements for both sites.
	21.	To agree to the two Deeds of Variations would allow the City of Doncaster Council and the Developer to progress the purchase of the 11 dormer bungalows and provide much needed socially rented properties for older people in Armthorpe and increase the Council’s social property stock managed by St Leger Homes.
	IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES
	22. This report is considered to impact on the following key outcomes.
	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials AH Date 13/12/23]
	23.	In considering the request to vary the two S106 legal agreements under S106A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) the Local Planning Authority must consider whether the obligations in the agreement would continue to serve the original useful purpose equally well.
	FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials CS dated 22.11.2023]
	24.    	The report is proposing that the planning committee authorise the Head of Planning to agree a Deed of Variation to vary the terms of the Section 106 Agreement dated 27th October 2017 to reduce the requirement of affordable housing from 26% to 23%. This will reduce the number of affordable units on this part of the site by 11.
	25.  	The second S106 Agreement will increase the requirement of on-site affordable housing from 23% to 50%. This will increase the number of affordable units on this part of the site by 5. This also falls within the allocated housing site in the Local Plan with full planning permission and is being delivered on site.
	26	Although under these Deed of Variations, 6 fewer affordable units would be delivered across the whole of the site (a reduction of 103 to 97), the Council has actively sought to agree this deal with the developer. The changes to the 106 Agreements will mean that the Council will own and manage the dormer bungalows and can deliver the type of affordable housing that is needed locally for older people.
	HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials DK dated 22.11.2023]
	27.    	There are no direct Human Resource impacts in relation to this report, but if in future, staff are affected, or additional specialist resources are required then further consultation will need to take place with Human Resources.
	TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials ET dated 21.11.2023]
	28.    There are no technology implications in relation to this report.
	RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS
	29.	None.
	BACKGROUND PAPERS
	Appendix 1 – S106 Legal Agreement – 27th October 2017
	Appendix 2 - Planning Committee Report – 17th October 2017
	Appendix 3 – S106 Legal Agreement – 28th July 2022
	Appendix 4 – Delegated Officer Report – 4th July 2022
	REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS
	Mel Roberts, Principal Planning Officer
	01302	734897 melvyn.roberts@doncaster.gov.uk
	Dan Swaine
	Director of Economy and Environment

	i6 Appendix 1 106 for Outline
	i6 Appendix 2 Committee report for outline
	i6 Appendix 3 106 for 18 dwellings
	i6 Appendix 4  Delegated report for 18 dwellings

	7. Appeal Decisions
	To the Chair and Members of the Planning Committee
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	1.	The purpose of this report is to inform members of appeal decisions received from the planning inspectorate.  Copies of the relevant decision letters are attached for information.
	EXEMPT REPORT
	2. This report is not exempt.
	RECOMMENDATIONS
	3.	That the report together with the appeal decisions be noted.
	WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER?
	4.	It demonstrates the ability applicants have to appeal against decisions of the Local Planning Authority and how those appeals have been assessed by the planning inspectorate.
	BACKGROUND
	5.	Each decision has arisen from appeals made to the Planning Inspectorate.
	OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	6.	It is helpful for the Planning Committee to be made aware of decisions made on appeals lodged against its decisions.
	REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION
	7.	To make the public aware of these decisions.
	IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES
	8.
	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials AH Date  13/12/2023]
	a material error of law.
	FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials BC Date  13/12/2023]
	10.	There are no direct financial implications as a result of the recommendation of this report, however Financial Management should be consulted should financial implications arise as a result of an individual appeal.
	HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials CR Date  13/12/2023]
	11.	There are no Human Resource implications arising from the report.
	TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials PW Date  13/12/2023]
	12.	There are no technology implications arising from the report
	RISK AND ASSUMPTIONS
	13.	It is considered that there are no direct health implications although health should be considered on all decisions.
	CONSULTATION
	14.	N/A
	BACKGROUND PAPERS
	15.	Decisions on the under-mentioned applications have been notified as follows:-
	REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS
	Dan Swaine, Director of Place

	i7 App 1 Land off Birch Close
	i7 App 2 Field House, Station Road
	i7 App 3 Pinfold Lane




